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TITLE XXIII
LABOR

CHAPTER 275
PROTECTIVE LEGISLATION

Noncompete Agreements

Section 275:70

275:70 Noncompete Agreements. — Any employer who requires an employee who has not previously been
employed by the employer to execute a noncompete agreement as a condition of employment shall provide a

copy of such agreement to the potential employee prior to the employee's acceptance of an offer of employment.

A noncompete agreement that has not been disclosed to an employee as required by this section shall not be
enforceable against the employee, but all other provisions of any employment, confidentiality, nondisclosure,
trade secret, intellectual property assignment, or any other type of employment agreement or provision shall
remain in full force and effect.

Source. 2012, 70:1, eff. July 14, 2012. 2014, 289:2, eff. July 28, 2014.

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/htmI/XXH11/275/275-70.htm
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TITLE XXXI
TRADE AND COMMERCE

CHAPTER 350-B
UNIFORM TRADE SECRETS ACT

Section 350-B:1

350-B:1 Definitions. —
As used in this chapter, unless the context requires otherwise:
L. "Improper means" includes theft, bribery, misrepresentation, breach or inducément of a breach of a duty to
maintain secrecy, or espionage through electronic or other means.
I1. "Misappropriation" means:
(a) Acquisition of a trade secret of another by a person who knows or has reason to know that the trade secret
was acquired by improper means; or ’
(b) Disclosure or use of a trade secret of another without express or implied consent by a person who:
(1) Used improper means to acquire knowledge of the trade secret; or
(2) At the time of disclosure or use, knew or had reason to know that his knowledge of the trade secret was
derived from or through a person who had utilized improper means to acquire it; or acquired under
circumstances giving rise to a duty to maintain its secrecy or limit its use; or derived from or through a person
who owed a duty to the person seeking relief to maintain its secrecy or limit its use; or
(3) Before a material change of his position, knew or had reason to know that it was a trade secret and that
knowledge of it had been acquired by accident or mistake.
III. "Person" means a natural person, corporation, business trust, estate, trust, partnership, association, joint
venture, government, governmental subdivision or agency, or any other legal or commercial entity.
IV. "Trade secret" means information, including a formula, pattern, compilation, program, device, method,
technique, or process, that:
(a) Derives independent economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being
readily ascertainable by proper means by, other persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or
use; and
(b) Is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy.

Source. 1989, 220:1, eff. Jan. 1, 1990.

Section 350-B:2

350-B:2 Injunctive Relief. —
1. Actual or threatened misappropriation may be enjoined. Upon application to the court, an injunction shall be
terminated when the trade secret has ceased to exist, but the injunction may be continued for an additional
reasonable period of time in order to eliminate commercial advantage that otherwise would be derived from the
misappropriation.
II. In exceptional circumstances, an injunction may condition future use upon payment of a reasonable royalty
for no longer than the period of time for which use could have been prohibited. Exceptional circumstances
include, but are not limited to, a material and prejudicial change of position prior to acquiring knowledge or
reason to know of misappropriation that renders a prohibitive injunction inequitable.
I In appropriate circumstances, affirmative acts to protect a trade secret may be compelled by court order.

Source. 1989, 220:1, eff. Jan. 1, 1990.

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXI/350-B/350-B-mrg.htm 1/3
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Section 350-B:3

350-B:3 Damages. —
I. Except to the extent that a material and prejudicial change of position prior to acquiring knowledge or reason
to know of misappropriation renders a monetary recovery inequitable, a complainant is entitled to recover
damages for misappropriation. Damages can include both the actual loss caused by misappropriation and the
unjust enrichment caused by misappropriation that is not taken into account in computing actual loss. In lieu of
damages measured by any other methods, the damages caused by misappropriation may be measured by

imposition of liability for a reasonable royalty for a misappropriator's unauthorized disclosure or use of a trade
secret.

IL. If willful and malicious misappropriation exists, the court may award exemplary damages in an amount not
exceeding twice any award made under paragraph 1.

Source. 1989, 220:1, eff. Jan. 1, 1990.

Section 350-B:4

350-B:4 Attorneys' Fees. —
The court may award reasonable attorneys' fees to the prevailing party when:
I. A claim of misappropriation is made in bad faith;
II. A motion to terminate an injunction is made or resisted in bad faith; or
II. Willful and malicious misappropriation exists.

Source. 1989, 220:1, eff. Jan. 1, 1990.

Section 350-B:5

350-B:S Preservation of Secrecy. — In an action under this chapter, a court shall preserve the secrecy of an
alleged trade secret by reasonable means, which may include granting protective orders in connection with
discovery proceedings, holding in-camera hearings, sealing the records of the action, and ordering any person
involved in the litigation not to disclose an alleged trade secret without prior court approval.

Source. 1989, 220:1, eff. Jan. 1, 1990.

Section 350-B:6

350-B:6 Statute of Limitations. — An action for misappropriation shall be brought within 3 years after the
misappropriation is discovered or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have been discovered. For the
purposes of this section, a continuing misappropriation constitutes a single claim.

Source. 1989, 220:1, eff. Jan. 1, 1990.

Section 350-B:7

350-B:7 Effect on Other Law. —
I. Except as provided in paragraph II, this chapter displaces conflicting tort, restitutionary, and other law of this
state providing civil remedies for misappropriation of a trade secret.
II. This chapter shall not affect:
(a) Contractual remedies, whether or not based upon misappropriation of a trade secret;
(b) Other civil remedies that are not based upon misappropriation of a trade secret; or
(c) Criminal remedies, whether or not based upon misappropriation of a trade secret.

Source. 1989, 220:1, eff. Jan. 1, 1990.

hitp:/fiwww.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXX1/350-B/350-B-mrg.htm 2/3
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Section 350-B:8

350-B:8 Uniformity of Application and Construction. — This chapter shall be applied and construed to

effectuate its general purpose to make uniform the law with respect to the subject of this chapter among states
enacting it.

Source. 1989, 220:1, eff. Jan. 1, 1990.

Section 350-B:9

350-B:9 Short Title. — This chapter may be cited as the Uniform Trade Secrets Act.
Source. 1989, 220:1, eff. Jan. 1, 1990.

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXI/350-B/350-B-mrg.htm 3/3
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142 N.H. 440 (N.H. 1997)
702 A.2d 1273

CONCORD ORTHOPAEDICS PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION

H. James FORBES, M.D.
No. 95-865.
Supreme Court of New Hampshire.
December 4, 1997
[702 A.2d 1274]

Nelson, Kinder, Mosseau & Gordon, P.C., Manchester (Martha V. Gordon, on the brief and orally), for plaintiff.

Upton, Sanders & Smith, Concord (Russell F. Hilliard, orally and on the brief, and David P. Slawsky, on the brief), for
defendant.

Glenn W. Bricker, M.D., Ashland, by brief, pro se, as amicus curiae.
THAYER, Jjustice.

Pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 8, we accepted the Superior Court's (Smukler, J.) transfer of the following two
questions: First, whether the trial court correctly concluded as a matter of law and public policy that the analysis of a
covenant not to compete between a physician and a professional association is no different than that generally applied
to such covenants? We hold that it did. Second, whether the trial court erred when it granted Concord Orthopaedics
Professional Association's (COPA's) request to enforce the covenant not to compete to the extent it applies to COPA's

existing patients, but denied COPA's request to the extent the covenant applies to new patients. We hold that it did not.

The defendant, H. James Forbes, M.D., and the plaintiff, COPA, executed an employment agreement containing a
covenant not to compete. In consideration for COPA's obligation to pay Forbes deferred compensation, Forbes agreed

http://www.casemakerlegal.com/docView.aspx?Docld=5724869&Index=D%3a%5cdtsearch%5cindex%5c01test%5cALL%5fCITED%5fCASE&HItCoun. ..
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not to practice orthopaedic medicine within a twenty-five mile radius of any COPA office for two years following his
termination. The pertinent section of the covenant reads:

[llt is specifically agreed that when the Doctor's employment by the Association is terminated for whatever reason, the
Doctor shall not practice orthopaedic medicine within a twenty-five (25) mile radius of any office out of which the
Association is conducting a practice at the date of termination ... for a period of twenty-four (24) months.

in 1995, COPA's board of directors voted to change the deferred compensation formula applicable to all physician-
shareholders. Consequently, Forbes resigned, embarked on [702 A.2d 1275] the establishment of a medical office in
Concord, and sought declaration from the superior court that the covenant not to compete was unenforceable. COPA
commenced a separate action seeking injunctive enforcement of the covenant. The superior court temporarily restrained
Forbes from practicing orthopaedic medicine within twenty-five miles of COPA's offices in Concord, Peterborough, and
New London. The superior court later partially enforced the covenant by issuing a preliminary injunction. That order
restrained Forbes from treating existing COPA patients within a twenty-five mile radius of Concord for two

years with an exception for emergency surgery. The superior court declined to enforce the covenant as to new patients,
reasoning that COPA lacked a legitimate interest in preventing Forbes from competing for new patients.

Before proceeding, we note that the covenant's term expired on July 31, 1997. Thus, the matter is technically moot.
We recognize, however, valid exceptions to the mootness doctrine where the case concerns important matters of public
policy and is "capable of repetition, yet evading review." Royer v. State Dept. of Employment Security, 118 N.H. 673,
675, 394 A.2d 828, 829 (1978) (quotation and citation omitted); see also Weinstein v. Bradford, 423 U.S. 147, 148, 96
S.Ct. 347, 348, 46 L.Ed.2d 350 (1975). Covenants not to compete run for various durations. Given that restraints on
competition must be narrowly tailored as to duration, see Technical Aid Corp. v. Allen, 134 N.H. 1, 8, 591 A.2d 262,
266 (1991), it is likely that the issues raised here will recur but continue to evade review. Further, the particular
questions here warrant attention because the issue of access to physicians greatly affects the public at large.

With respect to the first transferred question, Forbes urges us to declare covenants not to compete involving
physicians to be against public policy and per se unenforceable. We decline Forbes' invitation.

Forbes argues that such covenants impermissibly burden the physician-patient relationship. The weight of
authority, however, supports enforcement of reasonable covenants not to compete involving physicians. See, e.g.,
Jewett Orthopaedic Clinic, P.A. v. White, 629 So.2d 922, 925 (Fla.Dist.Ct.App.1993); Pittman v. Harbin Clinic, 210
Ga.App. 767,437 S.E.2d 619, 621 (1993); Gillespie v. Carbondale & Marion Eye Ctrs., 251 lll.App.3d 625, 190 ill.Dec.
950, 953, 622 N.E.2d 1267, 1270 (1993); Raymundo v. Hammond Clinic Ass'n, 449 N.E.2d 276, 281 (Ind.1983); Ohio
Urology, Inc. v. Poll, 72 Ohio App.3d 446, 594 N.E.2d 1027, 1031 (1991); see also 54A Am_ Jur.2d Monopolies,
Restraints of Trade, and Unfair Trade Practices § 939 (1996).

The public policy of New Hampshire encourages free trade and discourages covenants not to compete. See Laconia
Clinic, Inc. v. Cullen, 119 N.H. 804, 807, 408 A.2d 412, 414 (1979). Nevertheless, our courts uphold a limited restraint
if reasonable as applied to the particular circumstances of the parties. Dunfey Realty Co. v. Enwright, 101 N.H. 195,
198, 138 A.2d 80, 82 (1957). "A restraint on employment is reasonable only if it is no greater than necessary for the
protection of the employer's legitimate interest, does not impose undue hardship on the employee, and is not injurious
to the public interest.” Moore v. Dover Veterinary Hosp., Inc., 116 N.H. 680, 684, 367 A.2d 1044, 1047 (1976) (per
curiam), If the covenant fails one prong, the covenant is unenforceable. Technical Aid Corp., 134 N.H. at 8, 591 A.2d at
266. Our traditional test of reasonableness, outlined in Moore, to determine whether a covenant is enforceable applies
to covenants between physicians and their employers. The Moore test sufficiently protects the public interest; therefore,
there is no reason to declare such covenants void per se or enunciate a new test applicable to physicians.

The second transferred question is whether the trial court abused its discretion by only partially enforcing the
covenant when it issued its preliminary injunction. We first consider the validity of the covenant not to compete by
determining its reasonableness under the Moore test.

A covenant's reasonableness is a matter of law for this court to decide. Id. at 8, 591 A.2d at 265. We review the trial
[702 A.2d 1276] court's factual findings for clear error. See Ferrofiuidics v. Advanced Vacuum Components, 968 F.2d
1463, 1469 (1st Cir.1992).
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Covenants are valid only to the extent that they prevent employees from appropriating assets that are legitimately
the employer's. See 6A A. Corbin, Corbin on Contracts § 1391B, at 34 (Supp.1997). COPA has a legitimate interest in
preventing Forbes from appropriating the goodwill of its business, developed in part by Forbes' contact with patients in
his capacity as a COPA physician. See Technical Aid Corp., 134 N.H. at 9, 591 A.2d at 266 (stating that covenants must
focus on protectable interests and must be narrowly tailored to those interests); 6A Corbin, supra § 1394, at 99-100
(1962). We agree with the superior court that as applied to new patients the provision was overbroad. See Technical Aid
Corp., 134 N.H. at 9, 591 A.2d at 266. While COPA possesses a legitimate business interest in prohibiting Forbes from
competing for existing patients, no such legitimate interest exists as to new patients. The legitimate interests of the
employer generally extend only to those areas in which the employee had actual client contact. Cf. Blake, Employee
Agreements Not to Compete, 73 Harv. L.Rev. 625, 677 (1960). By definition, Forbes could not have had actual contact

with new patients. Thus, COPA lacks any legitimate interest in trying to prevent Forbes from competing for new
patients.

COPA would have us consider new patients a subset of referring physicians. COPA apparently argues that because
Forbes had actual contact with referring physicians, and those physicians generate new patients, COPA has a legitimate
interest in all new patients. We

a7 ML 444

find unpersuasive language from other jurisdictions that groups referring physicians with "actual clients.” See, e.g.,
Fields Foundation, Ltd. v. Christensen, 103 Wis.2d 465, 309 N.W.2d 125, 130 (Ct.App.1981). This reasoning
contravenes the principle of narrowly tailoring covenants not to compete to encompass only legitimate interests of the
employer. See Technical Aid Corp., 134 N.H. at 9, 591 A.2d at 266. New patients encompass far more than referring
physicians. Such an expansive interpretation of legitimate interests does not foster the public good. Thus, we do not
adopt this line of reasoning.

A restraint on competition must be narrowly tailored in both geography and duration to protect COPA's legitimate
interest in its goodwill. See id. at 10-11, 14, 591 A.2d at 266-67, 269. Here, the covenant prohibited Forbes from
practicing medicine within twenty-five miles of COPA's offices in Concord, Peterborough, and New London. The
geographic limits imposed on an employee by a covenant not to compete "generally must be limited to that area in
which the employee had client contact, as that is usually the extent of the area in which the employer's goodwill is
subject to appropriation by the employee." Id. at 10, 591 A.2d at 266. During oral argument, COPA waived enforcement
of the covenant's geographical limitations concerning COPA's two satellite offices (Peterborough and New London).
Accordingly, we do not address the validity of the geographic limits concerning the satellite offices. We do hold,
however, that the limitation of a twenty-five mile radius of the Concord office is reasonable because it includes COPA's
normal market where Forbes had patient contact.

The covenant's duration of two years is also reasonable. A covenant not to compete should last no longer than
necessary for the employees’ replacements "to have a reasonable opportunity to demonstrate their effectiveness to
customers.” Berg, Judicial Enforcement of Covenants Not To Compete Between Physicians: Protecting Doctors' Interests
at Patients' Expense, 45 Rutgers L.Rev. 1, 24-25 (1992). A court, when evaluating duration, must consider the time
necessary to "obliterate in the minds of the public” the association between the identity of the physician with his
employer's practice. Weber v. Tillman, 259 Kan. 457, 913 P.2d 84, 92 (1996); see also Moore, 116 N.H. at 685, 367
A.2d at 1048 (stating, "business entity was closely identified with the veterinarians who staffed it, and this identification
would not soon be extinguished upon a veterinarian's termination”). Two years is a reasonable time to allow a
replacement to demonstrate his or her effectiveness and for the public to disassociate Forbes from COPA. See Weber,
913 P.2d at 92. Thus, we hold that the covenant as enforced protects COPA's legitimate

[702 A.2d 1277]

business interests and that its scope and duration satisfy the rule of reason.

The covenant as enforced also satisfies the second prong of the Moore test because it does not impose an undue
hardship on Forbes. See Technical Aid Corp., 134 N.H. at 8, 591 A.2d at 266. As a shareholder, director, and employee,
Forbes enjoyed the protections the covenant afforded him in the event other physicians terminated their employment
with COPA. Despite this fact, Forbes argues that as applied to him the covenant works an undue hardship, mostly for
financial reasons. We are unpersuaded. The covenant does not preclude Forbes from practicing medicine and generating
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revenue; it merely protects COPA's legitimate interest in protecting its goodwill. Further, as the covenant will not apply
to new patients, Forbes' potential financial burden, if any, is diminished.

The covenant as enforced satisfies the third prong of the Moore test because it is not injurious to the public
interest. See id. The record reflects that the trial court considered the public interest. The trial court, in its discretion,
partially enforced the covenant. The trial court exempted from the covenant's purview emergency surgeries threatening
the health or welfare of COPA patients. Modification or partial enforcement, upon a showing of good faith in the
employment contract's execution, may be appropriate if in the public interest. See Smith, Batchelder & Rugg v. Foster,
119 N.H. 679, 682, 406 A.2d 1310, 1313 (1979). Forbes does not contest the trial court's finding that the employment
contract was executed in good faith. Cf. Ohio Urology, Inc. v. Poll, 72 Ohio App.3d 446, 594 N.E.2d 1027, 1032 (1991)
(stating that a court’s power to modify a covenant is a corollary of the rule that courts strictly scrutinize these
covenants). The trial court also exempted new patients from the covenant's purview. Thus, the trial court minimized the
impact on the public by limiting the restriction to existing COPA patients. See Technical Aid Corp., 134 N.H. 1, 591
A.2d 262.

Other factors support the conclusion that the public will not suffer undue harm. Forbes may treat any person
outside the twenty-five mile restriction. Forbes may treat any new patient within the twenty-five mile radius. Partially
restricted access to one orthopaedic surgeon in the Concord area does not unduly burden the public.

Finally, we address Forbes' argument that COPA had an adequate remedy at law and, therefore, the trial court
erroneously issued an injunction. See Unifirst Corp. v. City of Nashua, 130 N.H. 11, 14, 533 A.2d 372, 374 (1987)
(stating that an injunction is appropriate if "there is no adequate remedy at law"). "We will

uphold the decision of the trial court with regard to the issuance of an injunction absent an error of law, abuse of
discretion, or clearly erroneous findings of fact.” Id. Forbes asserts that the trial court's offer to COPA to elect either a
legal or partial equitable remedy implies that an adequate remedy at law existed. We disagree. In the temporary
restraining order, the trial court found that COPA did not have an adequate remedy at law. The trial court, apparently
concerned that COPA would not want a preliminary injunction partially enforcing the covenant, offered COPA an election
between a legal or an equitable remedy. The court's offer, however, does not compel a conclusion that COPA had an
adequate remedy at law. True, the trial court's findings of fact for the preliminary injunction did not expressly find that
COPA's remedy at law was inadequate. However, the trial court's related findings regarding the temporary restraining
order do support a conclusion that COPA's remedy at law was inadequate. Furthermore, the record, on the whole,
supports such a conclusion. We cannot conclude that the trial court committed an error of law, abused its discretion, or
made clearly erroneous findings of fact with respect to issuing injunctive relief.

With respect to the parties' remaining arguments, we have reviewed the record and find them to be without merit
and warranting no further discussion. See Voge/ v. Voge/, 137 N.H. 321, 322, 627 A.2d 595, 596 (1993).

Affirmed and remanded.

All concurred.
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MERRIMACK VALLEY WOOD PRODUCTS, INC. and another.
V.
Glen NEAR.
No. 2004-447.
Supreme Court of New Hampshire.
May 9, 2005
Argued: March 23, 2005,
As Modified on Denial of Reconsideration June 22, 2005.
Page 758
[Copyrighted Material Omitted]
Page 759
[152 N.H. 193] MclLane, Graf, Raulerson & Middleton, P.A., of Manchester (Thomas J. Donovan
Page 760
and Jennifer L. Parent on the brief, and Ms. Parent orally), for the plaintiffs.

[152 N.H. 194] Nixon Peabody LLP, of Manchester (Jamie N. Hage and Gordon j. MacDonald on the brief, and
Mr. Hage orally), for the defendant.

DALIANIS, J.

The plaintiffs, Merrimack Valley Wood Products, Inc. and American Cabinet Corp., appeal an order of the
Superior Court ( Coffey, }.) finding a restrictive covenant in an employment agreement entered into with the
defendant, Glen Near, unenforceable. We affirm.

The record supports the following facts. Plaintiff Merrimack Valley Wood Products, Inc. (Merrimack Valley)
manufactures and sells what is referred to as "millwork": doors, window units, moldings, stair parts, etc. Plaintiff
American Cabinet Corp. manufactures and distributes kitchen cabinets and countertops. On February 28, 1994, the
defendant began working for the plaintiffs as an outside sales representative. An outside sales representative
solicits new customers and services current customers, and is paid on commission.
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Prior to his employment with the plaintiffs, the defendant worked at Rivco, another millwork manufacturing
company, beginning in 1978. He worked as an outside salesman at Rivco from approximately 1981 until 1991,
when he started his own home construction business. He worked as a home builder until he began working for the
plaintiffs in 1994,
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friendship with him. The defendant had only one interview with Dow and James Derderian, vice president and
general manager of Merrimack Valley. When he started working for the plaintiffs, the defendant was given a price
book, a confidential document that outlines the pricing structure used by the plaintiffs.

Dow and Derderian did not explain to the defendant at his interview that he would be required to sign a
"salesman agreement,” which contained a covenant not to compete and a covenant not to disclose. The defendant
worked for the plaintiffs for six months before he was asked to sign the salesman agreement in September 1994. At
that time, the defendant was informed that his continued employment with the plaintiffs was contingent upon
signing the agreement. The defendant gave the agreement a cursory review and signed it. The agreement provides:

7. The [defendant] agrees that he will not, during the term of this agreement, or at anytime thereafter,
furnish to an individual, firm or corporation other than [the plaintiffs] any list or lists of customers,
business methods, systems, prices, trade secrets, or [152 N.H. 195] information of any kind or nature
pertaining to the business of [the plaintiffs].

8. The [defendant] agrees not to be or become engaged in any competing company or industry during the
term of this Agreement, except with the written consent of [the plaintiffs]. If for any reason this
agreement or relations with [the plaintiffs] shall be terminated, then he shall not, through employment or
agreement with any competitive concern or industry, sell to directly or indirectly, or cause to be sold, any
materials to customers which [the plaintiffs] halve] sold to within the twelve (12) months prior to the date
of termination, for a period of one (1) year from the date of termination.

The defendant left the plaintiffs’ employ in February 1999. Before leaving, he returned his price book to Dow.
The defendant was hired that same month by A & B Lumber, one of the plaintiffs' direct competitors, as an outside
sales representative. The defendant continued to solicit sales from the customer base he had developed while
working for the plaintiffs and from his previous experience in the industry.

On May 7, 1999, the plaintiffs filed a motion for an ex parte temporary restraining order, claiming that the
defendant "wrongfully solicited, directly or indirectly, the [plaintiffs'] customers or clients and wrongfully disclosed
confidential and proprietary information to others.” The Superior Court ( McHugh, ).) granted the plaintiffs' motion.
The order restricted the defendant from disclosing information regarding the plaintiffs' customers and soliciting
those customers of the plaintiffs who had transacted business with the plaintiffs during the twelve months prior to
the defendant’s last day of work. The order did not require a bond:

C. The [plaintiffs] are not seeking to terminate the [defendant's] employment with his new employer and,
therefore, are not seeking to prevent [him] from gainful employment with a competitor. Because it does
not appear that the [defendant] will suffer damages by reason of any temporary restraining order or
injunction issued on this matter, the [plaintiffs] are not ordered to pay bond.

The defendant moved to dissolve the ex parte temporary restraining order and objected to the plaintiffs’
petition for a preliminary injunction. In his motion the defendant requested that the court order the plaintiffs to
post a bond in the amount of $250,000. The court denied the defendant's [152 N.H. 196] request to dissolve the ex
parte temporary restraining order, and scheduled the case for a full evidentiary hearing. The court did not address
the bond issue in its order, but stated: "The issue of monetary damages by either party as a result of the other
party's actions will be heard at a later date.” Within ten days, the defendant filed a motion for reconsideration and
for a limited evidentiary hearing. The defendant did not specifically mention that he wanted the court to reconsider
its May 7, 1999 decision not to require a bond, but did request that the court "[g]rant such other further relief as
justice may require." The court denied the defendant’s motion for reconsideration because it had determined that
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the covenant language was not too broad. The court again did not address its failure to require a bond, but
indicated that "[t]he other issues will be addressed at the evidentiary hearing.”

The Trial Court ( Coffey, ).) held a full evidentiary hearing and found in favor of the defendant. The court found
that the non-compete covenant was unreasonable because it was too broad. The court also found reformation
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did not present evidence that the defendant possessed or intended to disclose any confidential information.

The defendant then filed a motion for assessment of costs and damages against the plaintiffs for wrongful
injunction. The trial court addressed the issue of whether the "absence of a bond ... precludes the defendant from
recovering damages for wrongful injunction.” The court found that it had erred in not requiring a bond when the ex
parte temporary restraining order was issued, and awarded damages to the defendant as if a bond had been
posted. The plaintiffs appealed that decision

to this court. We issued an order on January 14, 2002, remanding the case to the trial court because we found that
the trial court made a factual error in finding that the covenant covered "all Merrimack clients" within a 200-mile
radius of Dover. In light of the trial court’s error in its factual findings, we held that the trial court's decision
concerning the "reasonableness” of the restrictive covenant and subsequent decisions stemming from that factual
finding should be reconsidered.

On remand, the trial court again found that the covenant was unreasonable. The court found that, because the
non-compete covenant applied to all of the plaintiffs' customers, regardless of whether the defendant had any
contact with them, it was broader than necessary to protect the plaintiffs' legitimate interest in protecting their
goodwill. The [152 N.H. 197] court again found reformation unwarranted, due to the lack of good faith in the
execution of the salesman agreement. The court also found that the covenant not to disclose was an insufficient
basis to support a permanent injunction. Finally, the court again found that it had erred by not requiring the
plaintiffs to post a bond when they filed the original ex parte motion. It awarded damages and attorney's fees to the
defendant. This appeal followed.

On appeal, the plaintiffs argue that: (1) the covenant not to compete was reasonable, and therefore was
enforceable; (2) even if the covenant was unreasconable, it was executed in good faith and, therefore, the trial court
should have reformed it; and (3) the court erred in awarding damages to the defendant in the absence of a bond.

First we address the plaintiffs’ argument that the covenant not to compete is reasonable. A covenant's
reasonableness is a matter of law for this court to decide. We review the trial court's factual findings for clear error.
Concord Orthopaedics Prof. Assoc. v. Forbes, 142 N.H. 440, 443, 702 A.2d 1273 (1997).

We have stated that "the law does not look with favor upon contracts in restraint of trade or competition.”
Technical Aid Corp. v. Allen, 134 N.H. 1, 8, 591 A.2d 262 (1991) (quotation omitted). Such contracts are to be
narrowly construed. Nonetheless, restrictive covenants are valid and enforceable if the restraint is reasonable, given
the particular circumstances of the case. /d.

To determine the reasonableness of a restrictive covenant ancillary to an employment contract, we employ a
three-pronged test: first, whether the restriction is greater than necessary to protect the legitimate interests of the
employer; second, whether the restriction imposes an undue hardship upon the employee; and third, whether the
restriction is injurious to the public interest. If any of these questions is answered in the affirmative, the restriction
in question is unreasonable and unenforceable. /d.

Covenants are valid only to the extent that they prevent employees from appropriating assets that are
legitimately the employer's. Concord Orthopaedics, 142 N.H. at 443, 702 A.2d 1273. The first step in determining
the reasonableness of a given restraint is to identify the legitimate interests of the employer, and to determine
whether the restraint is narrowly tailored to protect those interests. 7echnical Aid, 134 N.H. at 9, 591 A.2d 262.

An employee's special influence over an employer's customers, obtained during the course of employment, is
one of the legitimate interests an employer may protect against competition. Nat/ Employment Serv. Corp. v. Olfsten
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Staffing Serv., 145 N.H. 158, 160, 761 A.2d 401 (2000) .

E78 A2

When an employee is put in a position involving client contact, it is natural that some of the goodwill emanating

Citing References (14) Showing 10 Aa
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262.

The plaintiffs' interest here derives from the defendant's contact with the plaintiffs’ customers, as was the case
in Technical Aid. \n Technical Aid, we considered two restrictive covenants similar to the one at issue. The first was
a covenant not to "engage in competition ... located within a radius of one hundred (100) miles"; the second was a
covenant hot to "service any customers Technical Aid has done any business with during the preceding year.” /d. at
6-7, 591 A.2d 262. We found that the general restriction against competition must be limited to the geographic
area in which the employee had client contact in order to satisfy the "narrowly tailored" test, because this is "usually
the extent of the area in which the employer's good will is subject to appropriation by the employee.” /d. at 10, 591
A.2d 262. We held that the one-hundred-mile geographic limitation was greater than necessary to protect
Technical Aid's legitimate interests. /d.

We also found that the restriction against servicing clients with whom Technical Aid had done business in the
preceding twelve months, regardless of geographic location, was greater than necessary to protect its legitimate
interests. /d. at 11, 591 A.2d 262. Technical Aid purported to be an international organization, with clients all over
the world. We held that it had no legitimate interest in protecting its entire client base from its former employee,
because he had no advantage over any other complete stranger, possessing no special hold on the goodwill of the
majority of Technical Aid's customers. /d.

In Concord Orthopaedics, Concord Orthopaedics Professional Association (COPA) attempted to restrict its
former employee from practicing medicine altogether within a certain geographic area. We upheld the trial court's
determination that COPA had no legitimate interest in preventing its former employee from soliciting new patients
within that area. Concord Orthopaedics, 142 N.H. at 443, 702 A.2d 1273. But we found that COPA could prohibit
its former employee from competing for existing patients within the area, because the legitimate interests of the
employer generally extend to those areas in which the employee had actual client contact. /d.

Concord Orthopaedics and Technical Aid both addressed covenants restricting appropriation of the goodwill
developed through an employee’s contact with customers. In both cases we held that the restrictions were greater
than necessary to protect the employer's legitimate interest because they extended beyond the sphere of the
employee’s influence, either beyond the geographic area where the employee would have had actual client contact,
or beyond the employee's own clients to the public at large.

We now apply this reasoning to the case at hand. The plaintiffs sought to keep the defendant from doing
business with any of the clients who had transacted business with them in the previous year. The trial court heard
testimony that Merrimack Valley has approximately 1,200 customers. There are roughly twelve salespersons
working for the plaintiffs. The defendant testified that he had about sixty regular customers. It is not clear from the
record how many of its 1,200 customers Merrimack Valley does business with in an average

§76 A2d 764

year. What is clear, though, is that the defendant has no particular claims on the goodwill of roughly 1,140 of the
plaintiffs’ customers; he is in no better position than a stranger when it comes to these customers. Technical Aid,
134 N.H. at 11, 591 A.2d 262. Thus, the restrictive covenant goes far beyond the defendant's sphere of customer
goodwill, and was more restrictive than necessary to protect the plaintiffs’ legitimate interests.

We recognize that in Concord Orthopaedics, we upheld a covenant restricting the former employee from
seeing any of the employer's former patients. In that case, however, we found that the employer had no legitimate
interest in preventing its former employee from competing for patients he had no "actual contact with." Concord
Orthopaedics, 142 N.H. at 443, 702 A.2d 1273, Our result today similarly finds that it is unreasonable to prohibit
the defendant from soliciting customers with whom he previously had no contact.
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The plaintiffs urge us to follow Emery v. Merrimack Valley Wood Products, Inc., 701 F.2d 985 (1st Cir.1983). In
Emery, a case involving nearly identical restrictive covenant language, the First Circuit Court of Appeals applied New
Hampshire law and found that the covenant was reasonable and enforceable. Emery, 701 F.2d at 989-90. That case
was decided before Technical Aid and Concord Orthopaedics, however. We find the focus upon the employee's
sphere of customer influence in [152 N.H. 200] Technical Aid and Concord Orthopaedics persuasive, and decline

Citing References (14) Showing 10 Aa

Because the restrictive covenant fails the first prong of the reasonableness test, it is unreasonable, and
therefore unenforceable. Technical Aid, 134 N.H. at 8, 591 A.2d 262.

We turn now to the modification issue. The plaintiffs argue that if the covenant is found to be unreasonable, it
should have been modified. Courts have the power to reform overly broad restrictive covenants if the employer
shows that it acted in good faith in the execution of the employment contract. Smith, Batchelder & Rugg v. Foster,
119 N.H. 679, 682, 406 A.2d 1310 (1979). We will sustain the trial court's findings and conclusions unless they are
lacking in evidential support or tainted by error of law. LeTarte v. West Side Dev. Group, 151 N.H. 291, 294, 855
A.2d 505 (2004).

The trial court found, relying upon Smith, Batchelder & Rugg, that "reformation of the covenant is
inappropriate ... because petitioners did not act in good faith in the execution of the salesman agreement.” The
plaintiffs argue that the trial court’s finding of a lack of good faith was based solely upon its determination that they
did not give the defendant advance notice of the obligations imposed by the employment contract. The plaintiffs
argue that "[g]ood faith and advance notice are not coextensive concepts,” and that to determine good faith a trial
court must examine all of the relevant circumstances of a particular case.

We agree that good faith and advance notice are not one and the same. We do not agree, however, that the
trial court relied solely upon the absence of advance notice to find a lack of good faith. The trial court noted: "The
facts of the present case are indistinguishable in any meaningful way from the facts of Smith, Batchelder & Rugg."
We agree. In Smith, Batchelder & Rugg, we upheld the master's finding that the restrictive covenant could not be
reformed because it was not executed in good faith. The master's finding was supported by evidence that the
employment agreements containing the restrictive covenants were not part of the

876 A4 7E5

oral negotiations, the employees had executed their agreements after they were hired, and the employees did not
have a "full understanding” of the restrictive covenants in their employment agreements. Smith, Batchelder & Rugg,
119 N.H. at 685, 406 A.2d 1310.

As in Smith, Batchelder & Rugg, the trial court in this case found that the plaintiffs "did not discuss the
salesman agreement or the restrictive covenants with the [defendant] during his interview,” and that the defendant
was not presented with the agreement until six months after [152 N.H. 201] he started working for the plaintiffs.
Further, when the salesman agreement was finally presented to him, he "was informed his ability to retain his
position was contingent upon signing the agreement,” which, in its first order in 1999, the trial court found he was
in no position to decline. Upon reviewing the record, we find evidence to support the trial court's determination that
the plaintiffs acted in bad faith in executing the salesman agreement. Therefore, we see no reason to overturn the
trial court’s ruling.

Finally we address the court's decision to award damages in the absence of a bond. The plaintiffs argue that:
(1) the prior injunction orders requiring no bond became the law of the case and cannot be relitigated; (2) the
court's award of damages in the absence of a bond was an error of law; (3) an award of damages in the absence of a
bond is erroneous as a matter of equity; and (4) the evidence does not support an award of damages.

Superior Court Rule 161 states:

Unless the Court, for good cause shown, shall otherwise order, no restraining order or preliminary
injunction shall issue except upon the giving of an injunction bond by the applicant ... for the payment of
such costs and damages as may be incurred or suffered by any party who is found to have been
wrongfully enjoined or restrained.
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Superior Court Rule 163 requires:

Whenever an injunction is issued without notice to, or appearance by, the adverse party (except in marital
cases), the party at whose request it is issued, ordinarily shall, and in any case may, be required to give
bond with sufficient sureties, conditioned by reason of the injunction, in case it shall appear that the

inittnrtinn wac imnranar
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We begin by addressing the plaintiffs' argument that the prior order not requiring a bond became the law of
the case.

Questions once decided on appeal to this court are not ordinarily reexamined in the same case upon a
subsequent appeal. The question decided on the first appeal is known as the law of the case, and becomes binding
precedent to be followed in successive stages of the same litigation. Thus, where an appellate court states a rule of
law, it is conclusively established and determinative of the rights of the same parties in any subsequent appeal or
retrial of the same case. 7ay/or v. [152 N.H. 202] Nutting, 133 N.H. 451, 454, 578 A.2d 347 (1990) As we have not
previously stated any rule of law in this case, the law of the case doctrine is not applicable. State v. Patterson, 145
N.H. 462, 466, 764 A.2d 901 (2000).

The plaintiffs direct our attention to Bailey v. Sommovigo, 137 N.H. 526, 529, 631 A.2d 913 (1993), which
supports the proposition that if a party acquiesces to a trial court’s ruling, that ruling cannot be attacked on appeal.
See also Arnold v. City of Manchester, 119 N.H. 859, 864, 409 A.2d 1322 (1979). We recognize the validity of this

proposition, but hold that it does not apply to the circumstances in this case. The defendant cannot be said to have
acquiesced to the

ruling at the preliminary hearing which failed to require a bond. In his objection to the plaintiffs’ petition for a
preliminary injunction the defendant requested a bond be posted. The trial court did not respond to the defendant's
request in its May 17, 1999 order, stating only that "[tlhe issue of any claimed monetary damages by either party as
a result of the other party's actions will be heard at a later date.”

The plaintiffs make much of the fact that the defendant did not specifically request the court to revisit the
bond issue in his subsequent motion for reconsideration. We do not find this fact dispositive, however, because the
trial court does not appear to have considered the bond issue in the first place. The court signed an order proposed
by the plaintiffs, without making note of the "good cause” required by Rule 161. The court then denied the
defendant’s request for a $250,000 bond, without remarking upon it apart from its comment on "claimed monetary
damages" cited above.

The trial court's order recognizing its error and reversing itself on the bond issue is also instructive in this
regard. This order states that the prior order not requiring a bond "does not specifically address respondent's
request for a bond and does not give any reasons for waiving the bond requirement.” This characterization of its
own order by the trial court bolsters our conclusion that the trial court failed to consider the bond issue. We,
therefore, find that since the trial court never considered the bond issue, the defendant did not acquiesce to its
ruling not requiring a bond to be posted, and therefore was correct to seek damages after the evidentiary hearing.

Next we address the plaintiffs' argument that the trial court's award of damages in the absence of a bond was
an error of law. The plaintiffs argue that in the absence of a bond, the defendant's recovery is limited to taxable
costs, or, alternatively, that because liability for an injunction is limited by the bond terms, there are no damages
when there is no bond. The plaintiffs rely upon 7ifton v. Sharpe, 84 N.H. 43, 146 A. 159 (1929), and Rogers v. [152
N.H. 203] Clough, 76 N.H. 272, 81 A. 1075 (1911), and their progeny, to support these arguments. They also point
to the language of the May 7, 1999 order, drafted by their attorneys, and the May 17, 1999 order, which indicates
that "the court will maintain in substance the restraining order that it issued against the defendant on May 7, 1999."

In Tilton v. Sharpe, this court denied a damage award to a defendant who had not requested a bond at the
time of the injunction, stating "in the absence of such security, the damage claimed is not recoverable.” 7//ton, 84
N.H. at 48, 146 A. 159. In Rogers v. Clough, an injunction was granted on the condition that the plaintiffs give a
$500 bond. This court found that the injunction order "limits both the amount the defendants can recover and the
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items of expense which are chargeable to the plaintiffs. In other words, the amount the defendants can recover in
excess of their taxable costs and the items which compose it both depend on the terms of the order.” Rogers, 76
N.H. at 274, 81 A. 1075.

The present case is distinguishable, however, in that the trial court found it was error to not require a bond,
and cithcannionths ravarcad itcolf by awmardina damanac Tha trial ranrt'e ardar Af Marcrh 20 2004 ctatad-
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The Court finds it erred by failing to require [the plaintiffs] to post bond, absent a showing of "good

cause,” when it issued the preliminary injunction. Thus, relying on “the inherent power of the Court to
review its own proceedings to

correct error or prevent injustice,” ... the Court proceeds as if a bond were posted and awards respondent
damages accordingly.

(Citation omitted.) "[Tlhere can be no question of the inherent power of the Court to review its own proceedings to
correct error or prevent injustice.” Croteau v. Harvey & Landers, 99 N.H. 264, 267, 109 A.2d 553 (1954). The trial
court noted, as cited above, that the prior order not requiring a bond "does not specifically address respondent's
request for a bond and does not give any reasons for waiving the bond requirement.” Further, the language in the
May 17, 1999 order, that "[tlhe issue of any claimed monetary damages ... will be heard at a later date,” indicates
that the trial court did not consider the bond issue because any damages would presumably be limited to the bond
amount according to Superior Court Rule 161(c). See Rogers, 76 N.H. at 274, 81 A. 1075. The trial court saw its
error and corrected it. We agree with the trial court's finding that it was error not to require a bond, and uphold its
decision to correct that error.

[152 N.H. 204] The plaintiffs object to the trial court's correction of its own error on the grounds that it
contravenes the purpose of the temporary restraining order bond. The plaintiffs note that "[t}he bond effectively
acts 'as a contract in which the court and plaintiff "agree” to the bond amount as the "price" of a wrongful

injunction." " (Quoting Note, Recovery for Wrongful Interlocutory Injunctions Under Rule 65(c), 99 Harv. L.Rev. 828,
833 (1986)).

The purpose of an injunction bond is to protect a party who has been wrongfully enjoined. Super. Ct. R.
161(c). There is a long line of cases upholding the rule that a bond effectively limits the amount of damage a
wrongfully enjoined party can recover. The decision to require an initial bond affects the substantive rights of the
parties, in that it limits the plaintiff's maximum liability, and the defendant's maximum protection. Thus, when the
initial decision not to require a bond is made outside the presence of the enjoined party, and not considered again
until the merits hearing, as was the case here, the parties' substantive rights cannot rest upon those preliminary
orders of the court. The trial court recognized its error in this regard, and corrected it, to protect the defendant’s
rights. Therefore, we hold it was not erroneous as a matter of law for the trial court to award damages in the
absence of a bond.

The plaintiffs also argue that the award of damages in the absence of a bond was erroneous as a matter of
equity. The substance of this argument seems to be that it was inequitable for the court to require the plaintiffs to
pay damages after they had relied upon its ruling not to require a bond. The plaintiffs were responsible for the trial
court's initial decision not to require a bond. They also received the May 17, 1999 order in which the court stated
that the "issue of any claimed monetary damages by either party ... will be heard at a later date.” The plaintiffs
should have recognized a continued potential for liability upon receipt of the May 17, 1999 order. We find that it
was not erroneous as a matter of equity for the trial court to correct its error and award damages in the absence of
an injunction bond.

Finally, the plaintiffs argue that the evidence presented does not support an award of damages. In reviewing
damage awards, we consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, and we will not disturb
the decision of the fact finder unless it is clearly erroneous. Schneider v. Plymouth State College, 144 N.H. 458, 465,

744 A.2d 101 (1999). The trial court awarded the
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defendant lost income in the amount of $17,463.20, and attorney's fees in the amount of $73,372.39.

[152 N.H. 205] Upon taking the job with A & B Lumber, the defendant informed his new employer of the non-
compete agreement, and so was paid on a salary basis rather than on a commission basis. The lost income award
was based upon the commissions the defendant would have earned for the twenty weeks he was under the
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responsible for all of the attorney's fees. The trial court found that the attorney's fees claimed were reasonable, and
that the defendant's claim for lost income was reasonable. We see no reason to upset the trial court’s
determinations, as they are supported by the evidence.

Affirmed.

BRODERICK, C.J., and NADEAU, DUGGAN and GALWAY, J]., concurred.
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119 N.H. 679 (N.H. 1979)
406 A.2d 1310

SMITH, BATCHELDER & RUGG

William Jay FOSTER, Robert Genovese and Christopher C. Barrett.
No. 79-058.
Supreme Court of New Hampshire.
August 20, 1979

[406 A.2d 1311]

Gardner & Clauson, Hanover (K. William Clauson, Hanover, orally), for plaintiff.
Orr & Reno, Concord (Ronald L. Snow, Concord, orally), for defendants.
DOUGLAS, Justice.

This is an action in equity brought by the plaintiff to enforce restrictive covenants against the defendants. After a
hearing, the Master (E. Paul Kelly, Esq.) recommended that the covenants should be held unenforceable and that a
temporary and permanent injunction should issue to prevent the plaintiff from enforcing any of the provisions of the
restrictive covenants. This recommendation was upheld by the Superior Court (Johnson, J.), which reserved and
transferred the plaintiff's exceptions. We overrule the plaintiff's exceptions.

The plaintiff is the largest accounting firm in both New Hampshire and Vermont with four offices in New Hampshire
and three in Vermont. The defendants are former employees of the plaintiff. Before beginning his employment, each
defendant had orally negotiated the terms of his employment with a representative of the plaintiff. After these
agreements were made, each defendant signed a written contract containing a covenant not to compete with the
plaintiff upon termination of the employment. These restrictive covenants were not part of the prior oral agreements
but defendants were confronted with the written covenants only after they had substantially changed their positions in
reliance upon the prior oral agreements.
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The covenants provided that for three years after termination of employment, the employee "will not enter into the
employ of, or represent in any manner, any person, firm or corporation who or which was a client of the Employers at
any time prior to the termination of this employment without the express written approval of the Employer.” The
covenants contained a liquidated damages clause which provided that in the event of a breach of the restrictive
covenant, the employees would have to pay fifty percent of the fees they received from serving the plaintiff's former
clients for three years after the termination of their employment.

In August 1976, the defendants voluntarily terminated their employment with the plaintiff and established an
accounting firm in White River Junction, Vermont. The defendants are presently serving

207 clients, 40 of whom are former clients of the plaintiff. The defendants did not receive the express written approval
of the plaintiff required by the employment contract before they began to serve these clients.

An employer seeking to enforce a covenant not to compete must show that the covenant is supported by
consideration, See Lang v. Johnson, 24 N.H. 302 (1851), and that it is reasonable with respect to the interests of the
employer, the employee and the public. Moore v. Dover Veterinary Hospital, Inc., 116 N.H. 680, 367 A.2d 1044 (1976).
Even if the trial court determines that the covenant is unreasonable, the employer nonetheless may be entitled to
equitable relief in the form of reformation or partial enforcement of an overly broad covenant upon a showing of his
exercise of good faith in the execution of the employment contract. So/ari Industries, Inc. v. Malady, 55 NJ. 571, 264
A.2d 53 (1970). See generally /nsurance Center, Inc. v. Taylor, 94 |daho 896, 499 P.2d 1252 (1972).

[406 A.2d 1312] We must examine the provisions of the employment contracts to determine whether the
restrictive covenants were supported by consideration. The written covenant contained a clause, not contained in the
original oral agreement, that employment was terminable by either party on thirty days' written notice, and terminable
by the plaintiff if it was not satisfied with the employees' services. The plaintiff reserved the right to be the sole judge of
such satisfaction.

The master incorrectly determined that the notice requirement, added by the written covenant, was not sufficient
consideration for the defendants’ promises not to compete upon termination of their employment. See Advanced Copy
Products, Inc. v. Cool, Ind.App., 363 N.E.2d 1070 (1977). The notice provision itself is not invalid for lack of
consideration. A provision "that one party shall have the power to cancel by notice given for some stated period, such as
'notice for thirty days' . . . should never be rendered invalid thereby for lack of 'mutuality’ or for lack of consideration.”
1A A. Corbin, Contracts § 164 at 83 (1963).

The provision permitting the plaintiff to terminate the contract if dissatisfied with the defendants' work does not
render its promise to employ illusory because there is an implicit requirement that the employer, in good faith, be
dissatisfied with the employee's work when he exercises his power to terminate the employment. 3A A. Corbin,
Contracts § 647 at 105 (1960).

The defendants signed the covenants after they were hired by the plaintiff under oral employment agreements and were
employed for approximately three years after they signed their employment contracts. Continued employment after
signing an employment contract constitutes consideration for a covenant not to compete contained therein. Daughtry v.
Capital Gas Co., 285 Ala. 89, 229 So0.2d 480 (1969); Farm Bureau Service Co. v. Kohls, 203 N.W.2d 209 (lowa 1972).
Contra Kistler v. O'Brien, 464 Pa. 475, 347 A.2d 311 (1975).

The trial court determined that the covenants were unenforceable because they imposed unreasonable restrictions
upon the employees. The covenant's validity depends upon its reasonableness given the particular circumstances of
each case. Moore v. Dover Veterinary Hospital, Inc., 116 N.H. 680, 684, 367 A.2d 1044, 1047 (1976).

In scrutinizing restrictive covenants, this court employs the following three—pronged test: "(a) restraint on
employment is reasonable only if it is no greater than necessary for the protection of the employer's legitimate interest,
does not impose undue hardship on the employee and is not injurious to the public interest." Moore v. Dover Veterinary
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Hospital, Inc., supra at 684, 367 A.2d at 1047; Blake, Employee Agreements Not to Compete, 73 Harv.L.Rev. 625, 648-
49 (1960).

The master correctly concluded that the restrictive covenant was unreasonable as it related to the employer's
legitimate interest. The master found that the plaintiff's earnings exceed two million dollars per year and that it serves
over 3,000 clients. The master also found that the defendants serve only 207 clients and that their gross earnings for
the period of June 1, 1977, to January 12, 1978, were $47,900. The master held that in the absence of a defined
geographical coverage within the covenants, the two-state region of New Hampshire and Vermont would be established
as the area covered. He found that this area is unreasonably large. He further found that the class of clients protected
by the covenants was too broad because the class includes all clients served by the plaintiff during its existence,
whether or not they were current clients.

Several courts have enforced restrictive covenants in the accounting profession to protect the employer's legitimate
interest. See Faw, Casson & Co. v. Cranston, 375 A.2d 463 (Del.Ch.1977); £bbeskotte v. Tyler, 127 Ind.App. 433, 142
N.E.2d 905 (1957); Scott v. Gillis, 197 N.C. 223, 148 S.E. 315 (1929): Racine v. Bender, 141 Wash. 606, 252 P. 115
(1927). These courts reasoned [406 A.2d 1313] that, due to the nature of

PO N, 684

the accounting profession and the accountant-client relationship, the restrictive covenants should be enforced because
they furthered the employer's legitimate interest "in protecting its business from former employees who have gained
knowledge of its clients and internal operations and who thereafter engaged in a competing practice." Faw, Casson &
Co. v. Cranston, supra, 375 A.2d at 468. Nevertheless, evidence presented to the master indicates that some members
of the accounting profession are not in favor of these types of restrictive covenants. Evidence in the record reveals that
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants opposes such covenants because it believes that the employee is
put at a severe disadvantage.

Courts closely examine the effect that enforcement of a covenant will have upon the employee’s life. 6A A. Corbin,
Contracts § 1394 at 101 (1962). "Disproportionate hardship to the party against whom enforcement is sought has
always been regarded as a reason for refusing equitable remedies.” Id. In this case, the defendants are earning less than
when they were employed by the plaintiff. Requiring the defendants to pay fifty percent of their earnings from 40 of
their 207 clients undoubtedly would work hardship upon the defendants. This hardship is disproportionate to the harm
that the plaintiff would incur if 40 of its 3,000 clients seek the services of the defendants. The master found that none
of the defendants were actively soliciting any former client of the plaintiff. The defendants should not, therefore, be
penalized for or precluded from following their chosen profession. "An employer 'has no right to unnecessarily interfere
with the employee's following any trade or calling for which he is fitted and from which he may earn his livelihood and
he cannot preclude him from exercising the skill and general knowledge he has acquired or increased through
experience or even instructions while in the employment.' " Dunfey Realty Co. v. Enwright, 101 N.H. 195, 199, 138 A.2d
80, 83 (1957), Quoting Roy v. Bolduc, 140 Me. 103, 107, 34 A.2d 479, 481 (1943).

The master also ruled that the liquidated damages figure was unreasonable because it was actually a penalty
inserted to prohibit the defendants from serving any former clients of the plaintiff after termination of the employment.
See Langlois v. Maloney, 95 N.H. 408, 64 A.2d 697 (1949). The plaintiff alleges that the liquidated damages figure
represents compensation to which it is entitled in return for its expense in educating the defendants. The master found
that the liquidated damages figure did not bear a reasonable relation to the injury suffered by the plaintiff, therefore,
the clause is not enforceable. Id. at 412-13, 64 A.2d at 701.

The master finally found that the covenant was unreasonable because the public's ability to choose accountants would
be adversely affected. Residents of New Hampshire and Vermont who were dissatisfied with the plaintiff's services could
not freely seek out the services of the defendants without causing the defendants to incur severe financial penalties.

The master's conclusion that the restrictive covenants failed all three parts of the reasonableness test is supported
by the evidence and will not be overruled. See Sargent Lake Association v. Dane, 118 N.H. 720, 393 A.2d 559 (1978).
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The plaintiffs argue that even if the restrictive covenants are unreasonable, the trial court incorrectly refused to
reform them. Courts reform overly broad restrictive covenants if the employers first show that they acted in good faith
in the execution of the employment contracts. So/ari Industries, Inc. v. Malady, 55 N.J. 571, 264 A.2d 53 (1970). See
generally /nsurance Center, /nc. v. Taylor, 94 |daho 896, 499 P.2d 1252, (1972); Raimonde v. Van Vierah, 42 Ohio
St.2d 21, 325 N.E.2d 544 (1975). The master stated that he would deny the plaintiff's request for a finding that it acted
in good faith in the execution of the employment agreements. His statement was based on the fact that all three
defendants had executed their employment agreements After they were hired and that none of the three were given any
opportunity to [406 A.2d 1314] understand the restrictive covenants in their employment agreements. The defendants,
therefore, did not have the "full understanding” of the agreement that was available to the parties in Moore v. Dover
Veterinary Hospital, Inc., supra and Dunfey Realty Co. v. Enwright, supra. The master found that when each defendant
orally negotiated the terms of his employment with a representative of the plaintiff, there was either no discussion of
the employment agreement containing the restrictive covenant or just a general reference to it.

Although the master erred in stating that he had no authority to reform the overly broad restrictive covenants,
Solari industries, Inc. v. Malady, supra, his error is harmless because the plaintiff was not prejudiced by the ruling.
Daniels v. Barker, 89 N.H. 416, 420, 200 A.2d 410, 415 (1938). The plaintiff is not entitled to reformation because the
master found that it failed to sustain its burden of proving good faith in the execution of the employment contracts.

In summary, we hold that the restrictive covenant, although supported by consideration, is unreasonable with
respect to the

interests of the employer, the employee, and the public. The plaintiff is precluded from obtaining the remedy of
reformation because it did not prove that it acted in good faith in the execution of the employment contracts.

Exceptions overruled.

All concurred.
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“ THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE :
. . SUPERIOR CGURT L

CHESHRE SS. o  No.213-2014-CV-109.
~ WALPOLE CREAMERY, LTD,
DAVIDA WESTOVER and
WALPOLE ICE CREAM LLC

The plarntrﬁc Walpole Creamery, Ltd (the “Creamery ¥ brrngs thrs actron agarnst" |

~the defendants Davrd A Westover and Walpote tce Cream LLC alleglng breach of a

Non Competltron Agreement The plarntrff now moves for a prehmrnary rnjunctron The ':'

, defendants object The Court held an evrdentrary hearrng on July 21 and 22 2014 |
Because the plamtn‘f has met lts burden the Court GRANTS the motron for prelrmmary -
: |njunctrve retref as detarted below ' . " | -
Background | | |
The Court frnds the foI!owmg facts Srnce 2006 the Creamery has manufactured '
: and sotd aH naturai ice cream products at whotesale to supermarkets and local lce |
: 'cream scoop shops The Creamery atso setls rts products through a retari scoop shop -
wrthrn rts manufacturmg !ocatron at 532 Marn Street in Walpole On Aprrl 11, 2011
Robert Kasper Esq among others entered rnto a Purchase Agreement to buy the
:Creamery from among others Davrd Westover - - o
The Purchase Agreement recrtes that the busrness assets sold were frxtures
‘machrnery, equrpment ice cream recrpes food products and stock in trade used i
, OLERK‘S NQ EBA‘IEB | S | ’
f}/a? [f

».




makrng ice cream, furnrshlngs telephone and fax number websrte goodwrll the name
‘Walpole Creamery, the rce cream rnventory and all other non scoop shop assets of the
: ;busrness as more specrﬂcally enumerated on Exhrbrt A e (Pl S Ex 1 ) ExhrbrtA of
the Purchase Agreement lncluded customer lrsts for “all wholesale and retall customers”'
- and" all prospectrve wholesale and retarl customers " (Pl s Ex 23 ) The assets of the
retall scoop shop not stated rn EXhlblt A were not mcluded rn the Purchase Agreement =
“and l\/lr Westover subsequently purchased them from hrs partners after the sale of the
Creamery / ' | ’
The Purchase Agreement also provrdes that
”,‘”Buyers and Sellers agree that this Agreement does not prohrbrt Davrd;,’fﬂy”
~ Westover from continuing to operate a retall scoop shop in the front of the
current space leased by the Sellers at 532 ‘Main Street Walpole NH.
- Buyers and Sellers further agree that any ice cream sold in David
Westover's scoop shop will be produced by Buyers ice eream company.
which will continue to operate under the name “Walpole Creamery » At
_closing, Buyers and David Westover are to enter into a separate license to-
“sell, a sub-lease for the current scoop shop a non competrtron agreement?
- and a new lease for retall space. P ,
(Pl.’s Ex l)
' On l\/lay 2, 2011 at the closrng, l\/lr Westover among other sellers entered rnto ‘

the Non Competrtron Agreement whrch provrded in part

Wrthrn the geographrc lrmrts of the Unrted States and Canada the Sellers‘ i‘ " -
. shall not dunng a perlod of ten (10) years from the date hereot T

f(i)‘{

Dlrectly or rndrrectly, for therr own acoount or as agent servant employee"j'
~or consultant (whether or not pard) orasa shareholder of any corporatlon £

‘partner in a partnershrp, ‘member of any firm, or otherwrse engage or Lo
- attempt to engage in any busrness that solicits . or promotes servrces that

are competitive with the Busmess In particular, Sellers shall not (@

produoe ice cream or any ice cream _product; (b) compete for any ice
“cream customers (any such customers who contact Sellers shall be Sl



i referred by Sellers to Buyers new company) or (c) solrcrt customers or,""'“‘
sell lce cream products to or for any other Company : ,

t t(”)

Drrectly or indirectly, for therr own. account or as agent servant employee f

or consultant (whether or not paid), or asashareholder of any corporatron «

partner in a partnershlp, member of any flrm or otherwise, solrcrtj’, e
~ purchases or sell any services or good that are competitive with the

~ Business from or to any person or entity who is or has. been a customer off S

‘ the Sellers in connectlon wrth the Busrness

(m)

kThe foregotng notwrthstandmg, Davrd Westover shall be allowed to
~operate a retail scoop shop servmg ‘the Walpole Creamery ice cream‘, i
L ,products at the present scoop shop location in Walpole, New Hampshire
o pursuant to the terms and condltlons ofa Scoop Shop Llcense Agreement’
| (Pl s Ex 3) ln addrtlon to agreemg that the remedy at law for breach of the above 2
covenants is madequate and provrdmg that the buyers are entltled to m;unctlve rellef
the Non Competltlon Agreement stated “ln the event that any such terntor al or t!me
llm tatron is deemed to be unreasonable by a court then Buyer agrees and submrts
tothe. reductlon of erther sard terrrtorral or tlme lrmrtatlon to such an area or perlod as y' |

the court shall deem reasonable % (Pl S Ex 3 )

On May 2, 2011 l\/lr Westover also entered lnto a chense Agreement maklng

him the Creamery s exclusrve retall agent to! sell and promote the Creamerys products ”_ : e

i (Pl s Ex 2 ) The Llcense Agreement provrdes that lVlr Westover “agrees that he
wrll only sell Creamery ice cream products from hi s retall scoop shop Iocatron and the
terrrtory extends “to the operatron of one scoop shop by VVestover wrthrn a 15 mlle . :,”:’,:

£

:rad[us of the exrstmg scoop shop located at 532 Mam Street Walpole New Hampshrre & ',



(td ) tn the eyent Mr Westover ceased selhng the Creamery s ice cream the chense
Agreement was to termrnate (ld ) - o e
| At the trme of the purchase the rntent of Attorney Kasper and the buyers was to' -

become a natronat drstrrbutor Currentty, the ptarntrff sells rts products wholesat ‘
throughout New Hampshrre and at numerous locatrons rn Vermont The plarntrtf is atso"
negotratrng to setl its products at locatrons in Massachusetts Attorney Kasper testrfred ’1,
that the 10 year and broad geographro restnctrons rn the Non Competrtron Agreement - i
were based on the buyers goal of becomrng a natronal drstrrbutor qurckly wrthrn 5 8
| Years Thrs optrmrstrc asprratron Was based ona Cahfornra alt naturat rce cream : ’~
company S recent abrtrty to grow natronatty in a short perrod of trme : -

tn 2012 the ptarntn‘f began sellrng retal rce cream |n Keene through a trarter
From the ctosrng in t\/lay of 2011 untrl Juty of 2012 Mr Westover operated the scoop
shop at 532 Marn Street In Juty of 2012 I\/lr Westover re!ocated the scoop shop to 9
Edwards Lane whrch is roughty a half a mrte away from 532 Marn Street The new "
tocatron rncludes drfferent amenrtres rnctudrng a 19503 theme addrtlonat parkrng rnsrde
and outsrde seatrng and a swrng set Mr Westover s scoop shop was a v:tat part of the
ptarntrﬁ’s busrness because rt constrtuted about 20% of the revenue generated by the
plaintiff for the 201 1—2013 seasons and provrded a platforrn to experrment new ﬂavors

Begrnnrng in January 2014 Mr Westover began consrdenng makrng hrs own ice

cream and drscontrnurng the purchase of the plarntn‘ts Mr Westford testrfred that hrs

decrsron Was rn part based on concerns about the ftnancrat vrabrlrty of the plarntrff G

| Furthermore IVlr Westford had complarnts about the quatrty of the rce cream and

' returned about 25 tubs of ice cream to the plarntn‘f for the 2013 season tn totat Mr



Westford purchased roughly 2 700 tubs of rce cream from the plamtlﬁ’ for the 2013
'season ln the thrrd week of January 2014 l\/lr Westover decrded he was gorng to make |
hrs own ice cream and subsequently spent approxrmately $60 OOO on equrpment and
constructron : | e | ’ - : k ”
On February 27 2014 IVlr Westover wrote a letter to the plarntlff statrng “l am
wrrtrng to rnform you that the Walpole Scoop Shop wrll not be purchasmg lce Cream from’
the creamery thrs year Fwill be makmg my own ice cream for the scoop shop from [src ]

commercrally produced base le . (Pl s Ex 4 ) ln Aprrl of 2014 l\/lr Westover began

o operatmg “Walpole Scoop Shop, whach sells rts own lce cream known as “Dave s

e Homemade Super F’remrum lce Cream' % lt lS undlsputed that the defendants do not sell .
the plalntrﬁ’s lce cream | : ’ ’ -
l\/lr Westover advertrsed hrs new busrness through the “Walpole Clarron in Aprrl '
May and June of 2014 The May 2014 advertrsement states “Featurrng Award Wlnnmg =
'Walpole Creamery Super Premrum lce Cream & Other Flne Frozen Desserts (Pl s Ex.
11) lt also clarms Walpole Scoop Shop was voted “Best lce Cream Shop, 20‘l3” by the .
' l\/lonadnock Shopper News and that l\/lr Westover is the “Former Foundlng Partner of o
Walpole Creamery ’( d yin the “Best of l\/lonadnock” publrcatron l\/lr Westover :"
advertrsed that Walpole Scoop Shop was voted best ice cream for srx years rna row G
(PL’ s Ex 12 ) At one pornt in 2014 the defendants websrte clatmed that rt sold the f ,
plarntlff’s product | -
On Yelp com; the plamtrff’s organlzatron is referred to asﬁ“moved” and “closed |
V(Pl S Ex 14 15 ) l\/loreover the recommendatron sectron of Yelp com refers to the |

: plarntrff’s amenltres as swmgs and outdoor seatmg (Pi s Ex 14 at 2 ) On



TnpAdvrser com the revrews refer tothe plarntrff’s busrness asa “ﬂftres ice cream shop |
decor and a’ throw back in time” (P! s Ex 16 ) On Ye!towbook com, the plarntrff’
| phone number rs rsted as the defendants

Attorney Kasper testrﬂed that When he was notrfred by Mr Westover of hrs rntent o "
to stcp seI!rng the ptarntrﬁs rce cream he felt he needed to setup a retari shop, and the
least costty means was to reconstruct 532 I\/Ialn Street The ptarntrff has mcurred
roughly $25 000 in expenses in reconstructrng the ¢ scoop shop at 532 Marn Street In -
gaddrtron the revenue gamed from the p!amtrft’s retarl shop rs srgnrﬂcantty Iess than that ‘
garned dunng t\/tr V\/estover s chensrng Agreement Attorney Kasper testrfred that the ;
detendants retarl operatron has been hurtrng the ptarntn‘f’s wholesate operatron has

decreased the p!arntffs retarl busrness and has had a si gnrfrcant rmpact on the cash |

ﬂow avarlabte Furthermore the defendants operatron has caused confusron in the o

: market ptace Wthh has a!so hurt sales
Attorney Kasper testlﬁed that he understood the Purchase Agreement to rnctude“" -
both the wholesate and retari aspects of the Creamery Mr Westover testn‘red that he -

be!reved the Purchase Agreement on|y rnvolved seihng the who!esale aspect of the : -

Creamery and not the retarl Furthermore Mr \Nestover betreves the Non Competrtron

Agreement only prevents hrm from sethng retart rce cream 15 mrles outsrde of Watpole

The ptarntrt’f now moves for a prehmrnary rnjunctron seekrng to enjorn the

o defendants from “operatrons in the manufactunng and productron of rce crearn products G

for a perrod of 10 years consrstent wrth the provrsrons of the Purchase Agreement and
Non Competrtlon Agreement (Pl s Mem Law 18 ) The defendants object and contend

that the Purchase Agreement and Non Competrtron Agreements rnclude only the



wholesale operatron and not the retarl busmess of the Creamery Thus the defendants
kargue that they are permrtted to sell any retarl rce oream wrthrn a 15 mrle radrus of the &
‘ plarntn‘fs busrness The Court drsagrees Wlth the defendants

Standard of Revrew

. “The rssuance of rnjunctrons erther temporary or permanent has long been : ": it

consrdered an extraordrnary remedy ; Murbhv v McQuade 122 N H 314 316 (1982)
Whether to grant an mjunctron is Wrthrn the trlal court s sound drscretron exercrsed afterf'
consrderatlon of all the crrcumstances and controlled by establrshed pnncrples of

, equrty Smrthv N. H Bd of Exam rs of Psvcholoqrsts 138 N H 548 550 (1994) “‘An

rnjunctlon should not issue unless there rs an rmmedrate danger of rrreparable harm to o
the party seekrng lnjunctrve rellef there rs no adequate remedy at taw [and the] ’,

party seekrng an rnjunctron [rs] lrkely {to] succeed on the ments ATV Watch v N H

: Dept of Res and Econ Dev 155 N. H 434 437 (2007) (braokets rn ongmal) (quotrng

N.H: Deptof Envtl Servs V. I\/lottolo 155 N H 57 63 (2007) Courts also consrder the - '

rmpact on the publrc rnterest and the possrbrllty of substantral harm to others See -

; Uanrrst Corp V. Crtv of Nashua 130 N H 11 13.,14 (1987) The plarntrff bears the
| burden of establrshlng the above factors in order to obtarn an mlunctron : -
Analysrs | | | '
1 erelrhood of Success on the Merlts |
The defendants contend that because the Non Competltlon Agreement is ,‘
’anClllary to the sale of a busmess the Court should construe rt narrowly The Court
drsagrees Generally, “the law does not Iook wrth favor upon contracts |n restramt of -

trade or competrtron and as such non competrtron agreements are to be narrowly o



construed. Merrimack :Valley@'Woodeds v, NearrtSZNH 192, 197 (2005). lnthe

context of a restnctrve covenant ancrllary to an employment agreement the New

Hampshlre Supreme Court has applled a three pronged test flrst whether the
restrrctlon is greater than necessary to protect the legttlmate rnterests of the employer r' e

| seoond whether the restnctlon rmposes an undue hardshlp upon the employee and ’

third, whetherthe restnctlon IS rnjurlous o the publlc lnterest Svncom lndus v Wood :

155 N. H 73 79 (2007) However here the Non Competltlon Agreement lS ancrllary to’
: the sale of a busrness whrch cloes not requrre such a narrow mterpretatron

tAs the New Hampshlre Supreme Court explalned

Because our caselaw looks upon contracts in restramt of trade wrth' s

~.d|sfavor courts normally construe noncompetltlon covenants narrowly'{” ‘
~ However, ‘where, as in this case ‘the noncompetition covenant was
“ancillary to the sale of a business, it may be mterpreted more llberally o
~Under such circumstances, the partres presumably bargaln from posrtlons;fu :
~of equal barga:nmg power The covenantor is paid a premium as
_consideration for his agreeing not to compete with the buyer, and the‘f‘“y b
~_proceeds from the sale assure that the covenant WIll not result in undue_l
hardsh;p S : : : i

Centorr-Vacuum lndus v. Lav0|e 135 N H 651 654 (1992) (crtatlons and quotatrons :

omutted) see also RESTATEMENT (SECOND) CONTRACTS § 188 commentf (“A promlse to

refram from competltson made in connectlon wrth a sale of a busmess rnay be

' reasonable in the llght of the buyers need to protect the value of the good wrll that he e
has acqurred ln eftect the seller promlses not to act S0 as to dlmmlsh the value of what

he has sold ) As one court explamed

_The agreement is not to be narrowly, techmcally construed There lS:’:f‘

~implied in every contract a covenant by each party not to do anythlng'
~which will deprive the other partles thereto of the benefits of the contract. -
~In every contract there is an implied covenant of good faith and fair

deallng that neither party will do anything which injures the right of the
_other to receive the benefrts of the agreement When a person sells the



8 contents ofa store and agrees not to engage in the same busmess in the
- same city as !ong as the purchaser continues in business, the contract is
_ construed as carryi ng “with it the good will of the business. When the good
~ will of a business is sold, it is not the patronage of the general publrc which -
- is sold, but that patronage which has become an asset of that business. ..
. The taw implies in every contract a covenant that neither party will do‘_;k o
i anythrng that wrtl deprrve the other of the frults of hrs bargam .

Harrlson v Cook 29 Cal. Rptr 269 271 (Cat App 1963) (mtattons and quotatrons

omrtted) Accordrng!y, thrs Court wrll appty “norma! rules of Contract mterpretatlon
paymg partrcutar attentlon to the ;ntent of the parttes m enterrng mto the noncompetrtron,

covenant Centorr-Vacuum tndus 135 N. H at 654—-55 see atso Gosselm Vi Archrbatd ,

: 121 N H. 1016 1021 (1 981) (m construmg non competltron agreement ancrllary to the ,' s o

sale of a busrness court atﬂrmed master S fmdrng that covenantor “vrolated the sp:r

and mtent of the agreement) Wltmot H. Srmonson Co V. Green Text Ies Assocs 755 '

-~ F.2d 217 219 (1st Crr 1985) (in mterpretmg non- competttron agreement ancrllary to thef‘

sale of a busmess court Iooked to “partlcular language used agamst the background of e

, other rndlcra of the partles rntentron”) Brcvcle Transrt Auth v BeH 333 S E. 2d 299 305,

(N C 1985) (“Generally when decrdrng whether a party has breached a restnctrve

covenant ancrllary to the sale of a busmess courts wrll mterpret the covenant m the hght' 7, . |

of the purpose of the partres to provrde agamst competltron by the covenantor . ,)‘,

: The next issue rs to what extent the Non Competrtlon Agreement bars Mr
VVestover trom competrng agarnst the ptalntn‘f The language of the Purchase
,Agreement is broad and mctudes the sate of “frxtures machmery equrpment rce cream‘
: recrpes food products and stock in trade used rn makmg tce oream furmshmgs
telephone and fax number websrte gooder the name ‘Walpole Creamery, the Jce

cream mventory and all other non-scoop shop assets of the busrness as more



spectﬁcally enume’rate'don Exhiblt A L (Pl S Ex 1) (emphasrs added) lmportantly,

Exhibit A of the Purchase Agreement mcludes customer llsts for “all wholesale and retarl |

customers and “all prospectrve whotesale and retall customers (Pl S Ex 23 ) The

clear rmport of rncludrng this language was to make plaln that the purchase rnvolved

both the wholesale and retarl aspects of the busrness except to the extent specrﬁcally

authonzed in the chense Agreement Put another way, the purchase was for the entrre ,

Creamery———-not merety the wholesale aspect The only assets not sold are those scoop |

,shop assets Mr. Westover retarned in order to run the retarl scoop shop (Pl s Ex 1)
The Non Competrt ion Agreement states that the [ ]ellers have sold the rce

: Cream productron and all retarl sales outsrde of a 15 mrle radlus from the current scoopk

shop at 532 l\/lam Street VVaIpole NH (the ‘Busmess) (Pl s Ex. 3) (emphasrs added)

It goes on to broadly preclude l\/lr Westover from competrng agarnst the “Bus ness

(1d.) The defendants argue that the def nrtron of the plarntrffs Busrness rs rts wholesale

operatlon and all retarl sales outsade of a 15 mlle radrus Thus the defendants marntaln ‘

the Non Competrtron Agreement permlts l\/tr Westover to compete as a retall busrness o

wrthrn 15 mlles of the plarntlff Such a narrow rnterpretatron of the Non Competltron

Agreement is in error See Gllck V. Chocorua Forestlands Ltd P Sth 157 N H 240 247,'
(2008) (“[l]t has long been our practlce to focus upon the rntent of the partres as
manlfested in the language of the entlre contract in deﬂnlng the partres respectrve
rrghts ) o ’ ’ |

The Non Competltron Agreement broadly prohrbrts competltlon agarnst the o s

plalntn‘f s wholesale busrness and retarl busrness 15 mrles outsrde the plarntn‘f’s Walpole = -

locatron lmportantly, the Non Competltron Agreement carves out an exceptron to lts ,



broad prohlbitlons:
The - foregorng notwrthstandmg Davrd Westover shall be allowed to
operate a retail scoop shop serving the Walpole Creamery ice cream
 products at the present scoop shop location in Walpole, New Hampshlre'
: "pursuant to the terms and condltlons of a Scoop Shop L/cense Agreement; ~

(Pl’s Ex 3) (emphasrs added) Thls exceptlon establrshes that t\/lr Westover cannot

operate a retarl scoop shop unless lt lS allowed under the terms and condltrons of the :

Llcense Agreement The Llcense Agreement only authorlzes lVlr Westover to operate a

retail store selllng exclusrvely Creamery rce cream products wrthrn a 15 mlle radlus of
the plamtn‘f See (Pl S Ex 2. ) Contrary to the defendants posrtlon once the Llcense "
Agreement was. termlnated the Non Competltlon Agreement prohlbrted I\/lr Westover
from sellrng any lce Cream products wrthln 15 mrles of the plalntrff’s Walpole locatlon |
The Purchase Agreement also contemplates thls restnctaon by recrtlng that I\/lr

Westover may contlnue to operate the retarl scoop shop at 532 Mam Street

Accordmgly, the Court flnds that the Non Competltlon Agreement bars lvlr Westover o

- from compet ng agalnst the plalntrff in retall wrthln a 15 mrles radrus

Addrtronally, the detendants argue there is no evrdence regardlng whether the 10’ :

-year restnctlon rs reasonable The Court dlsagrees Non Competltlon agreements are
enforceable only to the extent they are reasonable in trme and space necessary to

protect legltlmate mterests and not an’obstructlon .of the publlc rnterest ” Alexander &

Alexander lnc 488 N.E. 2d at 28~29 l RESTATEMENT (SECOND) CONTRACTS §

! The defendants also contend the Non Competltlon Agreement is unreasonable because “[ ]he 10 year e

restrrctlon at issue, if applied to retail as well as to wholesale compet/tron is not reasonably necessary to

protect any. good wrll purchased by P alntrff in connection with its wholesale operation” (Def s’ Supp. Brlef, o

Opp. Mot Pre. Inj. 1. .) However, as the Court explained above, the Non- Competrtxon Agreementand the -
- Purchase Agreement ‘purportiossell and protect both the retail and wholesale: goodwill the. buyers

: purchased Thus, itis reasonable to protect the goodwill purchased by the buyers by restrarmng the
competition of Mr. Westover in wholesale and retail See Alexander & Alexander nc v, Danahv 488

N.E2d22.29 (Mass App Ct 1986) : , ,

11



188 At the hearrng Attorney Kasper testlfled that the 10 year lrmrtatron was based on o
'prorectrons that the plamtlﬁ would become a natronal dtstrrbutor wrthrn 5~8 years Whrle
the Court does not expressly rule that the trme limrtatron is reasonable for the purposes k
of this prelzmrnary rnjunctron there rs sufﬁcrent evrdence that would support a longer tlme

lrmrtatron than the three years the defendants contend is reasonable Slmllarly, the

geographrc restnctlons at the tlme of the purchase may have been too broad however il o

,the Court frnds there is evrdence to support that it was reasonable to protect the .
plarntn‘f’s goal ot becommg a natronal drstrlbutor To the extent the geographlc and tlme
restnctrons are found to be unreasonable followrng a frnal heanng the Court may alter o '
the agreement to make these restnctrons reasonable See RESTATEMENT (SECOND)
CONTRACTS 5 184(2) L '

Because the defendants do not dlspute that they are operatlng a retarl scoop

' shop wrthln 15 mrles of the plarntn‘f’s Walpole locatron the Court flnds and rules that the' ﬁf, o

plarntrﬁ has met rts burden that there isa lrkelrhood of success on the ments on the

claim that the defendants have breached the terms of the Non Competltlon Agreement l
lrreparable Harm No Adequate Remedy at Law, and the Pubhc lnterest
The next two prongs ot the prelrmlnary rnjunctton standard are whether the

plarntrff ‘has no adequate remedy at law and IS llkely to suffer |rreparabte harm unless |

the conduct of the defendant is enjomed Tlmberlane Reqronal Sch Drst V. Ttmberlane

, Req i Educ Ass n 114 N. H 245 250 (1974) The defendants contend that the plamtrff

o cannot meet rts burden because the lron s share of Plarntltfs alleged damages consrst

not. of competlttve losses that could be avorded by an rnjunctlon but rather of losses S

that a prellmrnary rnjunctlon cannot avord g (Dets Obj Pre an 9) ln parttcular the



defendants argue that the losses at wholesale areeasaly measureable the expenses ’
the plarntrff rncurred in re- entenng the retarl bus ness cannot be avorded by an o
rnjunctron and the only harm that oan possrbly be deemed “rrreparable” . rs the lost :
' profrt from retarl sales i in Walpole that Plarntrff would presumably make but for the =
Defendants competrtron | ‘[b} k those damages are of rts own creatron (ld at .
10) (emphasrs omrtted) The defendants further argue wrthout crtrng any authorrty that
they were in the Walpole retarl market frrst and any competrtron wrth the plarntff is -
based on the plarntrff S chorce to enter the market whrch cannot be a basrs for |
rrreparable harm. (ld. at 10—-11 ) The Court drsagrees and frnds that the plarntrff has o
: adequate remedy at law and is i kely to suffer rrreparable harm unless the conduct of
the defendant is enjorned X o . k’
As the defendants note and Attorney Kasper testrfred there is rrreparabteharm to, .

“the plarntrff based on the lost retarl sales These lost sales are not readrly calculable
' l\/loreover the defendants close proxrmrty, advertrsrng and the pubhc s confusron wrllu

contrnue to damage both the retarl and wholesate goodwrll of the plarntrff See (Pl S Ex :

14 1 7) (evrdencrng drfferent websrtes confusrng the two companres) Therefore the .

Court frnds and rules that the plarntlff has suffrcrently shown rrreparable harm
Furthermore the plarntrﬁ lacks an adequate remedy at law in protectrng rts rnterests rf .
the defendants are not enjomed | |

Addrtronally, the Court flnds that an rnjunctron would be in the publrc S best
rnterest as it rs protectrng the goodwrll of the plamtrff Whrle the defendants have
, expended over $60 OOO in caprtal in connectron wrth sellrng “Dave s Homemade Suber

;'Premrum tce Cream at retarl the harm to the plarntrff wrll be greater rf the rnjunctron rs

13



not. granted Ask explarned above the retarl sates and goodwntt of the plarntrff are bemg ’
yrrreparab!y harmed by the contlnued retart sale by the defendants of rce cream products :
made by the defendants and/or other thrrd partres Accordlng!y the Court ﬂnds and
rules that the ptarntrff has met rts burden of showmg that a pretrmmary rnjunctron rs
necessary | ’ k -
3 ,Bond |
At the end of the ev’rdentrary heanng, the defendants argued that in the ekvent the .
Court granted the ptamtlff’s rnotron the Court should requrre the plarntrff to grve an ,’ '
anunctron bond in the amount of$125 OOO The ptarntrtf objects Pursuant to Supenor "
Court Crvxl Rule 48(c) “ . '
Unless the Court for good cause shown shaH otherwrse order nokg‘ L
Restrammg Order or Prehmmary Injunctlon shatl issue except upon the =
~giving of an rnjunctron bond by the applicant, in such sums as the Court"f
~ deems proper, for the payment of such costs and damages as may be
H ,rncurred or suffered by any party Who is found to have been wrongfutly, o
; enjorned or restranned i . t
Based on the evrdence submrtted the Court ordersthat the mjunctron shalt not issue
except upon the plalntn’f secunng an rnjunctlon bond rn the amount of $125 OOO
In sum the Court GRANTS the ptarntrff’s motron for a pretrmmary rnjunctron and : .
provrded the plamtrff secures the necessary mrunctron bond ENJOINS the defendants
from operatrons in the manufactunng and productron of rce cream products Further

the defendants are ENJOINED from seHrng or drstnbutlng ice cream products at the

whoiesale or retarl tevel rnctudmg any |ce cream products made by themselves or any



thcrd party The defendants are not enjomed from selhng soft serve, yogurt or other
- non- -ice cream dessert produots

SO ORDERED

?/25//90

Déte '
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The plaintiff, Mortgage Specialists, Inc., appeals: (1) an
order of the Superior Court (Morrill, J.) denying its motion
to set aside the jury wverdict on its claim for
misappropriation of trade secrets, see RSA ch. 350-B
(1995); and (2) a pretrial order of the Superior Court
(Coffey, 1.) dismissing its other claims. The defendants,

Joseph C. Davey, IV, Team Mortgage, LLC, Steven
Michael Carbone, and Signature Mortgage Group, LLC,
cross-appeal a post-trial order of the Superior Court
(Morrill, ].) assessing sanctions against them. We affirm in
part, vacate in part, and remand.

1. Background

Mortgage Specialists is a mortgage brokerage and lending
company with offices in Massachusetts and New
Hampshire. Defendants Davey and Carbone worked as loan
originators for Mortgage Specialists. In July 2002, both left
Mortgage Specialists to work for a competitor, Mortgage
Partners. When they left, each took with him copies of
customer information retained in the course of his work.
The most important piece of information was the customer's
current interest rate, from which a competitor could learn
whether refinancing would benefit the customer.

[904 A.2d 657] Davey and Carbone subsequently started
their own mortgage businesses. Davey, who worked at
Carteret Mortgage for a short time
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after leaving Mortgage Partners, is the owner of defendant
Team Mortgage, LLC. Carbone is the owner of defendant
Signature Mortgage Group, LLC. Since leaving Mortgage
Specialists, Davey and Carbone have both closed loans,
with their subsequent employers and with their own
businesses, for customers with whom they had previously
worked at Mortgage Specialists.

When Mortgage Specialists learned that Mortgage Partners
had contacted its former customers, it initiated suit against
Mortgage Partners for misappropriation of trade secrets.

Davey and Carbone were both deposed in November 2002
in connection with that litigation, and both acknowledged
that they had taken copies of customer information with
them when they left Mortgage Specialists. Mortgage
Specialists brought this suit in 2003, alleging a variety of
claims and seeking injunctive relief and damages.

The trial court dismissed all of Mortgage Specialists'
claims except for its claim that the defendants
misappropriated its trade secrets. It also issued a
preliminary injunction prohibiting the defendants from
misappropriating or disclosing Mortgage Specialists’
customer information and prohibiting them from contacting
or communicating with any of Mortgage Specialists' current
or former customers, with some limited exceptions.

A jury trial was held in September 2004 on the trade
secrets claim. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the



defendants. The trial court subsequently imposed sanctions
upon the defendants for their conduct prior to and during
trial.

II. The Trade Secrets Claim

Mortgage Specialists filed a motion to set aside the jury's
verdict. It asserted that the jury's verdict was "against the
great weight of the evidence presented attrial" and "[n]o
reasonable jury could have reached the verdict it did in this
case in the face of such overwhelming evidence." The trial
court denied Mortgage Specialists' motion, finding that a
reasonable jury could have concluded that the alleged
confidential information underlying its claims was not a
trade secret because "Mortgage Specialists' customer
information was not subject to reasonable efforts to
maintain its secrecy under the circumstances.” See RSA
350-B:1, IV(b). We agree.

A reasonable jury could have found the following facts:
Davey and Carbone began working as loan originators for
Mortgage Specialists in 1999. Both were hired as
independent contractors. Upon hiring, they were neither
asked to sign a non-disclosure or confidentiality agreement,
nor told that Mortgage Specialists' documents or customer
information was
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confidential or constituted trade secrets. Despite a
relatively high turnover among its loan originators and the
tendency of loan originators to stay in the mortgage
business after leaving Mortgage Specialists, throughout the
time during which Davey and Carbone worked for
Mortgage Specialists, the company had no written policy
regarding confidentiality or document destruction and no
employee handbook. Although Mortgage Specialists
created a confidentiality and non-disclosure agreement by
1999, only some of its loan originators actually signed it
between 1999 and 2001. Davey and Carbone deny having
seen or heard about the agreement before July 2002, when
Mortgage Specialists asked all of its loan originators to sign
it. Neither Davey nor Carbone signed the agreement, and
each terminated his relationship with Mortgage Specialists
shortly thereafter. Prior to being presented with [904 A.2d
658] the agreement, neither Davey nor Carbone had been
told that customer information belonged to Mortgage
Specialists or that they were prohibited from copying or
maintaining copies of customer information. Mortgage
Specialists did not ask either Davey or Carbone to return or
destroy customer information before leaving the company.

While Davey and Carbone were working at Mortgage
Specialists, it collected and stored customer information and
disseminated it to its employees and independent
contractors in various formats. Lists of potential new

customers and lists of potential repeat customers were
distributed regularly to Mortgage Specialists' telemarketers.
The lists of potential repeat customers were not marked as
trade secrets or as confidential. Nevertheless, access to the
lists of potential repeat customers, which contained
information about each customer's loan amount, loan type,
and interest rate, was restricted. Supervisors gave
telemarketers only a limited number of pages from these
lists during a given shift. The telemarketers were not
permitted to photocopy the pages, and were required to
return all pages of the list to the supervisor at the end of the
shift. Davey and Carbone did not have access to these lists,
and Mortgage Specialists has not alleged that they took
copies of these lists when they left.

As telemarketers contacted individuals interested in doing

business with Mortgage Specialists, including both new and
repeat customers, the telemarketers created "lead sheets" to
be passed on to loan originators such as Davey and
Carbone. The lead sheets often included the name and
phone number of the individual, and sometimes included
the individual's current interest rate. The lead sheets were
not marked as trade secrets or as confidential. Neither
Davey nor Carbone was ever instructed to destroy the lead
sheets or to return them to a particular individual or
department.

As loan originators met with customers, the loan
originators gathered all of the information needed to
complete a standard residential loan
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application. Known as a Form 1003, the application
consisted of several pages and required the applicant to
disclose a great deal of personal information, including a
social security number, detailed information regarding
income, bank accounts, and credit history, and the interest
rate on the existing mortgage. When meeting with a
customer, Davey and Carbone both typically took notes on
the back of the lead sheet and filled out the application by
hand. The loan application was accompanied by a privacy
policy disclosure, indicating that the customer's information
would not be disclosed to third parties.

After the loan application was completed, the application
package was returned to Mortgage Specialists for
processing. Davey and Carbone often retained copies of the
lead sheet or the first page of the application. Carbone
testified that some loan originators retained this information
so that they could keep in touch with the customer
throughout the loan application process.

After the completed application was given to the loan
processors at Mortgage Specialists, all application
information was entered into Mortgage Specialists'



computerized database, which could be accessed by the
processors. While loans were in process, lists of all open
loan applications were regularly generated from this
database and distributed to all of Mortgage Specialists' loan
originators. These lists, referred to as "pipeline reports,”
contained basic information about each customer's loan,
including the customer's last name, the type of loan, and the
interest rate.

[904 A.2d 659] The pipeline reports were not marked as
trade secrets or as confidential. Loan originators were not
instructed to destroy the pipeline reports or to return them
to a particular individual or department.

After the loan was closed, the electronically-stored
customer  information  was  transferred into  a
password-protected database, accessible only by one of the
owners and the office manager. If a loan originator needed
access to an application after the loan was closed, he could
obtain a computer printout of the application information
from the individuals who had access to the database. The
printout was not marked as a trade secret or as confidential,
and loan originators were not instructed to return it or to
refrain from copying it.

While Davey and Carbone were working at Mortgage
Specialists, the hard copies of customers’ closed loan files
were stored in the attic of Mortgage Specialists' Plaistow
office. Access to the attic was through an unlocked door
and was notrestricted. Davey and Carbone sometimes
entered the attic and retrieved old files from storage when
they wanted to review or copy information.

After leaving Mortgage Specialists, Davey and Carbone
both worked as loan originators at Mortgage Partners.
Carbone gave a telemarketer at
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Mortgage Partners a bag filled with copies of loan
applications that he had taken with him from Mortgage
Specialists and she was instructed to contact all of his
former customers to let them know that he was now
working at Mortgage Partners. One of the former
customers, when contacted by Mortgage Partners, was
angered by the fact that Mortgage Partners had access to his
personal information and complained about the situation to
Mortgage Specialists in August 2002. The customer spoke
to several employees at Mortgage Specialists, and
ultimately met with its president. Despite Mortgage
Specialists' apparent knowledge that Mortgage Partners had
access to its customer information, it took no steps to
retrieve the customer information from Mortgage Partners'
possession.

On appeal, Mortgage Specialists contends that there was

overwhelming evidence that the defendants misappropriated
its trade secrets within the meaning of the New Hampshire
Uniform Trade Secrets Act, RSA chapter 350-B. It argues
that the trial court erred in denying its motion to set aside
the jury verdict, claiming that no reasonable juror could
have found that its efforts to maintain the secrecy of its
customer information were not reasonable under the
circumstances.

A jury's verdict may only be set aside if it is conclusively
against the weight of the evidence or if it is the result of
mistake, partiality, or corruption. PMC Corp. v. Houston
Wire & Cable Co., 147 N.H. 685, 692, 797 A.2d 125
(2002). "Conclusively against the weight of the evidence"
means that the verdict was one no reasonable jury could
return. /d. As the plaintiff argues only that the jury verdict
was against the weight of the evidence, we limit our review
to that issue. We will not overturn the trial court's denial of
Mortgage Specialists' motion to set aside the jury verdict
unless it is an unsustainable exercise of discretion. SeeBabb
v. Clark, 150 N.H. 98, 100, 834 A.2d 364 (2003).

For information to be a trade secret, the information must,
among other things, be "the subject of efforts that are
reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy.”
RSA 350-B:1, IV(b). Mortgage Specialists argues that the
measures it took to maintain the secrecy of its customer
information were "reasonable under the circumstances
because they clearly put the loan originators on notice that
[the] type of [904 A.2d 660) information contained in the
Form 1003s is confidential ... and should not be disclosed.”
We disagree.

As the trial court indicated in its order, the jury heard
testimony that the documents containing customer
information, including customers' current interest rates,
"were never marked confidential or trade secret," that those
documents "were kept in an attic for many years," and that
"the

Page 772

loan originators were not consistently and uniformly given
instructions as to the proper treatment of the information as
confidential and/or proprietary." While there was evidence
that Mortgage Specialists took specific steps to maintain the
secrecy of its lists of potential repeat customers, lists to
which the defendants did not have access and did not copy,
there was conflicting testimony as to whether Mortgage
Specialists took any steps at all to maintain the secrecy of
customer information that was stored and disseminated to
its employees and independent contractors in other forms.
Although Mortgage Specialists provided all of its customers
with a privacy policy acknowledgement indicating that it
would not disclose the customer's nonpublic personal
information to nonaffiliated third parties, and it placed



shredders around its office, these efforts could have been
found by the jury only to demonstrate a need to protect
customers from the sale of their personal information or
from the risk of identity theft, rather than an intent to
prevent =~ Mortgage  Specialists'  employees  from
misappropriating customer information. While access to the
electronic copies of old loan applications was restricted by a
password, there was testimony at trial indicating that any
loan originator could request that a copy of that information
be printed and given to him, and that any loan originator
could enter the attic storage area to access a hard copy of
the closed file. While Mortgage Specialists took some steps
to maintain the secrecy of its customer information, the jury
could have found that its efforts were inconsistent.

The trial court's decision not to set aside the jury verdict
was not an unsustainable exercise of discretion, as a
reasonable jury could conclude from the evidence presented
at trial that Mortgage Specialists' customer information was
not subject to reasonable efforts to maintain its secrecy
under the circumstances, and, accordingly, was not a trade
secret.

Il Preemption of Other Claims

Mortgage Specialists asserted the following claims against
the defendants: misappropriation of trade secrets, see RSA
ch. 350-B; conversion; tortious interference with
advantageous relations; violation of the New Hampshire
Consumer Protection Act (CPA), see RSA ch. 358-A (1995
& Supp.2005); and breach of fiduciary duty. However, the
trial court granted, in part, the defendants' motion to
dismiss, allowing Mortgage Specialists to proceed on the
trade secrets claim alone. We affirm this decision of the
trial court to the extent that it dismissed the claims for
conversion and breach of fiduciary duty, but vacate it to the
extent that it dismissed the claims for tortious interference
with advantageous relations and violation of the CPA.
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Mortgage Specialists alleged the following relevant facts in
its writ: While Davey and Carbone were working for
Mortgage  Specialists, each retained copies of
documentation containing confidential information about
Mortgage Specialists' customers and their mortgages. While
Davey and Carbone were working for Mortgage Partners,
Mortgage Specialists received reports from customers that
Mortgage Partners "had been contacting them, discussing
confidential information with them, reporting that Mortgage
Specialists had no license [904 A.2d 661] and was in
trouble in New Hampshire, and luring them to do business
with Mortgage Partners." Carbone admitted that he
"informed Mortgage Specialists' customers that Mortgage
Specialists was operating without the proper New
Hampshire licensing." Since leaving Mortgage Specialists,

both Davey and Carbone have used confidential
information taken from Mortgage Specialists to contact
Mortgage Specialists' customers and solicit business on
behalf of Mortgage Partners. The defendants have also
solicited Mortgage Specialists' employees.

Prior to trial, the defendants moved to dismiss Mortgage
Specialists’ claims, arguing in part that the New Hampshire
Uniform Trade Secrets Act, see RSA c¢h. 350-B
(NHUTSA), preempted Mortgage Specialists' claims for
conversion, tortious interference with advantageous
relations, violation of the CPA, and breach of fiduciary
duty. See RSA 350-B:7. The trial court construed RSA
350-B:7 as providing that any of Mortgage Specialists'
claims that are "based upon the [defendants'] alleged
misappropriation of [Mortgage Specialists'] trade secrets are
preempted"” by the NHUTSA. Finding that the common law
and CPA claims were not "supported by facts other than the
misappropriation or misuse of trade secrets ... and/or
confidential information," the trial court concluded that the
claims were preempted by the NHUTSA. Inresponse to
Mortgage Specialists' argument that dismissal of the
common law and CPA claims would be premature, given
that the parties continued to dispute whether the
confidential information at issue was in fact a trade secret
within the meaning of the NHUTSA, the trial court ruled
that RSA chapter 350-B "displaces ... claims that rely on the
misappropriation of trade secrets, regardless of whether
[Mortgage Specialists] successfully demonstrates that the
information in question qualifies as a trade secret" within
the meaning of the NHUTSA.

In reviewing the trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss,

our task is to ascertain whether the allegations pled by
Mortgage Specialists are reasonably susceptible of a
construction that would permit recovery. SeeBerry v.
Watchtower Bible & Tract Soc., 152 N.H. 407, 410, 879
A.2d 1124 (2005). We assume that all facts pled are true,
and we construe all reasonable inferences drawn from those
facts in Mortgage Specialists' favor. Seeid.
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We then engage in a threshold inquiry that tests those facts
against the applicable law. /d. The issue raised here also
involves the interpretation of a statute, which is a question
of law that we review de novo. SeeWoodview Dev. Corp. v.
Town of Pelham, 152 N.H. 114, 116, 871 A.2d 58 (2005).

On appeal, Mortgage Specialists argues that preemption
pursuant to RSA 350-B:7 is contingent upon the
information at issue qualifying as a trade secret within the
meaning of the NHUTSA, see RSA 350-B:1, IV.
Accordingly, it argues that the trial court prematurely
dismissed the common law and CPA claims because the
parties disputed whether the misappropriated information



was a "trade secret”" within the meaning of the NHUTSA.
Alternatively, Mortgage Specialists argues that, even if
preemption is not contingent upon the finding of a statutory
trade secret, the claims were not preempted because they
were not based solely upon the defendants' alleged
misappropriation of statutory trade secrets, but also upon
the defendants' alleged misappropriation of confidential
information and goodwill and improper competition for
customers.

The defendants argue that, pursuant to RSA 350-B:7, the
NHUTSA preempts all "other remedies and theories of
recovery [904 A.2d 662] in which liability is premised upon
misappropriation of 'confidential information and trade
secrets' " because all such remedies conflict with the
NHUTSA. Accordingly, they argue that because "every one
of [Mortgage Specialists'] claims [is] based entirely on the
alleged misappropriation  of alleged ‘'trade secrets' or
‘confidential and proprietary' information," each of the
common law and CPA claims is preempted by the
NHUTSA.

We begin our review by interpreting RSA 350-B:7. In
matters of statutory interpretation, we are the final arbiters
of the legislature's intent as expressed in the words of the
statute considered as a whole. Woodview Dev. Corp., 152
N.H. at 116, 871 A.2d 58. We examine the language of the
statute, ascribing to its words their plain and ordinary
meanings, and interpret it in the context of the overall
legislative scheme and not inisolation. In the Matter of
Jerome & Jerome, 150 N.H. 626, 628-29, 843 A.2d 325
(2004). The NHUTSA, which is New Hampshire's
codification of the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (UTSA)
(amended 1985), 14 U.L.A. 536-659 (2005), must be
construed "to effectuate its general purpose to make
uniform the law with respect to the subject of [the
NHUTSA] among states enacting it." RSA 350-B:S.
Therefore, opinions rendered by courts interpreting the
UTSA's preemption provision inform our analysis. See id.

RSA 350-B:7, entitled "Effect on Other Law," states:

1. Except as provided in paragraph I, this chapter displaces
conflicting tort, restitutionary, and other law of this state
providing civil remedies for misappropriation of a trade
secret.
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II. This chapter shall not affect:

(a) Contractual remedies, whether or not based upon
misappropriation of a trade secret;

(b) Other civil remedies that are not based upon
misappropriation of a trade secret; or

(c) Criminal remedies, whether or not based upon
misappropriation of a trade secret.

This provision of the NHUTSA is identical to section
seven of the UTSA. See 14 UL.A. 651. Hercinafter, we
refer to the two provisions interchangeably as "the
preemption provision."

Mortgage Specialists urges us to construe the preemption
provision to provide that no claim is preempted unless and
until a determination is made that there has been a
misappropriation of trade secrets in violation of the
NHUTSA. We acknowledge that, ifread inisolation, the
plain language of RSA 350-B:7, I, appears to support
Mortgage Specialists' argument because it explicitly
preempts only remedies for "misappropriation of a frade
secret." (Emphasis added.) However, such a narrow
construction of the preemption provision ignores not only
the overall legislative scheme reflected in the NHUTSA,
but also the statutory directive that we must construe the
NHUTSA "to effectuate its general purpose to make
uniform the law with respect to the subject of [the
NHUTSA] among states enacting it,” RSA 350-B:8. Thus,
in construing the language of the preemption provision, we
must consider the purpose of the UTSA as well as the
construction that other courts have given to the same
provision.

Prior to enactment of the UTSA, the Patent Section of the
American Bar Association began considering the need for
"enactment of a uniform state law to protect against the
wrongful disclosure or wrongful appropriation of trade
secrets, know-how or other information maintained in
confidence by another.” UTSA, 14 U.L.A. 531-32 prefatory
note (emphases added;

[904 A.2d 663] quotation omitted). The UTSA arose out of
concerns that development of law on the subject had been
"uneven" and that there was "undue uncertainty concerning
the parameters of trade secret protection, and the
appropriate remedies for misappropriation of a trade
secret." Id. at 531, 843 A.2d 325. The drafters explained
that "[tlhe contribution of the [UTSA] is substitution of
unitary definitions of trade secret and trade secret
misappropriation, and a single statute of limitations for the
various ... theories of noncontractual liability utilized at
common law." Id. (emphases added).

The UTSA "also arose to create a uniform business
environment that created more certain standards for
protection of commercially valuable
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information." Auto Channel, Inc. v. Speedvision Network,
LLC, 144 F.Supp.2d 784, 789 (W.D.Ky.2001). "[Tlhe



purpose of the preemption provision is to preserve a single
tort action under state law for misappropriation of a trade
secret as defined in the statute and thus to eliminate other
tort causes of action founded on allegations of
misappropriation of information that may not meet the
statutory standard for a trade secret." Burbank Grease
Services, LLC v. Sokolowski, 278 Wis.2d 698, 693 N.W.2d
89, 98 (Ct.App.2005) (hereinafter Burbank Grease I), rev'd
in part, 717 N'W.2d 781, 788-94 (Wis.2006). As such, the
UTSA "was meant to codify all the various common law
remedies for theft of ideas." Thomas & Betts Corp. v.
Panduit Corp., 108 F.Supp.2d 968, 971 (N.D.IIL.2000)
(quotation omitted); see alsoBliss Clearing Niagara v.
Midwest  Brake Bond, 270 F.Supp.2d 943, 948
(W.D.Mich.2003). With the enactment of the UTSA,
confidential information not rising to the level of a statutory
trade secret was left largely unprotected by the law. See
RSA 350-B:7, L.

Mortgage Specialists urges us to adopt the position of a
minority of courts that have held that common law and
statutory claims are not preempted by the UTSA if they
involve information that does not meet the statutory
definition of a trade secret. See, e.g.,Callaway Golf v.
Dunlop Slazenger Group Americas, 295 F.Supp.2d 430,
437 (D.Del.2003); Stone Castle v. Friedman, Billings,
Ramsey & Co., 191 F.Supp.2d 652, 659 (E.D.Va.2002);
Combined Metals of Chicago Ltd. v. Airtek, Inc., 985
F.Supp. 827, 830 (N.D.I11.1997); see alsoBurbank Grease
Services, LLC v. Sokolowski, 717 N.W.2d 781, 788-94
(Wis.2006) (hereinafter Burbank Grease II). We do not find
these cases persuasive, however, and the weight of
authority among courts that have considered the preemption
provision is that the history, purpose, and interpretation of
the statutory scheme, as discussed above, do not support
Mortgage Specialists' position. See, e.g., Weins v. Sporleder,
605 N.W.2d 488, 491-92 (S.D.), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 821,
121 S.Ct. 63, 148 L.Ed.2d 29 (2000), Ethypharm S.A.
France v. Bentley Pharmaceuticals, 388 F.Supp.2d 426,
433 (D.Del.2005); see also, e.g.,Burbank Grease II, 717
N.W.2d at 798-803 (Bradley, J., dissenting); Savor, Inc. v.
FMR Corp., 812 A2d 894, 898 (Del.2002) (rejecting
argument that preemption is contingent upon finding of
statutory trade secret); Bliss Clearing Niagara, 270
F.Supp.2d at 948-49 (same); Auto Channel, 144 F.Supp.2d
at 788-89 (same); Thomas & Betts, 108 F.Supp.2d at 972-73
(same). "If a common law claim for unauthorized use of
information that did not meet the statutory definition of a
trade secret were permitted, the result 'would undermine the
uniformity and clarity that motivated the creation and
passage of the [UTSAL." ' Burbank Grease I, 693 N.W.2d at
99 (quotingAuto Channel, 144 F.Supp.2d at 789).

[904 A.2d 664]
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Although we rely upon the opinion of the Court of Appeals
of Wisconsin in Burbank Grease Services, LLC v.
Sokolowski, we acknowledge that the Wisconsin Supreme
Court recently reversed the portion of that opinion which is
relevant to the issue presented here. SeeBurbank Grease 11,
717 N.W.2d at 788-94. There, the supreme court held that
Wisconsin's version of the UTSA does not preempt civil
remedies for the misappropriation of information "if the
information does not meet the statutory definition of a trade
secret.” Id. at 786. As noted above, while other courts have
agreed with the Wisconsin Supreme Court, we do not find
that position persuasive. Rather, we believe that the opinion
of the Court of Appeals of Wisconsin in Burbank Grease I
is well-reasoned, particularly for its adherence to the
principles of uniformity and clarity that motivated the
creation of the UTSA, inlight of the legislative directive
that the UTSA be construed to make uniform the law
among the jurisdictions enacting it. SeeBurbank Grease I,
693 N.W.2d at 97-102; see alsoBurbank Grease II, 717
N.W.2d at 798-803 (Bradley, J., dissenting). We find the
opinion of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals persuasive.
SeeBurbank Grease I, 693 N.W.2d at 97-102.

We conclude that RSA 350-B:7, viewed in the context of
the overall legislative scheme and construed in a manner
that effectuates the purpose of making uniform the law
among States that have adopted the UTSA, provides that the
NHUTSA preempts claims that are based upon the
unauthorized use of information, regardless of whether that
information meets the statutory definition of a trade secret.
Thus, except as otherwise provided in RSA 350-B:7, II, the
NHUTSA essentially creates a system in which
"information is classified only as either a protected 'trade
secret' or unprotected ‘'general ... knowledge.! " Unikel,
Bridging the "Trade Secret” Gap: Protecting "Confidential
Information” not Rising to the Level of Trade Secrets, 29
Loy. U. Chi. LJ. 841, 867-68 (1998). Although this result
may seem harsh, we note that RSA 350-B:7, 1I(a) continues
to permit individuals and corporate entities to protect their
valuable commercial information contractually, regardless
of whether such information meets the statutory definition
of "trade secret” in the NHUTSA.

Accordingly, we agree with the trial court's conclusion that
the preemption provision did notrequire that it make a
determination of whether the information at issue
constituted a trade secret under the NHUTSA prior to
determining whether any of Mortgage Specialists' common
law or CPA claims was preempted by the NHUTSA.

Our review, however, does not end here. As noted above,
Mortgage Specialists argues that, even if preemption is not
contingent upon the finding of a statutory trade secret, its



claims were not preempted because
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they were not based solely upon the defendants' alleged
misappropriation of customer information, but also upon the
defendants’ alleged misappropriation  of goodwill and
improper competition for customers. It also argues that, to
the extent that any one of its claims is based solely upon the
misappropriation  of  customer  information,  the
"confidential" nature of that customer information entitles it
to special protection under New Hampshire law,
independent of the NHUTSA. The defendants, however,
argue that Mortgage Specialists' "claims for conversion,
tortious interference, unfair trade practices and breach of
fiduciary duty based on the alleged misuse of confidential
information are no longer available in New Hampshire,” by
virtue of the preemption [904 A.2d 665] provision of the
NHUTSA. We are not persuaded that the preemption
provision should be applied this broadly.

Whether a particular claim is preempted by the NHUTSA
turns on whether the claim "conflicts" with the NHUTSA.
See RSA 350-B:7, I. The majority of courts that have
examined this issue have not relied upon the label attached
to the claim, but have examined the facts underlying the
claim to determine whether it is preempted by the UTSA.
Burbank Grease I, 693 N.W.2d at 99; see alsoWeins, 605
N.W.2d at 491; Bliss Clearing Niagara, 270 F.Supp.2d at
946-47.

Some courts have stated that all claims that are factually
related to the misappropriation of information are
preempted. SeePowell Products, Inc. v. Marks, 948 F.Supp.
1469, 1474 (D.Colo.1996) (discussing cases in which courts
have done so). However, we disagree with those courts.

"The preemption provisions can be somewhat worrisome if
they are applied mechanistically or overly conceptually.

Our common law is richly flexible in redressing wrongs for
improper conduct which in full or in part involves the use of
information derived from the plaintiff” 1 R. Milgrim,
Milgrim on Trade Secrets § 1.01[3] [a] at 1-128.3 (2002).
"It is neither necessary nor prudent to preclude all common
law claims that are connected with the misappropriation of
what a plaintiff claims are trade secrets." Powell Products,
948 F.Supp. at 1474.

In determining whether a claim "conflicts" with the UTSA,
we agree with the majority of courts, which have looked to
the facts alleged or proved in support of the claim and have
found that the claim is preempted when it is "based solely
on, or to the extent [that it is] based on, the allegations or
the factual showings of unauthorized use of ... information
or misappropriation of a trade secret." Burbank Grease I,
693 N.W.2d at 100 n. 12; see, e.g.,Savor, 812 A.2d at 898;
Frantz v. Johnson, 116 Nev. 455, 999 P.2d 351,357 & n. 3

(2000); Weins, 605 N.W.2d at 492; Ethypharm, 388
F.Supp.2d at 433; Bliss Clearing Niagara, 270 F.Supp.2d at
946; Auto Channel,
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144 F.Supp.2d at 789. We also agree with courts that have
concluded that a claim is not preempted where the elements
of the claim require some allegation or factual showing in
addition to that which forms the basis for a claim of
misappropriation of a trade secret. See, e.g., Weins, 605
N.W.2d at 492; FEthypharm, 388 F.Supp.2d at 434-35;
Powell Products, 948 F.Supp. at 1474; see alsoBurbank
Grease I, 693 N.W.2d at 100 n. 12.

Mortgage Specialists contends that, despite the foregoing,
its claims are not preempted by the NHUTSA, even to the
extent that they rely upon allegations of misappropriation of
customer information. It argues first that we have "long
recognized a distinction between a claim for the
misappropriation of trade secrets and the misappropriation
of confidential information," citing Vigitron, Inc. v.
Ferguson, 120 N.H. 626, 631-32, 419 A.2d 1115 (1980). It
also argues that we have "indicated that among the panoply
of legitimate interests of an employer which may be
protected from competition is 'confidential information
communicated by the employer to the employee, but not

o

involving trade secrets,” " quoting National Employment
Service Corporation v. Olsten Staffing Service, Inc., 145
N.H. 158, 160, 761 A.2d 401 (2000). However, the
language relied upon by Mortgage Specialists from both

Vigitron and Olsten Staffing is not as broad as it contends.

In Vigitron, the defendants formed a partnership to sell
products that would compete with the plaintiff's products
and attempted to sell one of the competing products, all
while at least one of the defendants [904 A.2d 666] was
employed by the plaintiff. Vigitron, 120 N.H. at 631, 419
A.2d 1115. We held that, although the defendants may not
have disclosed the plaintiff's trade secrets, the plaintiff's
right to injunctive relief arose from the defendants' breach
of a confidential relationship with the plaintiff, and not from
the use or disclosure of any trade secrets. /d. at 631-32, 419
A2d 1115. There, it was mnot the defendants'
misappropriation of confidential information that gave rise
to the action, but rather their breach of the confidential
relationship they had with their employer while still
employed by that employer. Here, the defendants were no
longer employed by Mortgage Specialists when they
allegedly misappropriated  its confidential information.
Furthermore, we note that Vigitron was decided prior to
New Hampshire's enactment of the NHUTSA. Thus, to the
extent that Vigitron could be read to create a distinct cause
of action for the misuse of confidential information not
rising to the level of a trade secret, it has since been
preempted by the NHUTSA for the reasons discussed



above--the common law no longer protects confidential
information from mere misuse unless it is a statutory trade
secret.
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In Oisten Staffing, we examined the validity of a restrictive
covenant contained in a contract between an employer and
its employees. Olsten Staffing, 145 N.H. at 160-61, 761
A.2d 401. We noted that a covenant between an employer
and employee is valid only to the extent that it protects
legitimate interests of an employer, which interests include
maintaining the confidentiality of the employer's
confidential information. Id. at 160, 761 A.2d 401. While
this language provides that an employer may protect his or
her confidential information through contracts with
employees, it does notrecognize an independent cause of
action for misappropriation of confidential information.

Furthermore, the NHUTSA preemption provision explicitly
exempts contractual claims from preemption, regardless of
whether the information involved is a statutory trade secret.
RSA 350-B:7, 11(a).

We conclude that, to determine whether a plaintiff's claims
are preempted by the NHUTSA, a court must examine the
facts alleged in support of each claim to determine the
extent to which the claim is based upon the
misappropriation of trade secrets or other information.
Accordingly, we will examine Mortgage Specialists'
common law and CPA claims and the facts alleged in
support of each to determine whether each claim is based
solely upon the misappropriation of Mortgage Specialists'
customer information.

Mortgage Specialists' writ claims that Davey and Carbone
are liable for conversion because they "have exercised

dominion and control over Mortgage Specialists' property
and assets so as to deprive Mortgage Specialists of
dominion and control of same." The only factual allegations
supporting the conversion claim, however, are that Davey
and Carbone took Mortgage Specialists' customer
information. Even if there are sufficient factual allegations
in the writ to support a claim for conversion, the claim is
preempted by the NHUTSA because it is based entirely

upon the misappropriation of customer information.

Mortgage Specialists’ writ next claims that the defendants
are liable for tortious interference with advantageous
relations because: (1) "Mortgage Specialists has
advantageous, economic, business and contractual relations
with its customers"; (2) "[d]efendants are aware of those
relationships”; and (3) "[d]efendants ... [have] taken action
to induce the disruption or termination of such economic,
business and/or contractual relations." Unlike [904 A.2d
667} Mortgage Specialists' conversion claim, this claim is
not based solely upon the defendants' alleged misuse of

Mortgage Specialists' customer information. This claim  is
supported by the allegation that the defendants intentionally
contacted Mortgage Specialists'

Page 781

customers, with whom it claimed to have advantageous
relations, and persuaded them to do business with the
defendants. The claim is also supported by the allegation
that Carbone informed Mortgage Specialists' customers that
it was not properly licensed in the State, as well as the

allegation that the defendants solicited Mortgage

Specialists’ employees. Thus, to the extent that the tortious
interference: claim is supported by more than the mere
misuse of Mortgage Specialists' customer information, it is
not preempted. See, e.g., Ethypharm, 388 F.Supp.2d at
434-35 (finding claim for intentional interference with
actual and prospective business relationships not preempted
by UTSA), Bliss Clearing Niagara, 270 F.Supp.2d at
949-50 (finding claim for tortious interference not
preempted by UTSA).

Next, Mortgage Specialists' writ claims that the defendants
are liable for violation of the CPA because "[t}he actions of
[the] defendants constitute unfair trade practices within the
meaning of [the CPA]." The CPA prohibits the "use [of]
any unfair method of competition or any unfair or deceptive
act or practice in the conduct of any trade or commerce
within this state.” RSA 358-A:2 (Supp.2005). Such conduct
includes, but is not limited to, the specific acts listed in
RSA 358-A:2, I-XIV, including "[d]isparaging the goods,
services, or business of another by false or misleading
representation of fact." RSA 358-A:2, VIII. Like Mortgage
Specialists' tortious interference claim, its claim for
violation of the CPA is not based solely upon the
defendants' alleged misuse of Mortgage Specialists'
customer information. This claim is supported by the
allegation that Carbone informed Mortgage Specialists'
customers that it was not properly licensed in the State.
Thus, to the extent that the CPA claim is supported by more
than the mere misuse of customer information, it is not
preempted.

Finally, Mortgage Specialists' writ claims that Davey and
Carbone are liable for breach of fiduciary duty because
Mortgage Specialists entrusted them with confidential
customer information, that trust gave rise to a fiduciary duty
in them, and, "through their conduct," they breached that
duty to Mortgage Specialists. The only factual allegations
supporting the fiduciary duty claim, however, are that
Davey and Carbone took and used Mortgage Specialists'
customer information. Mortgage Specialists contends in its
brief that there was evidence at trial "that the defendants
conspired ... with Mortgage Partners during their
employment at Mortgage Specialists, and that Carbone
acquired a substantial amount of Form 1003s during his last



days of employment for the sole purpose of providing this
information to Mortgage Partners.” However, we note that
even if these facts were sufficient to overcome a
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motion to dismiss, such facts were not alleged in Mortgage
Specialists' writ, and thus we cannot consider them in our
review of the trial court's grant of the defendants' motion to
dismiss. Therefore, because the factual allegations in
Mortgage  Specialists'  writ  involve only  the
misappropriation of customer information, the claim is
preempted by the NHUTSA.

The defendants' remaining arguments on this issue are

without merit and do not warrant further discussion.
SeeVogel v. Vogel, 137 N.H. 321, 322, 627 A.2d 395
(1993). We thus vacate the trial court's dismissal of
Mortgage Specialists' claims [904 A.2d 668] for tortious
interference and violation of the CPA, and remand to the
trial court for further proceedings consistent with this
opinion,

1V, Sanctions

The defendants cross-appeal the trial court's post-trial order
assessing sanctions against them for: (1) the destruction of
the copies of the loan applications that they had taken when
they departed from Mortgage Specialists; (2) the origination
and closing of loans in violation of the trial court's
preliminary injunction order; and (3) the failure to produce
client lists in violation of the trial court's discovery order.
For the reasons discussed below, we vacate the trial court's
order on the motion to reconsider with respect to the
sanctions for destruction of documents as well as the order
with respect to the sanction for the violation of the
preliminary injunction, and remand.

The record reflects the following facts relevant to the trial
court's imposition of sanctions: When Davey and Carbone
left Mortgage Specialists in July 2002, both took copies of
an unknown number of documents that contained
information about Mortgage Specialists' customers. In
November 2002, during their depositions in the Mortgage
Partners litigation, Davey and Carbone admitted to having
the copies in their possession. Neither Davey nor Carbone
was asked or ordered to return or secure the copies before,
during, or after the deposition.

Sometime after the November 2002 deposition, Davey and
Carbone each destroyed the copies that he had in his
possession. Davey testified that he shredded his copies
shortly after the deposition. Carbone testified that he had
his copies destroyed by a document destruction company
sometime prior to April 2003. However, one of Carbone's
former employees testified that Carbone's copies were

stored at the Signature Mortgage office until June 2003.
The employee testified that Carbone told him in June 2003
that the documents had been shredded the previous night
because the documents "got a little too hot to have around."
Carbone denied the employee's allegations.
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Mortgage Specialists' suit against the defendants was filed
in February 2003. On April 16, 2003, the trial court issued a
preliminary injunction order enjoining the "[d]efendants,
and their employees, agents and affiliates, or anyone acting
by or through them" from, among other things, "contacting,
soliciting or otherwise communicating with any customers
or former customers of [Mortgage Specialists]" except in
limited circumstances. Davey and Carbone both originated
and closed loans in violation of the court's order.

On September 15, 2004, in response to a motion for
contempt filed by Mortgage Specialists inrelation to an
earlier discovery order, the trial court ordered the
defendants to allow Mortgage Specialists' counsel to inspect
the defendants’ computers for customer lists. The next day,
Mortgage Specialists filed a supplemental motion for
contempt, entry of default judgment and sanctions. In that
motion, Mortgage Specialists alleged that the defendants
had engaged in discovery abuse by falsely claiming that
they could not produce customer lists from their computers,
and asked the trial court to impose sanctions. Mortgage
Specialists also alleged that the customer lists retrieved
from the defendants' computers confirmed that the
defendants had been violating the trial court's preliminary
injunction order by closing loans for Mortgage Specialists'
customers after the date of the order, and asked the trial
court to impose sanctions for this conduct as well. The
record on appeal does not include any hearing transcripts
[904 A.2d 669] or orders regarding this motion, and the
post-trial order on sanctions indicates only that the trial
court "withheld judgment on the issue of sanctions until
after hearing the testimony presented at trial."

The trial commenced on September 20, 2004. The trial
court heard testimony regarding the violations of the
preliminary injunction, as well as testimony regarding the
defendants' destruction of their copies of documents
containing information about Mortgage Specialists'
customers. The trial concluded on September 28, 2004.

On October 6, 2004, Mortgage Specialists filed a motion
for sanctions and other relief, which restated the allegations
contained in its supplemental motion for contempt and
further alleged that the defendants had "intentionally
destroyed evidence" relating to Mortgage Specialists' claim.
Mortgage Specialists asked the trial court to "[e]nter a
default judgment against [the] defendants as [a] sanction for
the destruction of evidence," to "[h]old [the] defendants in



contempt" of the discovery order and preliminary injunction
order, to award Mortgage Specialists "its costs and
attorneys' fees" resulting from violation of the discovery
order, to sanction the defendants in an amount equal to the
profits received by the defendants on each loan closed in
violation of the preliminary injunction
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order "plus an appropriate sanction for the defendants' utter
disregard" for the same order, and to award Mortgage
Specialists damages in an amount "appropriate for these
flagrant violations" of the trial court's orders and the
discovery process.

The trial court held a hearing on the motion for sanctions
on October 7,2004. Atthe hearing, counsel for Mortgage
Specialists emphasized the need to protect and vindicate the
integrity of the court, stating that "these issues go to the
heart of the process and the Court's integrity in the litigation
process and the requirement for the parties in the litigation
to play by the rules and to obey the orders of the court."
Counsel further argued that violation of the preliminary
injunction "goes to the very heart of the integrity of the
process” and amounted to the defendants' "thumbing of
their noses at [the trial] court's authority and the integrity of
the process." Counse! concluded by arguing that the trial
court should "send a message to [the defendants] that the
integrity of the process has been violated." In the
defendants' post-hearing objection to the motion for
sanctions, filed October 12, 2004, they acknowledged
Mortgage Specialists' emphasis on the integrity of the trial
court, but contended that the "post-verdict attack on the
Defendants is, respectfully, one founded in the interest of
revenge, and not in vindicating the dignity of the Court."

The trial court ultimately sanctioned the defendants for the
destruction of documents, violation of the preliminary
injunction order, and violation of the discovery order. With
respect to the destruction of documents, the trial court ruled
as follows:

Although the destruction of the documents caused no
prejudice to the outcome of the case, the court finds the
documents were destroyed in an effort to conceal
information from the court and to thwart [Mortgage
Specialists'] prosecution of its case. To make matters worse
both Davey and Carbone lied under oath about the timing of
the destruction of the documents. Based on all this, the
court finds that both men and their companies acted in bad
faith, cansed the plaintiff to expend time and money to
recreate the information, and most significantly injured the
integrity of court proceedings. As asanction, the court
orders Davey and Carbone to reimburse the plaintiff
$10,000 ecach for [904 A.2d 670] attorneys' fees and
expenses. Additionally, because the defendants' actions

jeopardize and undermine the integrity of the legal process,
the court imposes fines of $20,000 against Davey and Team
Mortgage and $40,000 against Carbone and Signature
Mortgage. Carbone's fine is greater because the court finds
his actions more egregious.
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With respect to the violation of the preliminary injunction
order, the trial court found that Davey and Carbone both
violated the order and ruled as follows:

Closing on loans originated after April 16, whether done in
bad faith or through negligent policing procedures, was in
violation of Judge Coffey's injunctive order and undermines
the very foundation of our legal system. Accordingly, the
court finds Davey and Carbone in contempt. Thus, in order
to vindicate the integrity of the court, Davey [and Carbone
are each] required to pay the court five times the "gross
profit" on each of the loans that [he or his company
originated and closed in violation of the preliminary
injunction order).

Finally, the trial court sanctioned the defendants for their
failure to comply with its discovery order to produce the
customer lists, ordering them to pay Mortgage Specialists'
reasonable attorney's fees and costs.

The defendants moved for reconsideration of the trial
court's order on sanctions. They argued, for the first time,
that the sanctions were improper and that the process had
been flawed because the sanctions were for criminal, rather
than civil, contempt. They also argued that the sanctions
were excessive. The trial court reconsidered only the
portion of its order relating to the violation of the
preliminary injunction, reducing the sanctions from five to
three times the defendants' gross profits on loans closed in
violation thereof. The trial court rejected the argument that
the sanctions were criminal in nature, but found that, even if
the sanctions were criminal in nature, the defendants had
not been denied due process. Nevertheless, the trial court
also found "beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendants
knowingly violated [the trial] court's injunction.”

On appeal, the defendants argue that the trial court's
imposition of fines and attorney's fees for the destruction of
documents and for the violation of the preliminary
injunction order constituted findings of criminal, rather than
civil, contempt. They contend that the trial court found
them in criminal contempt of court without adhering to the
substantive and procedural requirements attendant to a
finding of criminal contemnpt. Before we reach the merits of
the defendants' argument, however, we must address
Mortgage Specialists’ argument that the defendants failed to
preserve this issue for appellate review. SeeState v.
Blomquist, 153 N.H. ----, -—--, 891 A.2d 469, 470-71 (2006).



Mortgage Specialists argues that the defendants were aware
of the nature of the sanctions sought by Mortgage
Specialists prior to trial and failed to preserve the issue
regarding the propriety of criminal contempt sanctions
because they raised it for the first time in their motion for
reconsideration.

[153 N.H. 786] We have recognized that "parties may not

have judicial review of matters not raised at the earliest
possible time." State v. Tselios, 134 N.H. 405, 407, 593
A.2d 243 (1991). "[TThe rationale behind the rule is that
trial forums should have an opportunity to rule on issues
and to correct errors before they are presented to the
appellate court.” Jd. Accordingly, we have held that where
an issue is raised for the first time in a motion for
reconsideration and failure to raise the issue earlier did not
deprive the trial court of a full [904 A.2d 671] opportunity
to correct its error, the issue has been preserved for our
review. See, e.g., Gammans v. FHP Constructors, 146 N.H.
702, 704, 778 A.2d 419 (2001); Moulton-Garland +v.
Cabletron Systems, 143 N.H. 540, 544, 736 A.2d 1219
(1999); Tselios, 134 N.H. at 407, 593 A2d 243. If,
however, the trial court exercises its discretion to refuse to
entertain the issue on reconsideration due to the party's
failure toraise it at an earlier time, we will uphold that
decision absent an unsustainable exercise of discretion. M.
Valley Mall Assocs. v. Municipality of Conway, 144 N.H.
642, 654-55, 745 A.2d 481 (2000); cf.State v. Lambert, 147
N.H. 295, 296, 787 A.2d 175 (2001) (explaining
unsustainable exercise of discretion standard).

The defendants did not argue that the sanctions
proceedings were criminal in nature prior to or during the
hearing on the motion for sanctions. They did, however, in
their motion for reconsideration of the trial court's order on
sanctions, argue that the trial court had failed to adhere to
the requisite procedural and substantive formalities when it
sanctioned the defendants for both the violation of the
preliminary injunction and for the destruction of
documents.

The trial court, at the hearing on the motion for
reconsideration, opened by asking counsel for the
defendants, "You are appealing all these decisions in the
Mortgage Specialists versus Davey?" When counsel
responded in the affirmative, the trial courtstated, "All
right. So T will hear you only on the violation of the ...
injunctive order, at this time." Throughout the remainder of
the hearing, no mention was made of the sanctions with
respect to the destruction of documents.

In its order on the motion for reconsideration, the trial court
noted, "I earlier assessed sanctions against the defendants
for destroying evidence, violating an injunction, and
discovery abuses. The defendant[s] moved for
reconsideration, and I agreed only to reconsider my order

regarding the defendants' violation of this court's restraining
order." (Citation omitted.) The remainder of the order
addressed only the defendants' claim that the sanctions for
violation of the preliminary injunction were improper. The
trial court neither granted nor denied the defendants' motion
for reconsideration with respect to the sanctions for the
destruction of documents.
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From this review of the record, we conclude that the trial
court was accorded an opportunity to rule on the propriety
of the sanctions with respect to both the violation of the
preliminary injunction and the destruction of documents.

Therefore, because the trial court did not refuse to rule on
the propriety of the sanctions with respect to the violation
of the preliminary injunction, this issue was properly
preserved for appellate review. SeeTselios, 134 N.H. at 407,
593 A.2d 243; compareid. withMt. Valley Mall Assocs., 144
N.H. at 655, 745 A.2d 481. However, because we conclude
from our review of the record that the trial court refused to
entertain the same issue with respect to the destruction of
documents, we review only whether the trial court's refusal
to entertain the issue on reconsideration was an
unsustainable exercise of discretion. SeeMt. Valley Mall
Assocs., 144 N.H. at 654-55, 745 A.2d 481. Thus, we will
reach the merits of the defendants’ arguments that the trial
court's imposition of sanctions amounted to a finding of
criminal contempt to determine, first, whether the trial court
unsustainably exercised its discretion in refusing to
entertain the criminal contempt issues with respect to the
destruction of documents on reconsideration, and second,

whether the trial court erred by making a finding of
criminal contempt for the violation [904 A.2d 672] of the
preliminary injunction without adhering to the requisite

substantive and procedural formalities.

Inresponse to the defendants’ arguments regarding the
criminal nature of the trial court's imposition of sanctions,
Mortgage Specialists first argues that the sanctions were for
civil, rather than criminal, contempt, and thus the trial court
was notrequired to adhere to the procedural formalities
argued by the defendants. Whether a sanction amounts to a
finding of indirect criminal contempt is a question of law,
which we review de novo. SeeRogowicz v. O'Connell, 147
N.H. 270, 272, 786 A.2d 841 (2001). Mortgage Specialists
also argues that even if the sanctions were for criminal
contempt, the trial court provided the defendants with all of
the requisite procedural protections. Whether the trial court
adhered to the requisite procedures in a criminal contempt
proceeding is also a question of law, which we review de
novo. Seeid. But ¢f.State v. Lieber, 146 N.H. 105, 106, 767
A.2d 452 (2001) (where trial court bypasses certain
procedural formalities and instead utilizes summary
contempt procedures, as is permitted in specific situations
involving direct criminal contempt, its decision to do so will



be upheld absent an unsustainable exercise of discretion).

The two classes of contempt, civil and criminal, are
distinguishable by the character and purpose of the
punishment imposed. Bonser v. Courtney, 124 N.H. 796,
808, 481 A.2d 524 (1984). In civil contempt, the purpose of
the punishment is remedial, coercive, and for the benefit of
the plaintiff. Jd. The purpose of criminal contempt,
however, is punitive and to
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vindicate the "authority and dignity" of the court. Id.
{quotation omitted). To be punished for criminal contempt,
the defendant must have intentionally failed to comply with
a valid order, of which the defendant had knowledge. State
v. Wallace, 136 N.H. 267, 270-71, 615 A.2d 1243 (1992).

Contempt is either direct or indirect. Bonser, 124 N.H. at
808, 481 A.2d 524. A direct contempt is one committed in
the presence of the court and in its immediate view. Jd. All
elements of the contempt must be personally observable by
the judge. /d. An indirect contempt is committed outside the
presence of the court and without the judge having full
personal knowledge of every element of the contempt. /d.
Thus, indirect contempt arises from events of which the
presiding judge could not take judicial notice. Id. The
significance of the distinction between direct and indirect
contempt lies in the procedural requirements to which the
court must adhere. Town of Nottingham v. Cedar Waters,
Inc., 118 N.H. 282, 285, 385 A.2d 851 (1978).

A direct contempt may be punished summarily. /d.; see
Super. Ct. R. 95(a). Certain procedural formalities may be
bypassed in light of the court's personal knowledge of the
contemnor's conduct and because of the immediacy of the
conduct and the need for prompt action. Lieber, 146 N.H. at
107, 767 A.2d 452. The summary contempt power,
however, should be used only when the contemnor's
conduct openly threatens the orderly procedure of the court
or publicly defies its authority. Town of Nottingham, 118
N.H. at 285, 385 A.2d 851. The contumacious behavior
must constitute a threat that immediately imperils the
administration of justice. /d. at 285-86, 385 A.2d 851.

An indirect criminal contempt cannot be punished without
adherence to certain procedural formalities. Generally, the
proceeding must satisfy the procedural requirements of a
criminal proceeding. Rogowicz, 147 N.H. at 273, 786 A.2d
841.

[904 A.2d 673] The alleged contemnor must first be
provided notice, stating the time and place of hearing and
the essential facts constituting the criminal contempt
charged, and describing the charge as one for criminal
contempt. Super. Ct. R. 95(b); Town of Nottingham, 118

N.H. at 286, 385 A.2d 851, The notice must also allow the
defendant a reasonable time for the preparation of a
defense. Super. Ct. R. 95(b); Town of Nottingham, 118 N.H.
at 286, 385 A.2d 851.

An action for indirect criminal contempt should be treated
as a misdemeanor. Town of Nottingham, 118 N.H. at 286,
385 A.2d 851. The prosecutor must prove the elements of
the case beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. The contemnor is
entitled to be represented by counsel. /d. The right against
self-incrimination also applies. Id. The contemnor is
entitled to a jury trial if the courtintends to punish the
contempt by imposing a sentence greater
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than six months in the house of correction if the contemnor
is found guilty. /d.

"[Clriminal contempt proceedings arising out of civil
litigation are between the public and the defendant, and are
not a part of the original cause." Young v. United States ex
rel. Vuitton et Fils S.A., 481 U.S. 787, 804, 107 S.Ct. 2124,
95 L.Ed.2d 740 (1987) (quotation omitted); seeRogowicz,
147 N.H. at 273, 786 A.2d 841. Although a criminal
contempt proceeding may be initiated and prosecuted by a
private attorney, Rogowicz, 147 N.H. at 273, 786 A.2d 841,
the private attorney must be disinterested, id. at 274, 786
A.2d 841. A private attorney who represents the beneficiary
of a court order cannot prosecute a criminal contempt action
arising from that order. Id. at 274-75, 786 A.2d 841.

A. Destruction of Documents

With respect to the finding of criminal contempt for the
destruction of documents, the defendants argue on appeal
that: (1) the trial court failed to adhere to the requisite
procedural safeguards in finding them in criminal contempt;
(2) the finding of criminal contempt was improper because
the documents in question were not subject to any
preservation or discovery order and because the trial court
found that the destruction was not prejudicial to Mortgage
Specialists' case; and (3) the award of attorney's fees as a
sanction for the destruction of documents was not supported
by sufficient evidence. In their notice of appeal, the
defendants also argue that the sanction imposed by the trial
court for the destruction of documents was excessive.
However, because the defendants did not adequately brief
this issue, we decline to address it. Seedppeal of
AlphaDirections, 152 N.H. 477, 483-84, 880 A.2d 380
(2005).

As explained above, the defendants objected to the criminal
nature of the sanctions for the destruction of documents for
the first time in their motion for reconsideration. Prior to
that time, they had not argued that the sanctions sought by



Mortgage Specialists’ were for criminal contempt, that the
trial court did not adhere to adequate procedures, or that an
award of attorney's fees would be an improper sanction for
the destruction of documents. Because the trial court
refused to entertain the issue of the propriety of the
sanctions for the destruction of documents, we review its
refusal to do so onreconsideration for an unsustainable
exercise of discretion. SeeM:. Valley Mall Assocs., 144
N.H. at 654, 745 A.2d 481; c¢f.Lambert, 147 N.H. at 296,
787 A.2d 175 (explaining unsustainable exercise of
discretion standard). The trial court's decision is not
sustainable if it is "clearly untenable [904 A.2d 674] or
unreasonable to the prejudice of [the defendants'] case.”
Lambert, 147 N.H. at 296, 787 A.2d 175 (quotation
omitted).

[153 N.H. 790} The trial court's order imposing sanctions
upon the defendants suggests that the trial court may have
made an improper finding of indirect criminal contempt
with respect to the destruction of documents. It appears that
the fines were punitive in nature because the trial court
separately ordered the defendants to reimburse Mortgage
Specialists for attorney's fees. Although it is not clear from
the trial court's order to whom these fines were to be paid, it
appears that they were to be paid to the court. The other
fines imposed by the trial court in the same order were all to
be paid to the court, and the trial court did not order that
these fines be paid to Mortgage Specialists, as it had done
with the attorney's fees. The increased fine imposed upon
Carbone, because the trial court found his actions to be
more egregious, further indicates that the fines were
punitive and not remedial in nature. In imposing these fines,
the trial court found that the defendants “injured the
integrity of court proceedings.” All of this is indicative of a
finding of indirect criminal contempt.

The trial court also appears to have failed to adhere to the
requisite procedural formalities in arriving at this finding of
indirect criminal contempt. While the trial court heard
evidence regarding the destruction of documents during the
course of the trial, the first notice to the defendants of the
potential for sanctions on this issue appears to have been
provided some time after the evidence was presented,

possibly as late as Mortgage Specialists' post-trial motion
for sanctions. Although the trial court appears to have based
the imposition of fines in part upon its finding that the
defendants lied under oath about the timing of the
destruction of documents, Mortgage Specialists did not
specifically allege this factual basis for the imposition of
sanctions in its post-trial motion for sanctions. Neither
Mortgage Specialists nor the trial court ever described the
claims against the defendants as charges of criminal
contempt. Finally, it appears that the trial court either
erroneously attempted to utilize summary procedure or,
instead, permitted Mortgage Specialists to prosecute the

contempt despite its status as an interested party.

The procedures utilized by the trial court in imposing
sanctions for the destruction of documents were at least
irregular. More importantly, although the defendants may
have been able to raise the issue of the propriety of
sanctions at an earlier time than on reconsideration, it
appears that the defendants did not have sufficient notice of
the actual nature of the proceedings prior to the trial court's
order imposing sanctions. Given the foregoing, and given
the unusual circumstances of this case--that the inadvertent
imposition of sanctions for indirect criminal contempt is
exceedingly rare, and that trial courts have little guidance as
to how to handle such a situation beyond this court's
opinion in Town of
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Nottingham, 118 N.H. at 286-87, 385 A.2d 851--we
conclude that the trial court committed an unsustainable
exercise of discretion in refusing to entertain these issues on
reconsideration. In light of this conclusion, we need not
address the defendants' argument that we should review this
issue for plain error. SeeSup.Ct. R. 16-A.

B. Violation of the Preliminary Injunction

With respect to the finding of criminal contempt for the
violation of the preliminary injunction, the defendants argue
onappeal that: (1) the trial court failed to adhere to the
requisite procedural safeguards [904 A.2d 675] in finding
the defendants in criminal contempt; (2) the finding of
criminal contempt was erroneous because there was
insufficient evidence to support the trial court's finding
beyond areasonable doubt that the defendants willfully
violated the preliminary injunction order; and (3) the fines
imposed as a sanction for violation of the preliminary
injunction were excessive.

The sanctions for the defendants' violation of the
preliminary injunction presuppose a finding of criminal
contempt. The fines imposed by the trial court--three times
the gross profit earned on loans originated and closed in
violation of the order--were punitive in natare. The fines
were neither remedial nor for the benefit of Mortgage
Specialists, as they were not to be paid to Mortgage
Specialists. The fines were not coercive, as the preliminary
injunction order was presumably dissolved when the jury
returned a verdict in the defendants' favor. Most
importantly, the language of the trial court's order clearly
states that the trial court chose to impose these fines "in
order to vindicate the integrity of the court" rather than to
vindicate the rights of the parties. SeeTown of Epping v.
Harvey, 129 N.H. 688, 691-92, 531 A.2d 345 (1987).

The sanctions were also for indirect, rather than direct,



criminal contempt. The trial court fined the defendants
because they "[c]los[ed] on loans originated after April 16,"
in violation of the preliminary injunction order. Thus, the
alleged contempt was committed outside the presence of the
trial court and without the trial court having full personal
knowledge of every element of the contempt. SeeBonser,
124 N.H. at 808, 481 A.2d 524.

Because the sanctions were for indirect criminal contempt,
the trial court was required to adhere to the procedural
formalities attendant thereto. We conclude that the trial
court did not do so.

It is unclear whether the defendants received the requisite
notice. Given that the various motions filed by Mortgage
Specialists sought punitive sanctions, the defendants could
have understood that Mortgage Specialists was seeking a
finding of criminal contempt from the trial court. However,
prior to the defendants' motion for reconsideration, the
words [153 N.H. 792] "criminal contempt" were never
uttered by Mortgage Specialists or the trial court. Notice of
the essential facts constituting the contempt charged and the
nature of the punishment sought may be insufficient to
provide a defendant adequate notice that he faces a charge
of criminal contempt where the notice does not describe the
charge as one for criminal contempt. See Super. Ct. R.
95(b); Town of Nottingham, 118 N.H. at 286, 385 A.2d 851.

Moreover, even if the notice was adequate, the trial court
erred in failing to refer the matter for prosecution and in
permitting Mortgage Specialists to present evidence and
argument regarding the criminal contempt charges against
the defendants. Although the beneficiary of a court order, or
counsel representing the beneficiary, may argue to the court
that criminal contempt charges arising from that order
should be referred to a public or private prosecutor for
prosecution, he or she cannot actually prosecute those
charges. SeeRogowicz, 147 N.H. at 274-75, 786 A.2d 841;
see also, e.g.,State ex rel. Koppers v. Intern. Union, Etc.,
171 W.Va. 290, 298 S.E.2d 827, 830 (1982); Peterson v.
Peterson, 278 Minn. 275, 153 N.'W.2d 825, 830 (1967);
Ramos Colon v. U.S. Atty. for D. Puerto Rico, ST6 F.2d 1, 5
(Ist Cir.1978). Criminal contempt is collateral to the
proceeding out of which the contempt arose, "and the
parties to the action out of which the alleged criminal
contempt arose have no interest in it." Peterson, 153
N.W.2d at 830. Thus, with the exception of the limited
cases of criminal [904 A.2d 676] contempt that may be
adjudicated utilizing summary procedure, seeTown of
Nottingham, 118 N.H. at 285-86, 385 A.2d 851, "criminal
contempt should, in the first instance, be referred to the
executive branch for prosecution.” Rogowicz, 147 N.H. at
273,786 A.2d 841. While the trial court may choose not to
refer the case for prosecution, it may not allow the
beneficiary of the court order or his or her counsel to
continue to pursue sanctions that are in the nature of

criminal, rather than civil, contempt. Seeid. at 274-75, 786
A.2d 841.

Accordingly, the trial court here erred in permitting
Mortgage Specialists to prosecute the charges that
constituted criminal contempt. We therefore vacate the trial
court's order of sanctions for violation of the preliminary
injunction, and remand this portion of the case to the trial
court for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

Because we remand the trial court's order of sanctions for
the violation of the preliminary injunction on procedural
grounds, we need not address the defendants' remaining
arguments pertaining to these sanctions.

C. Violation of the Discovery Order

In their notice of appeal, the defendants argue that the
sanction imposed by the trial court for violation of the
discovery order was incorrect and excessive. However, the
defendants did not adequately brief these issues,
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and thus we decline to address them. SeedlphaDirections,
152 N.H. at 483-84, 880 A.2d 380.

Affirmed in part; vacated in part; and remanded.

BRODERICK, C.J., and DUGGAN, GALWAY and
HICKS, JJ., concurred.
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OPINION
[116 A.3d 1055]
Bassett, J.

The respondent, the New Hampshire Department of
Administrative Services (Department), appeals an order of
the Superior Court ( Smukler, J.) granting summary
Judgment in favor of the petitioner, CaremarkPCS Health,
LLC (Caremark). The trial court ruled that certain
information constituting trade secrets under the New
Hampshire Uniform Trade Secrets Act (UTSA), RSA ch.
350-B (2009), is exempt from disclosure under the
Right-to-Know Law, RSA ch. 91-A (2013 & Supp. 2014).
Specifically, the trial court ruled that disclosure of
Caremark's trade [116 A.3d 1056] secrets by the
Department would constitute a " misappropriation" under
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the UTSA and, therefore, that the subject information is

exempt from disclosure under the Right-to-Know Law. See
RSA 91-A:4, 1(2013). Onappeal, the Department argues
that the trial court erred in finding that the UTSA prohibits
the Department from disclosing Caremark's trade secrets
under the " otherwise prohibited by statute” exemption in
RSA 91-A:4 1. We affirm.

The following facts are undisputed. In 2010, the
Department issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) for
pharmacy benefit management services for the State of New
Hampshire's health plan. The RFP, in pertinent part,
provided that:

If arequest is made to the State to view portions of a
proposal that the Vendor has properly and clearly marked
confidential, the State will notify Vendor of the request and
of the date the State plans to release the records. By
submitting a proposal, Vendor agrees that unless the
Vendor obtains a court order, at its sole expense, enjoining
the release of the requested information, the State may
release the requested information on the date specified in
the State's notice without any liability to Vendor.

In response to the RFP, Caremark submitted a bid, which

ultimately led to a final negotiated contract with the
Department. The Governor and Executive Council
approved the contract on November 17, 2010. Both the bid
and final contract included statements to the effect that
certain information set forth in those documents is
proprietary and constitutes trade secrets of Caremark.

In 2011, the Department received multiple requests to
inspect and copy Caremark's bid and the final contract. Two
of the requests were made by Caremark's competitors.
Caremark, after being informed by the Department of the
requests, responded that certain confidential information
contained in the bid and final contract was exempt from
disclosure under the Right-to-Know Law. The parties
disputed whether certain information was subject to
disclosure.

Caremark filed a petition for declaratory and injunctive
relief seeking to enjoin the Department from disclosing
certain information. Thereafter, the parties filed pleadings
that the trial court treated as cross-motions for summary
judgment. As part of the summary judgment proceedings,
the parties filed a joint stipulation of facts, identified the
information as to which they continued to disagree
(designated information), and stipulated that the designated
information constitutes " trade secrets" as defined in the
UTSA, RSA 350-B:1, 1V, and constitutes " confidential,
commercial, or financial information" within the meaning
of the Right-to-Know Law, RSA 91-A:5, IV (Supp. 2014).



The parties also agreed that disclosure of the
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designated information " could have a chilling effect on the

willingness of potential bidders to submit proposals for
[pharmacy benefit management] services to a government
entity ... ."

Following a non-evidentiary hearing, the trial court entered
summary judgment in favor of Caremark and granted its
request for injunctive relief. The trial court ruled that RSA
91-A:4, I, which exempts from disclosure information that
is " otherwise prohibited by statute,” did not require a
balancing of interests. The court further found that
Caremark " provided the [D]epartment with the information
under the duty of confidentiality." The court concluded that,
pursuant to RSA 350-B:1, H(b)(2), the UTSA " prohibits
disclosure of the designated information" by the
Department and, therefore, the designated information was
exempt from disclosure under RSA 91-A:4, 1. This appeal
followed.

[116 A.3d 1057] On appeal, the Department asserts that the
trial court erred inruling that the designated information
was exempt from disclosure. Although the Department
acknowledges that RSA 91-A:4, 1, does not require the trial
court to engage in the same balancing test required under
RSA 91-A:5, 1V, seeGoode v. N.H. Legislative Budget
Assistant, 148 N.H. 551, 554, 813 A.2d 381 (2002), it
argues that the UTSA " does not contain sufficient explicit
language prohibiting disclosure to fall under RSA 91-A:4."
Rather, the Department contends that the trial court should
have engaged in the balancing test applicable to "
confidential, commercial, or financial information" under
RSA 91-A:5, IV. SeeGoode, 148 N.H. at 554. Caremark
counters that the trial court correctly ruled that the UTSA
prohibits the disclosure of trade secrets and that, therefore,
the designated information is exempt from disclosure under
RSA 91-A:4, 1. Alternatively, Caremark argues that the
designated information is exempt from disclosure under
RSA 91-A:5,1V.

In reviewing the trial court's rulings on cross-motions for
summary judgment, " we consider the evidence in the light
most favorable to each party in its capacity as the
nonmoving party and, if no genuine issue of material fact
exists, we determine whether the moving party is entitled to
judgment as amatter of law." Bovaird v. N.H. Dep't of
Admin. Servs., 166 N.H. 755, 758, 103 A.3d 1207 (2014). "
On appeal, we review the trial court’s application of law to
the stipulated facts de novo." Nash Family Inv. Properties v.
Town of Hudson, 147 N.H. 233, 234, 786 A.2d 825 (2001).
This case presents the legal question of whether the UTSA
prohibits disclosure of trade secrets and, therefore, whether
the designated information falls under the exemption in

RSA 91-A:4, 1, for information the disclosure of which is "
otherwise prohibited by statute."

" Resolution of this case requires us to interpret several
statutory provisions, including certain provisions of the
Right-to-Know Law."

Page 587

Lambert v. Belknap County Convention, 157 N.H. 375, 378,
949 A.2d 709 (2008). " The ordinary rules of statutory

construction apply to our review of the Right-to-Know

Law." Id. " Thus, we are the final arbiter of the legislature's
intent as expressed in the words of the statute considered as
a whole." Id. " When examining the language of a statute,
we ascribe the plain and ordinary meaning to the words
used." Id. " We interpret legislative intent from the statute
as written and will not consider what the legislature might
have said or add language that the legislature did not see fit
to include." Id. " We also interpret a statute in the context of
the overall statutory scheme and not in isolation." /d.

" The purpose of the Right-to-Know Law is to ensure both

the greatest possible public access to the actions,
discussions and records of all public bodies, and their
accountability to the people." 38 Endicott St. N. v. State
Fire Marshal , 163 N.H. 656, 660, 44 A.3d 571 (2012)
(quotation omitted). " Although the statute does not provide
for unrestricted access to public records, we resolve
questions regarding the Right-to-Know Law with a view to
providing the utmost information in order to best effectuate
these statutory and constitutional objectives." Id. ; see also
N.H. Const. pt. 1, art. 8. " As a result, we broadly construe
provisions favoring disclosure and interpret the exemptions
restrictively." Ettinger v. Town of Madison Planning Bd.,
162 N.H. 785, 788, 35 A.3d 562 (2011). " The party
seeking nondisclosure has the burden of proof." N.H. Civil
Liberties Union v. City of Manchester, 149 N.H. 437, 439,
821 A.2d 1014 (2003).

[116 A.3d 1058] Therefore, Caremark has the burden of
demonstrating that the designated information is exempt
from disclosure under the Right-to-Know Law.

RSA 91-A:4, 1, in relevant part, states:

Every citizen during the regular or business hours of all
public bodies or agencies, and on the regular business
premises of such public bodies or agencies, has the right to
inspect all governmental records in the possession, custody,
or control of such public bodies or agencies, ... excepr as
otherwise prohibited by statute or RSA 91-A4:5.

(Emphasis added.) Caremark argues that, because the
UTSA precludes disclosure of the designated information
under the circumstances here, that information is exempt



from disclosure under RSA 91-A:4, L.

The UTSA does not prohibit the disclosure of trade secrets
under all circumstances; rather, it provides remedies for the
" [a]ctual or threatened misappropriation” of trade secrets.
RSA 350-B:2, 1. The UTSA defines misappropriation as:
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(a) Acquisition of a trade secret of another by a person who
knows or has reason to know that the trade secret was
acquired by improper means; or

(b) Disclosure or use of a trade secret of another without
express or implied consent by a person who :

(1) Used improper means to acquire knowledge of the trade
secret; or

(2) At the time of disclosure or use, knew or had reason to
know that his knowledge of the trade secret was derived
from or through a person who had utilized improper means
to acquire it; or acquired under circumstances giving rise to
a duty to maintain its secrecy or limit its use ; or derived
from or through a person who owed a duty to the person
seeking relief to maintain its secrecy or limit its use; or

(3) Before a material change of his position, knew or had
reason to know that it was a trade secret and that knowledge
of it had been acquired by accident or mistake.

RSA 350-B:1, II (emphases added).

Caremark argues that, under RSA 350-B:1, II(b)(2),
disclosure of its trade secrets by the Department would
constitute a " misappropriation” because the Department "
knew or had reason to know" that it acquired the trade
secrets " under circumstances giving rise to a duty to
maintain [their] secrecy or limit [their] use” and Caremark
does not consent to their disclosure. Although the
Department agrees with Caremark " that a misappropriation
occurs under the [UTSA] when (1) a direct commitment is
made to maintain the confidentiality of a trade secret, and
(2) the trade secret is disclosed without consent,” it
maintains that there has been no actual or threatened
misappropriation of the designated information because,
here, it " did neither of those things."

Tuming to the first prong of the Department's argument,
we note that a direct commitment to maintain the secrecy of
a trade secret is not required for the disclosure of a trade
secret to constitute a misappropriation. Rather, a
misappropriation occurs if a person discloses a trade secret
without the owner's consent when the person " knew or had
reason to know that his knowledge of the trade secret” was
"acquired under circumstances giving rise to a duty to
maintain its secrecy or limit its use.” RSA 350-B:1, II(b)(2).

Here, it is undisputed that the RFP specifically provided
that, " to the extent consistent with applicable state and
federal lawf,] ... the State will endeavor to maintain [116
A.3d 1059] the confidentiality of portions of the proposal
that [are] clearly and properly marked confidential."
Notably, Caremark specifically marked the designated
information as confidential and proprietary. Moreover, the
contract provides that both parties are under a duty of
confidentiality not to disclose trade secrets. Accordingly,
we conclude that the Department " knew or had reason to
know that [its] knowledge of the trade secret was ...
acquired under circumstances giving rise to a duty to
maintain its secrecy or limit its use." Id.

The undisputed facts establish  that Caremark did not
expressly or impliedly consent to disclosure of the
designated information. Although the Department contends
that submitting a bid constituted " consent" to the disclosure
of the designated information, the language of the RFP
contradicts this assertion. Caremark marked the information
as " confidential," objected to its disclosure, and sought an
injunction to prevent disclosure. Disclosure of Caremark's
trade secrets under these circumstances would constitute a "
misappropriation” as defined by the UTSA.

However, our conclusion that the disclosure would
constitute a misappropriation does not end the analysis
because the Department next argues that the UTSA does not
contain " sufficient explicit language prohibiting" the
misappropriation of trade secrets such that the
misappropriation falls within the " otherwise prohibited by
statute” exemption in RSA 91-A:4, I. We disagree.

The purpose of the UTSA is to protect trade secrets from
being misappropriated and to provide redress in the event of
a misappropriation. See generally RSA ch. 350-B. The
UTSA grants courts broad authority to protect trade secrets,
specifically stating that a court may enjoin an " [a]ctual or
threatened misappropriation,” and that " affirmative acts to
protect a trade secret may be compelled by court order."
RSA 350-B:2, 1, III. In the event of a misappropriation, the
UTSA provides that the complainant may be entitled to
recover damages. RSA 350-B:3, 1. If the misappropriation
is " willful and malicious" the trial court may award "
exemplary damages" up to twice the amount of the actual
damage award. RSA 350-B:3, II. Moreover, the UTSA
expressly provides that it does not displace existing "
[clriminal remedies, whether or not based upon
misappropriation of a trade secret."” RSA 350-B:7, II(c).
Notably, the definition of " property” in the theft chapter of
the Criminal Code includes " trade secrets, ... which the
owner thereof intends to be available only to persons
selected by him." RSA 637:2, I (Supp. 2014).

{167 N.H. 590] Given the plain language of the UTSA, the
broad remedial powers vested in the courts under the



UTSA, as well as the express statement that criminal
liability may arise from acts within the scope of the statute,
we hold that a " misappropriation" of atrade secret is "
prohibited" by the UTSA. Accordingly, because disclosure
of the designated information by the Department would be a
misappropriation of Caremark's trade secrets under the
UTSA, we conclude that disclosure of that information is "
prohibited by statute” under RSA 91-A:4, 1, and, thercfore,
we hold that the designated information is exempt from
disclosure under RSA 91-A:4, 1. Accordingly, we need not
address Caremark's argument that RSA 91-A:5 exempts
trade secrets from disclosure.

We note that our holding is in accord with cases in other

Jjurisdictions, in which courts have held that, if the
disclosure of trade secrets would constitute a
misappropriation, such information is exempt from
disclosure under public record laws. We agree with the
Supreme Court [116 A.3d 1060] of Washington, which held
that Washington's public record law " is simply an improper
means to acquire knowledge of a trade secret. Animal
Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 884 P.2d
592, 603 (Wash. 1994) (en banc); see alsoState ex rel.
Besser v. Ohio State Univ., 87 Ohio St.3d 535, 2000 Ohio
475,721 N.E.2d 1044, 1049 (Ohio 2000) (" [W]e hold that
trade secrets [are] exempt from disclosure under the 'state or
federal law' exemption of [Ohio's Public Records Act]." );
Pfizer Inc. v. Oregon Dept. of Justice, 254 Or.App. 144,
294 P.3d 496, 510 (Or. Ct. App. 2012) (concluding that the
Oregon Uniform Trade Secrets Act exempts trade secrets
from disclosure under the Oregon Public Records Law);
American Family Mut. Ins. v. Missouri Dept., 169 S'W.3d
905, 913-14 (Mo.Ct.App. 2005) (affirming the trial court's
conclusion that the Missouri Uniform Trade Secrets Act
protects trade secrets from disclosure under Missouri's
public record laws).

Finally, the Department argues that there are overriding
public policy reasons that favor disclosure of the designated
information. However, the Department makes " [its]
argument in the wrong forum." Petition of Kilton, 156 N.H.
632,645, 939 A.2d 198 (2007). With the enactment of the
UTSA, the legislature made the policy determination to
prohibit the misappropriation of trade secrets. Accordingly,
misappropriated trade secrets fall squarely within the
exemption in the Right-to-Know Law for information the
disclosure of which is " otherwise prohibited by statute."
RSA 91-A:4, 1. To the extent that the Department argues
that the legislature improperly balanced policy
considerations, we observe that " [m]atters of public policy
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are reserved for the legislature, and we therefore leave to it
the task of addressing the [Department's] concerns."

Petition of Kilton, 156 N.H. at 645.
Affirmed.

Dalianis, C.J., and Hicks, Conboy, and Lynn, JI,
concurred.
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OPINION
LYNN, CJ.

The defendants, Nikolaos D. Pappas (Pappas) and Ascend

Medical, Inc. (Ascend), appeal multiple orders of the
Superior Court (McNamara, J.) ruling that they
misappropriated trade secrets of the plaintiff, Vention
Medical Advanced Components, Inc. d/b/a Advanced
Polymers, a Vention Medical Company (Vention), in
violation of the New Hampshire Uniform Trade Secrets
Act, RSA chapter 350-B (2009) (UTSA). Vention
cross-appeals the trial court's denial of its request for
attorney's fees. We affirm.

I

The pertinent facts follow. Vention is a medical
components manufacturer in the medical device industry.
Vention makes medical balloons, medical tubing, and heat
shrink tubing (HST). Vention's current chief technology
officer, Mark Saab, co-founded the company Advanced
Polymers in 1989. KRG Capital Management (KRG), a
majority shareholder of Vention, acquired Advanced
Polymers in 2010 for a substantial purchase price. A KRG
officer testified that, at thattime, a core consideration of
KRG's decision to purchase Advanced Polymers was its
belief that the company's "proprietary [HST] capabilities
offer high margin component business with significant trade
secret  protection." (Quotation omitted.) After the
acquisition, Advanced Polymers became part of Vention,
which conducted a financial analysis and attributed more
than a third of the purchase price to the value of Advanced
Polymers' unpatented technology.

Pappas began working at Vention after he graduated from
the University of Massachusetts Lowell with a bachelor of
science degree in plastics engineering and a master's degree
in innovative and technological entrepreneurship. Prior to
working at Vention, Pappas had neither specifically studied
HST nor had any experience working with HST. In
December 2013, after working for Vention for about ten
years, Pappas resigned from the company.

During his employment, Pappas signed an "Employee
Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement"
(confidentiality agreement). The confidentiality agreement
provides:

At all times, both during my employment and after its
termination, I will keep and hold all such Proprictary
Information in strict confidence and trust, and I will not use
or disclose any of such Proprietary Information without the
prior
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written consent of the Company, except as may be
necessary to perform my duties as an employee of the



Company.

The confidentiality agreement defined proprietary
information to mean "information of a confidential or secret
nature,” including but not limited to "Inventions,
Intellectual Property Rights, Moral Rights, marketing plans,
product plans, business strategies, financial information,
forecasts, personnel information and customer lists."

During his employment, Pappas was exposed to Vention's
confidential HST technology and information. He also had
knowledge of Vention's business and marketing information
and strategies, including the sales volumes for Vention's
various products. At the time he resigned, he was serving as
the engineering manager of the HST department. At some
point before Pappas resigned, he consulted with an attorney
about his obligations under the confidentiality agreement.

Almost immediately after leaving Vention, Pappas
established Ascend. In late December 2013 and January
2014, the defendants began working with a website
developer, communicated with one equipment vendor, and
provided an initial machine design to a second equipment
vendor. This design included extensive detail and critical
specifications of the equipment they wanted built. By
August 2014, the defendants began actively marketing
HST. After the defendants launched their HST line, Vention
requested information about the products. The defendants
sent Vention samples of their HST in August and
September 2014,

Vention petitioned the trial court for injunctive and other
relief under the UTSA in October 2014. On November 4,
2014, counsel for the defendants filed appearances, in
which they requested a jury trial. On November 14, 2014,
the defendants filed an answer, but they did not request a
jury trial in the answer. SeeSuper. Ct. Civ. R. 9(c) (requiring
a defendant to request a jury trial in his or her answer to
preserve the right to a jury trial). The defendants included
several paragraphs in their answer under the heading
"counterclaims."

Subsequently, on January 7,2015, the defendants filed a
motion to amend their answer. In the motion, the defendants
asserted that the original answer “contains a single
counterclaim for unfair business practices, based on the
New Hampshire Consumer Protection Act, RSA [chapter]
358-A." The defendants further asserted that they "wish to
amend the counterclaim by adding allegations of additional
conduct which they believe support the unfair trade
practices counterclaim” and that "because some of the
conduct alleged, if proven, would amount to defamation,
they also wish to add a cause of action for defamation.” The
defendants also sought to "add a jury demand to the
pleading."

After a four-day hearing conducted between November and

December, the trial court granted a preliminary injunction
in January 2015 that, among other relief, enjoined the
defendants from “directly or indirectly designing,
manufacturing, producing and/or selling" certain HST
products. In February 2016, the trial court issued another
order, ruling that the defendants had waived their right to a
jury trial by failing to assert it in their answer and ordered
that the case proceed by bench trial.

During discovery, Vention filed a trade secret disclosure
and an amended "Trade Secret/Confidential Information
Disclosure” with the trial court. Sometime thereafter,
Vention moved to compel responses to certain
interrogatories and production requests from the defendants.
The defendants objected, arguing that they should not be
required to provide discovery
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until Vention produced an adequate description of its trade
secrets, and they moved to compel an adequate trade secret
designation and responses to interrogatories that would
require Vention to specify its trade secrets. The trial court
denied the defendants' motion to compel and granted
Vention's motion to compel, ruling that Vention had
adequately disclosed its trade secrets.

The trial court held an eight-day bench trial in June 2016.
During the trial, Vention presented expert testimony from
Dr. Chris Rauwendaal, who had worked for 43 years in
plastics extrusion. Rauwendaal testified that the technology
Vention used to create HST was proprietary, as were a
number of features in Vention's process for making HST.
Rauwendaal testified that these features were all trade
secrets, and that the defendants' process for making HST
utilized all of these features. Rauwendaal further testified
that Vention's process for making HST was distinguishable
from several other industry and competitor processes.
Additionally, Rauwendaal reviewed the defendants' design
and experimentation records and concluded that they could
not have duplicated Vention's technology without copying
it, based upon the timeframe in question and the lack of
documentation of experimentation.

Vention also presented expert testimony from Dr. Amad
Tayebi, a retired professor in mechanical and plastics
engineering. Tayebi testified regarding a certain part of
Vention's equipment, which he concluded was a trade
secret. He testified that he had never seen a design like that
used by Vention, and he identified four specific component
features of the part. He testified that Vention designed and
fabricated each of these components and that the
components were not available on the open market. Tayebi
compared Vention's part to a part that the defendants used,
and he opined that the two parts were "substantially



identical." Tayebi distinguished Vention's part from those
used by three other companies. Additionally, Tayebi
reviewed the defendants' design and experimentation
records and concluded that the defendants could not have
duplicated Vention's part without copying it, based upon the
timeframe in question and the lack of documentation of
experimentation.

In September 2016, the trial court issued an order ruling
that the defendants had misappropriated Vention's trade
secret technology for producing certain HST. The trial court
further ruled that Vention was entitled to equitable relief on
its breach of contract claim, but it denied Vention's request
for attorney's fees. The trial court ruled that the defendants
were not entitled to judgment on their counterclaims for
violation of RSA chapter 358-A and business
disparagement.

The trial court issued five injunctions against the
defendants:

1. The Defendants are hereby permanently enjoined and
restrained from directly or indirectly disclosing or utilizing
in any way any confidential or proprietary information,
trade secrets, designs, inventions, intellectual property, and
moral rights or processes of the Plaintiff.

2. The Defendants are hereby permanently enjoined and

restrained  from directly or indirectly designing,
manufacturing, producing, selling, or consulting on
polyester heat shrink tubing with a [specified] wall
thickness ...;

3. The Defendants are hereby enjoined and restrained for
ten years from directly or indirectly designing,
manufacturing, producing, selling, or consulting on heat
shrink tubing made with materials other than polyester with
a [specified] wall thickness ...;
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4. The Defendants are hereby permanently enjoined from
directly or indirectly designing, manufacturing, producing,
selling, or consulting on [the part that Tayebi testified was
trade secret] or ... [a] substantially similar [part] ...;

5. The Defendants are ordered to destroy all their
equipment, designs, and testing within 30 days of this
Court's order and provide certification of such destruction

(Footnote omitted.)

Vention filed a motion for reconsideration of the trial
court's denial of its request for attorney's fees, which the
trial court denied. The defendants did not file a motion for

reconsideration. This appeal followed.

On appeal, the defendants argue that: (1) the trial court
erred in denying the defendants' request for a jury trial; (2)
the trial court erred as a matter of law in failing to require
Vention to specify its trade secrets prior to discovery; (3)
the trial court erroneously shifted Vention's burden of proof
at trial to the defendants; (4) the trial court's finding that the
defendants did not misappropriate certain specified Vention
technology was fatal to Vention's case; (5) certain
admissions of Vention's trial witnesses were fatal to
Vention's case; and (6) the trial court's injunctions were not
supported by specific findings, were overbroad, and were
not tailored to remedy the alleged harm. We will address
each argument in turn.

II

The defendants argue that the trial court erred in denying
their request for a jury trial. The right to a jury trial is
guaranteed by the New Hampshire Constitution. See N.H.
CONST. pt. I, art. 20. "To preserve the right to a jury trial, a
defendant entitled to a trial by jury must indicate his or her
request for a jury trial upon the first page of the Answer at
the time of filing." Super. Cr. Civ. R. 9(c). "Failure to
request a jury trial in accordance with this rule shall
constitute a waiver by the defendant thereof." Id . "The trial
court has broad discretion in determining whether to waive
its rules, and we will notreverse its decision absent an
unsustainable exercise of discretion." Anna H. Cardone
Revocable Trust v. Cardone, 160 N.H. 521, 525, 8 A3d 1
(2010).

The defendants acknowledge that they did not comply with

Rule 9(c) by asserting their right to a jury trial in the answer
that they filed in November 2014. However, they argue that
the trial court had the discretion to waive the application of
Rule 9(c). SeeSuper. Ct. Civ. R. 1{d) ("As good cause
appears and as justice may require, the court may waive the
application of any rule."). The defendants argue that the
trial court unsustainably exercised its discretion by denying
their request because they indicated at the beginning of the
case, albeit in improper form, that they wanted a jury trial,
and the case was still at a very early stage when they
recognized the error and requested to cure it. They further
argue that "Vention did not demonstrate that any prejudice
or harm would result from granting the request [for] a jury
trial." According to the defendants, "these facts simply
cannot be construed as an intentional waiver of the right to
ajury."

The defendants failed to demand a jury trial in their
answer. Rule 9(c) is clear that such a failure constitutes a
waiver of the right to a jury trial. The trial court considered
and ultimately denied the defendants' request that it allow
for a late assertion of a jury trial. In making its ruling, the



trial court reasoned that the trial would involve "many
confidential documents" and that "the difficulties in
ensuring that the jury be given access to relevant documents
but
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that those documents do not fall into the public domain will
undoubtedly lengthen the trial.” SeeSuper. Ct. Civ. R. 1(b)
("The rules shall be ... administered to secure the just,
speedy, and cost-effective determination of every action.”).

Considering all the circumstances, as well as the
defendants' request to deviate from the clear terms of Rule
9(c), we cannot say that the trial court committed an
unsustainable exercise of discretion when it decided not to
grant relief from the rule under these circumstances.

The defendants alternatively argue that, even if they did
waive their right to a jury in their original answer, they did
not waive their right to a jury for the "entirely new claim for
defamation" that they included in their amended answer.
The defendants contend that, because they were entitled to a
Jury on this counterclaim, it was an unsustainable exercise
of discretion for the trial court not to allow a jury trial on all
counts.

We have previously stated that waiver of the right to a jury
trial "extends only to the issues then formed at the time of
waiver and does not apply to new and different issues that
may thereafter be raised under amended pleadings." Lucas
v. Cate, 99 N.H. 134, 135, 106 A.2d 200 (1954). The
defendants' motion to amend their answer did purport to add
a new cause of action and demanded a jury trial. In the
motion, the defendants stated: "In addition, because some of
the conduct alleged [in the motion], if proven, would
amount to defamation, they also wish to add a cause of
action for defamation. Finally, they seek to add a jury
demand to the pleading." The trial court, however, rejected
the defendants’ argument that the defamation counterclaim
was new because "the [cJounterclaim for defamation was
contained in the original answer."

We agree with the trial court that this was not a new claim
for defamation. In the defendants' original answer, they
described communications from Vention's agents to the
defendants' landlord and sales representatives in Europe,
and then they alleged as follows:

187. As described above, Vention, through its agents, Mr.
Saab and/or Ms. Albert, has intentionally and without
reasonable care, communicated false and misleading
statements to third parties about the scope and
enforceability of Mr. Pappas' covenants, and has also
intentionally made false and misleading statements to third
parties to impugn Mr. Pappas' character and to irreparably

harm his professional reputation. The third parties
understood the defamatory meaning [of] Vention's
statements, and Vention had no valid privilege for making
such false and defamatory statements about Mr. Pappas.
Vention's conduct in this regard constitutes defamation, for
which Mr. Pappas has and continues to suffer damages,
including consequential damages, harm to his reputation
and loss of business, all within the jurisdictional limits of
this Court.

This is a claim for defamation. SeePierson v. Hubbard, 147
N.H. 760, 763, 802 A.2d 1162 (2002) ("A plaintiff proves
defamation by showing that the defendant failed to exercise
reasonable care in publishing a false and defamatory
statement of fact about the plaintiff to a third party,
assuming no  valid privilege applies to the
communication."). Nor are we persuaded by the defendants'
reliance on the fact that, in their amended answer, they
described additional communications from Vention to
"other business associates of Mr. Pappas and Ascend." The
defendants cannot withdraw their waiver simply by alleging
additional facts to support an existing claim for defamation.
This is not a "new and different issue[ ]."
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Lucas, 99 N.H. at 135, 106 A.2d 200. Accordingly, we
reject the defendants’ argument that the trial court erred by
denying their request for a jury trial on this issue.

I

The defendants next argue that the "trial court erred as a
matter of law in failing to require Vention to specify its
trade secrets prior to discovery." Vention counters that the
trial court correctly ruled that Vention had disclosed its
trade secrets with "reasonable particularity."

Before turning to the merits of the defendants' argument,
we must determine the appropriate standard of review. The
defendants argue that we should review denovo the trial
court's determination that Vention carried its burden of
disclosing its claimed trade secrets with reasonable
particularity before discovery. According to the defendants,
this issue is a question of law. Vention disagrees, arguing
that because the defendants are appealing the trial court's
rulings on motions to compel, we should apply our
unsustainable exercise of discretion standard. According to
Vention, this is a discovery issue, which is a matter within
the sound discretion of the trial court.

We agree with Vention that the trial court's determination
that Vention had adequately specified its trade secrets such
that the parties could move to discovery was ultimately a
determination regarding discovery. SeeVesta Corp. v.
Amdocs Management Ltd., 147 F.Supp.3d 1147, 1155 (D.



Or. 2015) (stating that "whether a plaintiff has sufficiently
disclosed its trade secrets is a fact-specific question to be
decided on a case-by-case basis" (quotation omitted) );
State v. Brown, 154 N.H. 345, 349, 910 A.2d 1203 (2006)
(noting that we "review the trial court's fact-specific
determinations for an unsustainable exercise of discretion™).
Such a determination is appropriately left to the trial court.
SeeMiller v. Basbas, 131 N.H. 332, 338, 553 A.2d 299
(1988) (observing that "control over the breadth and scope
of pre-trial discovery is left to the sound discretion of the
trial judge"). "We review a trial court's rulings on the
management of discovery under an unsustainable exercise
of discretion standard." N.H. Ball Bearings v. Jackson, 158
N.H. 421, 429, 969 A.2d 351 (2009).

Nevertheless, the defendants maintain that this issue is a
substantive issue, rather than a discovery issue. The
defendants cite numerous cases in which courts dismissed
trade secret claims for failure to adequately identify the
alleged secrets. See, ¢.g., Beane v. Beane, 856 F.Supp.2d
280, 285, 305 (D.N.H. 2012). However, the cases that the
defendants rely upon involved rulings on the merits. See,
e.g., id. at 314. Accordingly, they provide no support for the
defendants’ argument, and we will review the trial court's
ruling on the adequacy of Vention's pre-discovery trade
secret disclosure using our unsustainable exercise of
discretion standard.

The trial court, relying on several federal cases, ruled that
parties claiming misappropriation of trade secrets are
required to disclose their trade secrets at the outset of
discovery. The trial court identified several policy
considerations that support requiring such a disclosure: (1)
it promotes investigating trade secret claims prior to suit
and discourages filing meritless claims; (2) it prevents
plaintiffs from using the discovery process to obtain the
defendant's trade secrets; (3) it frames the appropriate scope
of discovery; and (4) it enables the defendant to form
complete and well-reasoned defenses. SeeDelPhon Indus.,
LLC v. Int'l Test Solutions, Inc., No. C 11-01338 PSG, 2012
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 659 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 4, 2012);
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see alsoDeRubeis v. Witten Technologies, Inc., 244 FR.D.
676, 681 (N.D.Ga. 2007) (reasoning that "requiring the
plaintiff to state its claimed trade secrets prior to engaging
in discovery ensures that it will not mold its cause of action
around the discovery itreceives"). The trial court also
identified competing considerations: (1) plaintiffs have a
broad right to discovery; and (2) a trade secret plaintiff may
have no way of knowing what trade secrets have been
misappropriated until it receives discovery on how the
defendant is operating. SeeDeRubeis, 244 F.R.D. at 680.

The trial court acknowledged that these competing policies

can make resolving this type of dispute difficult, and it
concluded that the proper approach is fact dependent. See
id. at 681. The trial court then ruled that a plaintiff must
disclose its trade secrets with "reasonable particularity,”
which it defined as "a description of trade secrets that is
sufficient to put the defendant on notice of the claims
against him, and that allows a defendant to discern the
relevancy of any requested discovery." (Quotation
omitted.)[1]

After determining which standard it would apply, the trial
court ruled that Vention's trade secret disclosure sufficiently
described Vention's claimed secrets with reasonable
particularity. Vention identified its claimed trade secrets as
the process and equipment that it uses to make HST. In
making this ruling, the trial court noted the detailed
specifications that Vention provided for the individual steps
of its process and cited specific examples.

The defendants argue that Vention's disclosure was
insufficient because it: (1) impermissibly shifted the burden
to the defendants to ascertain Vention's trade secrets from
the 5S5-page disclosure and over 100,000 pages of
incorporated documents; (2) impermissibly hedged by
stating only ranges of processing parameters; and (3) did
not distinguish between confidential information and trade
secret information.

Vention counters that its trade secret disclosure described
its trade secret techmology in "step-by-step detail,"
including component process parameters, and "reference[d]
specific documents further describing these processes.”
Vention further identified the critical equipment that it
designed and used in this process. Vention argues that it
gave ranges of parameters and specifications because its
claimed trade secrets are the processes and technology it
uses to make HST, not a single product, material, or tube
size.

Based upon our review of the trade secret disclosure, we
find that the trial court sustainably exercised its discretion
in ruling that Vention had adequately specified its alleged
trade secrets prior to discovery. Vention's disclosure
described each step of Vention's alleged trade secret process
and referenced documents that contained more specific
information. In particular, the disclosures described in detail
the discrete steps in the manufacturing process, equipment
and technology used, raw materials used, and design
parameters of end products.

To the extent that the disclosures contained ranges of
processing parameters or qualifying language, we also find
no error. Asdiscussed above, Vention only needed to
identify its trade secrets with "reasonable particularity,"
sufficient to put the
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defendants on notice of the claims against them and allow
them to discern the relevancy of any requested discovery.
The disclosures were sufficiently specific that the
defendants could discern what information Vention claimed
was trade secret and the relevancy of requested discovery,
particularly considering that Pappas, as the former
engineering manager at Vention, was familiar with
Vention's technology for making HST. Moreover, we note
that these disclosures did not need to prove the existence of
trade secrets. That was Vention's ultimate burden at trial,
not its burden for proceeding with discovery.

Finally, the defendants argue that Vention's disclosures
were insufficient as a matter of law because they did not
distinguish between confidential information and trade
secret information. In support of their argument, the
defendants rely upon Big Vision Private v. E.I. DuPont De
Nemours & Co., 1 F.Supp.3d 224 (S.D.N.Y. 2014). SeeBig
Vision Private, 1 F.Supp.3d at 262 (noting that the plaintiff
erroneously used the terms "trade secret” and "confidential"
as if they were interchangeable (quotations omitted) ).
However, the court in that case ruled on summary judgment
that the plaintiff's trade secret was too vague and indefinite
to deserve protection. Seeid. at 257-66. Accordingly, it
provides no support for the defendants' argument that a
pre-discovery trade secret disclosure that does not
specifically distinguish between confidential information
and trade secret information is insufficient as a matter of
law.

v

The defendants next argue that the trial court "failed to
require Vention to specify at trial exactly what it claimed as
a secret and accepted conclusory and superficial testimony
as to essentially every element of Vention's claim." The
defendants argue that this failure "improperly allocated the
burden of proof,” constituting reversible error. In particular,
the defendants challenge the sufficiency of Vention's
evidence, arguing that Vention failed to: (1) specifically
identify its trade secrets and show that they were unique;
(2) show that the identified information was neither general
knowledge in the trade nor special knowledge of those
skilled in the trade; and (3) show an absence of publicly
available information.

Vention first contends that the defendants did not preserve
these arguments because they did not move for a directed
verdict challenging the sufficiency of Vention's evidence
and did not move for reconsideration on these grounds or on
the grounds of the alleged burden shifting.

"This court has consistently held that we will not consider
issues raised on appeal that were not presented in the lower

court." LaMontagne Builders v. Bowman Brook Purchase
Group, 150 N.H. 270, 274, 837 A.2d 301 (2003) (quotation
omitted). "This principle applies to legal issues that arise
after trial as a result of the court's order." Id. "This
requirement is designed to discourage parties unhappy with
the trial result [from] comb{ing] the record, endeavoring to
find some alleged error never addressed by the trial judge
that could be used to set aside the verdict." Jd. (quotation
omitted). To satisfy this preservation requirement, any
issues which could not have been presented to the trial court
prior to its decision must be presented to it in a motion for
reconsideration. Seeid.; N.H. Dep't of Corrections v.
Butland, 147 N.H. 676, 679, 797 A.2d 860 (2002).

The defendants argue that they satisfied the preservation
requirement with respect to their argument that the trial
court improperly shifted some of Vention's trial burden to
the defendants by stating in their opening memo and their
post-trial
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brief that Vention carried the burden of proof on these
issues. We disagree. The trial court stated in its order that
the "claimant must establish” the elements of trade secret
misappropriation and found that Vention satisfied these
elements. Thus, the trial court agreed with the defendants
that it was Vention's burden to prove trade secret
misappropriation. If, in making itsruling, the trial court
improperly shifted some of Vention's burden to the
defendants, this was a new error. Because the defendants
did not bring this issue to the attention of the trial court in a
motion to reconsider, the trial court had no opportunity to
address it, and it is not preserved for our review.

The defendants argue that they satisfied the preservation
requirement of their sufficiency of the evidence challenges
by filing a post-trial brief arguing that Vention had failed to
meet its burden of proof on its causes of action. We agree.
The defendants presented their arguments to the trial court
that Vention failed to carry its burden to prove that its trade
secrets were unique and that the defendants' process for
making HST was not based upon publicly available
information or Pappas's industry knowledge and experience.
By ruling that Vention had carried its burden of proof to
show misappropriation, the trial court implicitly rejected
each of the defendants' arguments regarding insufficient
evidence. Because the trial court addressed these
arguments, the defendants were not required to raise them
in a motion for reconsideration, and the arguments are
preserved for our review.

We now turn to the merits of the defendants' argument that
the evidence was insufficient to support the trial court's
ruling that Vention proved it held trade secret information.
When a trial court renders a decision after a trial on the



merits, we uphold its factual findings and rulings unless
they lack evidentiary support or are legally erroneous.
SeeJesurum v. WBTSCC Ltd. P'ship, 169 N.H. 469, 476,
151 A.3d 949 (2016). "Thus, we defer to the trial court's
judgment on such issues as resolving conflicts in the
testimony, measuring the credibility of witnesses, and
determining the weight to be given evidence." Id. (quotation
omitted); see alsodppeal of Pennichuck Water Works, 160
N.H. 18, 41, 992 A.2d 740 (2010) (stating that trier of fact
was free to "accept or reject such portions of the evidence
as it found proper, including that of expert witnesses"). We
review the trial court's application of the law to the facts
denovo . Jesurum, 169 N.H. at 476, 151 A.3d 949; see
alsoUnited States v. 15 Bosworth Street, 236 F.3d 50, 53
(1st Cir. 2001) (stating that determinations about the
sufficiency of evidence is a legal determination that
engenders denovo review).

The UTSA defines "[t]rade secret” to mean: "information,
including a formula, pattern, compilation, program, device,
method, technique, or process” that "(a) [d]erives
independent economic value, actual or potential, from not
being generally known to, and not being readily
ascertainable by proper means by, other persons who can
obtain economic value from its disclosure or use" and "(b)
[i]s the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the

circumstances to maintain its secrecy.” RSA 350-B:1, IV.

The defendants first argue that Vention failed to carry its
burden of specifically identifying a trade secret and proving
that it was unique. They argue that Saab testified broadly
about Vention's trade secrets, but failed to identify any
specific process, which is insufficient as a matter of law.
They argue that Rauwendaal's testimony "was far short of
the proof required in a trade secret case" because he "had no
basis to opine as to whether there was
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anything unique about Vention's ... technology." According

to the defendants, neither Rauwendaal nor any other
Vention witness ever offered evidence establishing how
Vention's technology was unique as compared to the
technology used by similar companies. The defendants
further argue that Tayebi "lacked any basis to opine that
Vention's [part] was unique” because he "only briefly
examined [certain equipment used by other companies] ...
[that] Vention asked him to examine and did not evaluate
other available [equipment] in the market."

The trial court determined that Vention identified trade
secrets: the process and equipment that it uses to
manufacture its medical HST. In making that determination,
the trial courtrelied upon the testimony of Rauwendaal,
which the court found to be credible. Rauwendaal testified
that he had never encountered any other company using

Vention's technology to manufacture medical HST with the
same characteristics. Rauwendaal testified that several
specific processes that Vention uses to make HST were
trade secrets. He further testified that the processes that
Vention uses were not the same as other industry HST
processes. The trial court also relied upon the testimony of
Tayebi. Tayebi testified that a specific part that Vention
uses to make its HST is a trade secret. He also testified that
he had never seen another design with the features of
Vention's part, and explained why the equipment of three
other companies was different and not functional
equivalents of the Vention part.

The trial court found that Vention derives an "economic,
competitive advantage" because its HST process and
equipment allow it to "serve a niche market in which it is
the only company capable of manufacturing such products
with the degree of enhanced characteristics.” The trial court
credited evidence that KRG purchased Advanced Polymers
for a substantial purchase price because the company was
the "market leader in heat shrink tubing and complex
medical balloons that had incredibly high profit margins
that KRG believed were sustainable for many, many years"
and because KRG believed the purchase price reflected
trade secret protection for Vention's medical balloons and
HST. (Quotation and brackets omitted.)

In sum, there was evidence before the trial court that
Vention held a niche market position with a competitive
advantage due to its use of certain technology to make
medical HST. Vention's experts identified specific aspects
of the company's technology, testified that the technology
was trade secret and was unique to Vention, and
distinguished the technology of a number of other
companies and industries. Based upon our review of the
record, we cannot say that these findings of fact were
legally erroneous. The trial court, as the trier of fact, could
properly credit this evidence, seePennichuck Water Works,
160 N.H. at 41, 992 A.2d 740, which supports the trial
court's ultimate ruling that Vention carried its burden of
proving that it possessed unique trade secret information.

The defendants next argue that Vention "never even
attempted to meet [its] burden” of distinguishing its alleged
secrets from the "enhanced skill, scientific knowledge and
inventive faculties” that Pappas acquired while working for
Vention. (Quotation and ellipsis omitted.) They further
argue that "[t]he trial court even accepted Vention's
argument that [the defendants were] obligated to show that
[they] had independently developed [their] product.”
Vention counters that the "evidence at trial conclusively
demonstrated that Vention's trade secrets were neither
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generally known nor readily ascertainable.”

The trial court found that Rauwendaal "credibly testified"”
that the processes that Vention and the defendants used to
make HST were "virtually identical." The trial court also
relied on Rauwendaal's testimony that "no company had
been able to develop technology similar to Vention's over
the past 26 to 27 years" and that, to duplicate Vention's
technology, "it would take ateam of people" a "period of
four to five years." Rauwendaal concluded that the
defendants could not have duplicated Vention's technology
without copying it because of the defendants' lack of
documented experimentation, lack of prototypes, and the
timeframe in which the defendants were able to produce
HST. Tayebi drew a similar conclusion regarding the
defendants' design of a part that they used in their HST
machine.

From this evidence, the trial court could properly conclude
that the defendants did not develop their HST using
enhanced skill, scientific knowledge, and inventive faculties
regarding HST; rather, they developed their HST by
misappropriating Vention's trade secret HST technology.
Moreover, the record does not support the defendants'
argument that the trial court "obligated" the defendants to
show that they independently developed their product. The
trial court relied upon Rauwendaal's and Tayebi's
testimony, which supported Vention's burden of proving
that the defendants misappropriated, rather than
independently developed, Vention's trade secret HST
technology. Although the defendants argue that this
evidence was contradicted by Pappas's "uncontroverted"
testimony that he "conducted many experiments which he
did not record" and had "independently developed his
machine and process parameters," the trial court did not
need to accept this testimony. Seeln the Matter of Geraghty
& Geraghty , 169 N.H. 404, 416, 150 A.3d 386 (2016)
(noting that the trial court may reject the testimony of any
witness and is "not required to believe even uncontroverted
evidence" (quotation omitted) ).

Finally, the defendants argue that Vention "failed to
demonstrate that its allegedly secret information was
different from information in the public domain."
According to the defendants, "[t]here was substantial and
essentially undisputed evidence regarding the widespread
availability of information about similar technologies."

The defendants' argument that Vention could have done
more to prove that its technology is not publicly available is
unavailing. Vention produced expert testimony that its HST
technology is not information that is in the public domain.
Rauwendaal, in particular, opined that information from the
companies identified by the defendants explained none of
the choices that the defendants made when designing their
machine. The defendants cross-examined Vention's experts

regarding these conclusions. The trial court weighed this
evidence and determined that Vention had met its burden.
Because there was expert testimony, which the trial court
could properly credit, that supported the trial court's
conclusion that Vention proved its information was
different from information in the public domain, we uphold
the trial court's determination.

v

The defendants next argue that the trial court's "finding that
[other  specified Vention technology] was not
misappropriated was fatal to Vention's case." According to
the defendants, this other technology "was the foundation
for Vention's entire case." (Quotation omitted.) Vention
argues that this argument is not
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preserved because the defendants did not raise it in a
motion for reconsideration. We agree with Vention that this
argument is not preserved.

The defendants’ argument is essentially that this other
finding contradicted the rest of the trial court's order, which
found that the defendants misappropriated Vention's trade
secret HST technology. Even assuming that a contradiction
exists, the defendants never argued in a motion to
reconsider that this contradiction in the trial court's order
should preclude relief on Vention's entire misappropriation
claim. The purported error did not exist until the trial court
issued its order, and "any issues that could not have been
presented to the trial court before its decision must be
presented to it in a motion for reconsideration.” State v.
Mouser, 168 NH. 19, 27, 119 A3d 870 (2015).
Accordingly, because this issue was not raised before the
trial court in a motion for reconsideration, it is not
preserved for our review. SeeButland, 147 N.H. at 679, 797
A.2d 860.

VI

The defendants next argue that certain admissions of
Vention's trial witnesses were fatal to Vention's case. We
decline to address this issue, however, because the
defendants raised it for the first time on appeal in their reply
brief. SeePanas v. Harakis & K-Mart Corp., 129 N.H. 591,
617,529 A.2d 976 (1987) (stating that "a reply brief may
only be employed to reply to the opposing party's brief, and
not to raise entirely new issues"). The defendants do
indicate in their reply brief that they are responding to
inaccurate statements that Vention made in its brief.
However, the statements that the defendants point to come
from Vention's recitation of the underlying facts and
procedural history and not from any particular argument.
Thus, while it is appropriate for the defendants to attempt to



correct these inaccuracies, it is not appropriate for the
defendants to raise the entirely new issue of whether certain
admissions of trial witnesses were fatal to Vention's case.

Vil

The defendants raise several challenges to the injunctions

that the trial court issued. "It is within the trial court's sound
discretion to grant an injunction after consideration of the

facts and established principles of equity." Town of
Atkinson v. Malborn Realty Trust, 164 N.H. 62, 66, 53 A.3d
561 (2012). "We will uphold the trial court's factual
findings unless the evidence does not support them or they
are erroneous as a matter of law." Id. "We will uphold the
issuance of an injunction absent an error of law, an
unsustainable exercise of discretion, or clearly erroneous

findings of fact." /d. (quotation omitted).[2]

The UTSA provides that courts may enjoin "[a]ctual or
threatened misappropriation” of trade secrets. RSA
350-B:2, 1. Furthermore, a party enjoined from
misappropriating a trade secret may petition the court to
terminate the injunction if the trade secret has ceased to
exist. Id . "Usually the duration of an injunction is designed
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to preclude defendant's wrongful activities for a period of
time reasonably necessary to protect plaintiff's interests; the
period of time that would be required for independent

development is the most commonly employed standard." 4
Roger M. Milgrim & Eric E. Bensen, Milgrim on Trade

Secrets § 15.02[1][d], at 15-248 to 15-248.1 (2017).

The defendants argue that the trial court erred in its grant
of injunctive relief because the injunctions: (1) are not
supported by specific factual findings; (2) improperly
expand upon Pappas's employment covenants; and (3) are
overbroad because they are not tailored to remedy the
alleged harm.

Before we address the merits of the defendants' arguments,
we turn to Vention's argument that the defendants did not
preserve their challenges to the trial court's injunctions.
Vention argues that the defendants "failed to file a motion
to reconsider or otherwise bring these specific issues to the
trial court's attention." The defendants argue that they
preserved their challenges by objecting to the injunctions
that Vention proposed in its post-trial brief. According to
the defendants, the trial court adjudicated their objections
when it "incorporated verbatim" five of Vention's proposed
injunctions. (Italics omitted.)

Based upon our review of the record, we agree with the
defendants that they preserved their arguments that the
injunctions improperly expand upon Pappas's employment
covenants and are overbroad because they are not tailored

to remedy the alleged harm. The defendants, in their
post-trial brief, argued that "Vention ... is not entitled to any
relief, let alone to the outrageous demands in its Post-Trial
Memorandum and Proposed Order, by which itseeks to
expand greatly the unreasonable and unenforceable
restrictions in the Agreement Mr. Pappas was forced to sign
in 2004." The defendants also argued that "the relief
requested by Vention is oppressive and punitive; the
broadly worded language proposed by Vention would place
[Pappas] at risk for the rest of his life without prior notice
of what, exactly, is prohibited.”

However, these arguments from the defendants' post-trial
brief are not sufficient to preserve their argument that the
trial court erred by granting injunctions that were not
supported by specific factual findings. At the time that the
defendants objected to Vention's proposed injunctions, the
trial court had neither made any factual findings nor granted
any permanent injunctive relief. The alleged error— a lack
of specific factual findings supporting the injunctions—
could not have occurred until after the trial court issued its
order. Consequently, the trial court never had an
opportunity to address this alleged error in the first instance.
If the defendants had brought this alleged error to the trial
court's attention through a motion to reconsider, the trial
court could have stated why its factual findings were
sufficient or, if it believed that its findings were insufficient,
corrected its error by modifying the injunctions or issuing
additional findings of fact. Accordingly, this argument is
not preserved for our review. SeeButland, 147 N.H. at 679,
797 A.2d 860.

The first injunction that the defendants challenge provides:
"1. The Defendants are hereby permanently enjoined and
restrained from directly or indirectly disclosing or utilizing
in any way any confidential or proprietary information,
trade secrets, designs, inventions, intellectual property, and
moral rights or processes of [Vention]." The defendants
argue that this injunction is "unnecessary and unfair"
because it turns a contractual clause into a permanent
injunction. According to the defendants, "[i]f Vention
believes in the future
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that [the defendants are] violating a confidentiality
obligation, it no doubt will find [them] and sue [them]."

One of Vention's claims was for breach of contract. The
trial court found that the confidentiality agreement was
enforceable to the extent that it barred Pappas from
disclosing or using Vention's proprietary information. The
trial court ruled that the defendants misappropriated

Vention's trade secret information. Based on this record, the
trial court sustainably exercised its discretion in deciding to
enjoin the defendants from further violating the



confidentiality agreement.

The defendants raise the same challenges to the second and

third injunctions, which prohibit the defendants from
"directly or indirectly designing, manufacturing, producing,
selling, or consulting” on HST with specified
characteristics, perpetually for HST made of polyester, and
for ten years for HST made from other materials. The
defendants argue that it was reversible error for the trial
court to issue these injunctions because the injunctions are
not limited to the specific process or products at issue in the
case. We disagree.

The trial court stated in its order that it wanted to delineate
prohibited conduct by providing a bright line. It then
explained that the defendants were "enjoined from utilizing
Vention's trade secrets to manufacture the specified
products atissue in this case.” Thus, looking at the trial
court's order as a whole, it is apparent that the primary
purpose of the injunctions is to enjoin the defendants from
using the specific information at issue in the case—
Vention's trade secret technology for making HST. To the
extent that the injunctions prohibit the defendants from
working with HST using a different process, the trial court
noted that "if [the defendants] are able to produce such
products without the use of Vention's trade secrets, then
they may petition to modify this injunction." In other
words, the injunctions place the burden on the defendants to
prove that they are using a process other than Vention's
trade secret technology before they can work with HST.
Without such aburden, if the defendants began to work
with HST, Vention would have no way of knowing whether
they were doing so with the use of Vention's trade secret
technology. Vention would then be in a position where it
would need to sue the defendants to determine whether they
were violating the court's injunctions.

Therefore, although the injunctions prohibit conduct that
falls outside the scope of Vention's trade secrets, they do so
only for the limited purpose of placing the burden on the
defendants to prove that they are not using Vention's trade
secret technology for making HST. Considering that the
trial court found that the defendants misappropriated

Vention's trade secret technology for making HST, we
cannot say the trial court committed an unsustainable

exercise of discretion by placing this additional burden on
the defendants, should they seck to work with HST by using
another process. See RSA 350-B:2, III ("In appropriate
circumstances, affirmative acts to protect a trade secret may
be compelled by court order.").

The defendants next argue that the injunctions do not
define Vention's trade secrets. We disagree. In prior
sections of the trial court's order, the court describes
Vention's technology and determines that this technology is
a trade secret. Thus, considering the trial court's order as a

whole, it is clear that the trial court's subsequent references
to "Vention's trade secrets" refer to its earlier
determinations regarding what information constituted
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The defendants next argue that "there was no basis" for the
durations of these injunctions. We disagree.

The trial court granted a perpetual injunction for HST made
from polyester and a ten-year injunction for HST made
from other materials. The trial court reasoned that the
durations were appropriate because "Vention has proved
that its product cannot be reverse engineered"; "Vention has
proved that its process has not been duplicated by any
competitor"; and Vention's expert Rauwendaal "expressed
doubt that a company undertaking to develop this
technology would be successful, but opined that if
successful, the project would take at least four to five years
and involve many people and many resources.” Based upon
these findings, we cannot say that the trial court erred in
determining  the  duration of the injunctions.
SeeCurtiss-Wright Corp. v. Edel-Brown Tool & Die, 381
Mass. 1, 407 N.E.2d 319, 326 (1980) (ruling that trial judge
did not abuse his discretion in issuing a permanent
injunction where he determined that neither the defendant
nor "others in the trade" were "likely through legitimate
procedures to learn the [trade secret]"). Furthermore, we
note that if Vention's trade secrets cease to exist, the
defendants can petition the court to terminate the injunction.
See RSA 350-B:2, 1.

The fourth injunction that the defendants challenge
provides, inrelevant part: "4. The Defendants are hereby
permanently enjoined from directly or indirectly designing,
manufacturing, producing, selling, or consulting on [the
part that Tayebi testified was trade secret] or .. [a]
substantially similar [part]." The defendants argue that this
injunction is improper because "by referring to
'substantially similar' [parts] it seems to prevent [the
defendants] even from using [parts] which can be purchased
on the open market.” We disagree. By its plain terms, the
injunction prohibits "designing, manufacturing, producing,
selling, or consulting” on a substantially similar part, but
does not prohibit purchasing or using a substantially similar
part. Thus, the injunction would not prohibit the defendants
from purchasing or using commercially available
equipment.

The fifth injunction that the defendants challenge provides,
in relevant part: "5. The Defendants are ordered to destroy
all their equipment, designs, and testing within 30 days of
this Court's order and provide certification of such
destruction." The defendants argue that the injunction



orders them to destroy "all [their] equipment” "without
explaining what equipment was included and without
delineating between the only component that had been
found to have been misappropriated ... and any other
components." (Quotations omitted.) The defendants further
request that the destruction be "limited solely to the specific
item found to have been misappropriated, and not to the rest
of the [defendants'] [m]achine or to any other equipment.”
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We find no ambiguity in the trial court's injunction. The

trial court ordered the defendants to destroy "all" of their
equipment. There was no need for the trial court to
delineate between the part that Tayebi testified was trade
secret and the other components because they were all
encompassed by the injunction.

Additionally, we decline the defendants' invitation to limit
the destruction solely to the part that Tayebi testified was
trade secret. The trial court made several findings that
support its injunction ordering the destruction of the
defendants' entire machine. For example, the trial court
stated that "[a]lthough Pappas claims to have developed
Ascend's technology independently of Vention, there is
very little documentation of experimentation that would
explain how he came to design his machine[ ] and select the
parameters on which [it] ran and select the materials he
used," and credited the conclusions of Rauwendaal and
Tayebi that the defendants "copied Vention's technology."
Thus, even though the defendants' machine was not
identical to Vention's machine, by virtue of its design, it
employed Vention's trade secrets for producing HST.
Therefore, it was an appropriate exercise of discretion for
the trial court to order the destruction of the defendants'
machine. SeeTown of Atkinson, 164 N.H. at 66, 53 A.3d 561
("We will uphold the issuance of an injunction absent an
error of law, an unsustainable exercise of discretion, or
clearly erroneous findings of fact." (quotation omitted) ).

Vi

Vention cross-appeals the trial court's ruling that it was not
entitled to attorney's fees. Vention argues that it is entitled
to attorney's fees either pursuant to RSA 350-B:4, III
because the defendants willfully and maliciously
misappropriated Vention's trade secrets; pursuant to RSA
350-B:4, I, because they filed a counterclaim for trade
secret misappropriation in bad faith; or under the common
law because they committed numerous bad faith litigation
actions.

"The general rule in New Hampshire is that parties pay
their own attorney's fees." Far Bullies Farm, LLC v,
Devenport, 170 NH. 17, 29, 164 A.3d 990 (2017).
However, "[a] court may award attorney's fees when

specifically authorized by statute." /d. Here, RSA 350-B:4
provides such an exception. That statute provides, in
relevant part, that the trial court "may award reasonable
attorneys' fees to the prevailing party when: 1. A claim of
misappropriation is made in bad faith ... or IIL. Willful and
malicious  misappropriation  exists.” RSA  350-B:4
(emphasis added). Another exception to the general rule is
the bad faith litigation theory. SeeFat Bullies Farm, 170
N.H. at 30, 164 A.3d 990.

Under the bad faith litigation theory, an award of attorney's
fees is appropriate when one party has acted in bad faith,
vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons, when the
litigant's conduct can be characterized as unreasonably
obdurate or obstinate, and when it should have been
unnecessary for the successful party to have brought the
action.

1d. (quotation and brackets omitted).

"We will not overturn the trial court's decision concerning
attorney's fees absent an unsustainable exercise of
discretion.” 1d. (quotation omitted). "To warrant reversal,
the discretion must have been exercised for reasons clearly
untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable to the
prejudice of the objecting party." Id. (quotation omitted).
"In evaluating the trial court's ruling on this issue, we
acknowledge the tremendous deference given a trial court's
decision regarding attorney's
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fees." Id. (quotation omitted). "If there is some support in
the record for the trial court's determination, we will uphold
it." Id. (quotation omitted).

Here, the trial court acknowledged that the defendants
"engaged in intentional misappropriation of Vention's
intellectual property." The trial court noted, however, that
Pappas "acted reasonably in consulting with counsel before
proceeding” and that "she advised him that he was able to
proceed [with] producing [certain HST products]." The trial
court further noted that "Vention appear[ed] to have
suffered no significant financial harm from the
misappropriation.” Although the trial court concluded that
the "case is a close one," it ultimately declined to award
attorney's fees against the defendants.

Vention first argues that the trial court should have
awarded fees under RSA 350-B:4, III because the
defendants "willfully misappropriated [its] trade secrets."
Vention argues that the trial court correctly found that the
defendants "engaged in intentional misappropriation of
Vention's intellectual property," but, in declining to award
fees, improperly relied upon the facts that Pappas met with
an attorney and that she advised him that he was able to



proceed with making HST. Vention argues that this "limited
advice" "does not apply to the circumstances of defendants’
misappropriation and should not have been used to militate
against an award of fees to Vention." In particular, Vention
argues that "there is no evidence to support that Mr. Pappas'
use of Vention's technology ... in his competing venture was
ever within the scope of [the attorney's] representation of
Mr. Pappas."

The trial court, however, acknowledged weaknesses in the
advice the attorney gave to Pappas: "whether due to
[Pappas's] insufficient disclosure to [the attorney] or due to
her misunderstanding of the technology, she advised him
that he was able to proceed [with] producing [certain HST
products]." Thus, it does not appear that the trial court
misunderstood the circumstances relating to Pappas's
receipt of that advice, and we cannot say, based upon this
record, that it was an unsustainable exercise of discretion
for the trial court to give some weight to this fact.

Vention additionally argues that the "trial court's reliance
upon the apparent lack of financial harm as a factor
militating against an award of attorneys' fees also is
misplaced." Vention argues that it "spent both significant
time and incurred substantial costs in order to protect its
intellectual property.”

Notwithstanding Vention's litigation expenses, the trial
court is correct that Vention's prompt action likely
prevented the defendants from causing Vention to lose sales
or customers. In other words, the defendants'
misappropriation did not cause "significant financial harm"
to Vention's business in the medical HST field. Given the
wide discretion and deference that the trial court has in
determining whether to award attorney's fees, we cannot
say that it was unreasonable for the trial court to consider
the fact that Vention did not suffer "significant financial
harm" to its business beyond the cost of litigating its claims.

Therefore, we affirm the trial court's decision not to award
Vention attorney's fees under RSA 350-B:4, Il because it
was supported by a finding that Vention suffered "no
significant financial harm" and by the fact that Pappas at
least attempted to obtain legal advice prior to forming
Ascend and building his machine.

Vention next argues that the trial court should have
alternatively awarded it attorney's fees pursuant to RSA
350-B:4, 1. See RSA 350-B:4, I (permitting a court
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to award reasonable attorney's fees to the prevailing party
when "[a] claim of misappropriation is made in bad faith").
According to Vention, the defendants asserted their
counterclaim for misappropriation in bad faith because, late

in the proceedings, they argued that Vention had brought its
lawsuit in order to steal their technology. According to
Vention, the trial court recognized in its order that
"[u]ltimately, defendants implicitly conceded that there
were, in fact, no trade secrets." Vention argues that "[gliven
the absence of any information even purporting to support
the alleged trade secret claim, it is apparent that defendants
asserted this claim even though they understood the claim
had no merit and ultimately did not move forward with it at
trial."

We disagree with Vention's contention that the defendants
produced no evidence to support their counterclaim. For
example, the defendants produced evidence of Vention's
"Project 250," which was an attempt by Vention to
commercialize products similar to those produced by the
defendants. Although the trial court ultimately believed
Vention's evidence that it "ha[d] long been aware of the
materials, process, equipment, and technology necessary to
produce” those products and that it decided not to go
forward with the project for another reason, that does not
mean that there was "an absence of any information even
purporting to support” the defendants' claim. Therefore, we
cannot say, based upon our review of the record, that the
trial court unsustainably exercised its discretion by deciding
not to grant attorney's fees on this ground.

Vention nextargues that it is entitled to attorney's fees
because the defendants engaged in bad faith litigation.
Vention relies upon the defendants' "bad faith
misappropriation of Vention's trade secrets"; their "bad faith
assertion of a trade secret counterclaim"; their
"unreasonable method of conducting a search for
documents” during discovery; their "failure to preserve
obviously relevant information, including technical
specifications for defendants' HST products”; and testimony
indicating that the defendants may not have produced an
additional lab notebook. According to Vention, this
evidence "demonstrates by a preponderance of the evidence
that defendants engaged in bad faith actions, actions which
not only unnecessarily prolonged the litigation, but [were]
patently unreasonable, and thus sufficient to support an
award of attorneys' fees." But seeFat Bullies Farm, 170
N.H. at 30, 164 A.3d 990 ("If there is some support in the
record for the trial court's determination, we will uphold it."”
(quotation omitted) ).

As discussed above, the trial court determined that the
defendants neither willfully and maliciously
misappropriated Vention's trade secrets nor made a
bad-faith claim of misappropriation, and there was support
in the record for these determinations. With regard to the
purported discovery issues, we note that the trial court is
given "tremendous deference” in determining whether a
party's actions warrant an award of attorney's fees. See id.
(quotation omitted). Based upon our review of Vention's



arguments and the record, we cannot say that it was "clearly
untenable” or "clearly unreasonable" for the trial court to
decline to award fees for bad faith litigation. See id.
(quotations omitted). Accordingly, we affirm its decision
not to award attorney's fees.

Finally, all issues raised in the defendants’ notice of appeal
that they have not briefed are deemed waived. SeeLake
Forest R.V. Resort v. Town of Wakefield, 169 N.H. 288,
293, 146 A.3d 615 (2016).

Affirmed .

HICKS, BASSETT, and HANTZ MARCONI, JJ,
concurred; DALIANIS, C.J., retired, specially assigned
under RSA 490:3, concurred.

Notes:

[1] Although no part of the UTSA explicitly requires a
trade secret plaintiff to describe its trade secret in a trade
secret disclosure prior to discovery, the parties do not
challenge the trial court's ruling that Vention was required
to disclose its trade secrets with reasonable particularity
prior to discovery. Accordingly, we assume for the
purposes of this appeal that such a requirement exists under
New Hampshire law.

[2] The defendants argue that we should review the trial
court's injunctions denovo . They provide only one
supporting cite, with no explanation: MAI Systems Corp. v.
Peak Computer, Inc., 991 F.2d 511, 516 (9th Cir. 1993).
Although the Ninth Circuit in that case noted that it
reviewed "questions of law underlying the issuance of a
preliminary injunction" denovo, it nevertheless reviewed the
grant of a preliminary injunction for an abuse of discretion.
SeeMAI Systems Corp., 991 F.2d at 516. Accordingly, we
are not persuaded that we should diverge from New
Hampshire precedent, and we will uphold the trial court's
injunctions "absent an error of law, an unsustainable
exercise of discretion, or clearly erroneous findings of fact."
Town of Atkinson, 164 N.H. at 66, 53 A.3d 561.

[3] With regard to the second injunction, the defendants
additionally argue that there "is no rhyme or reason for this
injunction" because "[i]t was undisputed that Pappas had
not attempted to make [polyester HST]." For the reasons
described above, we interpret the trial court's order as
prohibiting the defendants from working with polyester
HST using the trade secrets that they misappropriated. The
injunction's broader prohibition on the use of other
technology can be modified should the defendants choose
to petition the court and demonstrate that they are using a
process other than the process that the trial court found

them to have misappropriated.
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JOHNSON, J.

The plaintiff, Susan Hughes, appeals a decision of the
Superior Court (Fauver, J.) denying her motion for
Jjudgment notwithstanding the verdict, see Super. Ct. R. 73,
after the jury found that she violated the Consumer
Protection Act, see RSA ch. 358-A (1995 & Supp.1998),
and awarded damages to the defendant, Giacomo DiSalvo.
We reverse.

The following facts appear in the parties' agreed statement
of facts. The plaintiff acquired and began occupying
property in New Hampton as her primary residence in
February 1987. She unsuccessfully attempted to sell the
property in the late 1980s. The plaintiff relocated in July
1991 and began renting the property in September 1991.
Between September 1991 and June 1994, three different
sets of tenants rented the property.

The plaintiff placed classified advertisements in
newspapers to rent the property. From August 1994 to June
1995, the plaintiff rented the property to the defendant
under a "Lease and Sales Agreement." During the
defendant's tenancy, the plaintiff was
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employed as a school teacher in Moultonborough, The
lease and sales agreement was not handled by a real estate
broker but was drafted by either the plaintiff or her

husband.

The property was rented to different tenants under a similar
lease and sales agreement from August 1995 to January
1996. Between February 1996 and January 28, 1998, when
the parties agreed to these facts, two additional sets of
tenants rented the property.

The parties also agreed that the plaintiff's husband and
three other persons bought a four-unit investment property
and established a real estate trust "[djuring 1983-1984." In
1984, the trust property was disposed of and the trust was
terminated.

The plaintiff filed an action in district court for
non-payment of rent. The defendant requested a jury trial
and filed counterclaims alleging, inter alia, ‘violation of the
Consumer Protection Act, see RSA ch. 358-A, and the
Unfair Collection Practices Act, see RSA ch. 358-C (1995
& Supp.1998). A jury trial was held in superior court. The
jury found, inter alia, that the plaintiff had engaged in
unlawful trade or deceptive business practices, and awarded
the defendant $100.00 in damages under the Consumer
Protection Act. The jury further found that the plaintiff used
unfair, deceptive, or unreasonable collection practices and
awarded the defendant $600.00 under the Unfair Collection
Practices Act.

The plaintiff moved for judgment notwithstanding the
verdict arguing that RSA chapters 358-A and 358-C were
inapplicable. The court agreed that RSA chapter 358-C did

not apply because "one who acts in the ordinary course of ..

business does so as part of regular business dealings, arid
not as an isolated act, such as in this case.” The court held,
however, that the Consumer Protection Act "clearly extends
to lessors of real property ... and thus to the landlord-tenant
relationship ... [because] tenants are among those for whose
benefit the Consumer Protection Act was passed." The
plaintiff appeals this decision.

The applicability of the Consumer Protection Act involves
a matter of statutory construction, and we begin our
analysis [729 A.2d 424] by considering the plain meaning
of the words of the statute. Gilmore v. Bradgate Assoc., 135
N.H. 234,237, 604 A.2d 555, 556 (1992).

RSA 358-A:2 declares it "unlawful for any person to use
any unfair method of competition or any unfair or deceptive
act or practice in the conduct of any trade or commerce in
this state." (Emphasis added.) The Consumer Protection Act
further defines trade and commerce:

"Trade" and "commerce” shall include the advertising,



offering for sale, sale, or distribution of any services and
Page 578

any property, tangible orintangible, real, personal or
mixed, and any other article, commaodity, or thing of value
wherever situate, and shall include any trade or commerce
directly or indirectly affecting the people of this state.

RSA 358-A:1, I1 (1995).

In Chase v. Dorais, 122 N.H. 600, 601, 448 A.2d 390, 391
(1982), we noted that the statute applies to "persons
engaged in trade or commerce." Although the Consumer
Protection Act "is a comprehensive statute whose language
indicates that it should be given broad sweep .... it is not
unlimited in scope.” Roberis v. General Motors Corp., 138
N.H. 532, 538, 643 A.2d 956, 960 (1994). We previously
rejected the contention that all transactions should be
included within the scope of the Act in Chase, noting that
"[s]uch a reading would remove even isolated, non-business
sales or contracts from the realm of contract and sales law
and subject them to [the Consumer Protection Act]." Chase,
122 N.H. at 601-02, 448 A.2d at 391.

To determine whether the Consumer Protection Act applies
to a particular transaction, we analyze the activity involved,
the nature of the transaction, and the parties to determine
whether a transaction is a personal or business transaction.
See Begelfer v. Najarian, 381 Mass. 177, 409 N.E.2d 167,
176 (1980).

The plaintiff rented and attempted to sell her former
residence through a lease and sales arrangement. The
plaintiff agreed to provide the defendant, if necessary, with
a purchase money mortgage in an amount between
$5,000.00 and $7,500.00 at a rate of prime plus two per cent
for a five-year period. The defendant would obtain
financing for the outstanding balance. Other than this
property, the plaintiff was not in the business of renting or
selling residential property.

Remedies under the Consumer Protection Act are "not
available where the transaction is strictly private in nature,
and is in no way undertaken in the ordinary course of a
trade or business." Lantner v. Carson, 374 Mass. 606, 373
N.E.2d 973, 975(1978). We do not find the plaintiff's
involvement in this transaction, by itself, sufficient to
constitute "trade or commerce" within the meaning of RSA
358-A:2.

Similarly, isolated sales of property by an owner are not
subject to the Consumer Protection Act. The purpose of the
Act "is to ensure an equitable relationship between
consumers and persons engaged in business." McGrath v.
Mishara, 386 Mass. 74, 434 N.E.2d 1215, 1222 (1982). The

plaintiff was not a real estate professional engaged in the
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business of renting or selling properties. Cf. Gilmore, 135
N.H. at 236, 604 A.2d at 555; Nei v. Burley, 388 Mass. 307,
446 N.E.2d 674, 680 (1983).

An individual homeowner who decides to sell his residence
stands in no better bargaining position than the individual
consumer. Both parties have rights and liabilities
established under common law principles of contract, tort,
and property law. Thus, arming the "consumer" in this
circumstance does not serve to equalize the positions of
buyer and seller. Rather, it serves to give superior rights to
only one of the parties, even though as nonprofessionals
both stand on equal footing.

Lantner, 373 N.E.2d at 977.

If we were to adopt the defendant's view that the Consumer

Protection Act applied [729 A.2d 425] to this transaction,
any isolated lease or sale of property would be a
comimercial transaction subject to the Act, and every buyer
would be at an advantage over the seller. Cf. Chase, 122
N.H. at 601-02, 448 A.2d at 391-92. We decline to hold
homeowners, such as the plaintiff, who personally sell their
homes either directly or through lease and sales
arrangements, liable under the Consumer Protection Act.

Reversed.

BRODERICK, J., did not sit; the others concurred.
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BASSETT, J.

The defendants, Stryker Biotech, LLC (Biotech) and
Stryker Sales Corporation (Sales) (collectively = Stryker),
and Turner Construction Company (Turner), appeal a ruling
of the Superior Court (McNamara, 1.) finding them liable
on a theory of unjust enrichment and awarding damages to
the plaintiff, Axenics, Inc. f/k/a RenTec Corporation
(Axenics). Axenics cross-appeals, challenging the amount
of damages awarded and the trial court's failure to find the
defendants liable on its breach of contract and New
Hampshire Consumer Protection Act (CPA) claims, see
RSA ch. 358-A (2009 & Supp.2012). We affirm in part,
reverse in part, vacate in part, and remand.
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The trial court found, or the record establishes, the
following facts. This case arises out of the construction of a

biotech facility (facility) in West Lebanon. Biotech operates
the facility, and Sales owns the property where it is located.
Tumer was hired as the general contractor to build the
facility. Axenics provides "manufacturing, installation, and
field services for ultrapure gas and liquid distribution
systems in the biotechnology, pharmaceutical, and
semiconductor industries.”

On April 15, 2004, Axenics entered into a subcontract with

Turner to furnish labor, materials, equipment, and services
for the installation of "process pipe" at the facility. The
original subcontract price was $1,992,506. Both parties
agreed that the facility would be completed as quickly as
possible. The "mechanical completion” date for the facility,
including the process pipe installation, was December 2004.
Ultimately, Axenics' last day on the job was June 2, 2005.

The subcontract contemplated the possibility of delays and
hindrances as well as changes to the scope of the work and
its cost. The subcontract provided that "all instructions
given to [Axenics'] supervisory or management personnel
by Turner's Superintendent,  Engineer, or other duly
authorized representative shall be understood to be included
as part of this Subcontract.” If Axenics believed "work to be
beyond the scope of" the subcontract, it was required to
inform Turner before proceeding.

[62 A.3d 759] In the event that the parties could not reach
an agreement at that time, Turner could issue "an S.L.S.
(Superintendent's Instructions to Subcontractors) for record
purposes until such an agreement [could] be reached."

In the event that Turner directed additional work to be
performed "and the value of such work [was] to be
determined other than by actual signed tickets for material,”
Axenics was to "submit a lump sum proposal accompanied
by an itemized breakdown of material, using established
contract unit rates where applicable.” The "lump sum
proposal” had to be "accompanied by accurate written
estimates of the cost” and "be submitted to Tumner within
five (5) calendar days of the receipt of the directive." If the
"[plroposals for additional work" were not received within
five calendar days, Turner would "assign a fair and
reasonable value for the additional work, and the additional
work wlould] become part of [Axenics'] scope of work."

Likewise, when Axenics initiated requests for changes to
the work, it had to "provide [a] written request for change
and obtain Turner's written
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concurrence before proceeding with any Work believed not
to be within the scope of [the] subcontract." The



subcontract further provided that if Axenics was "delayed,
obstructed, hindered or interfered with in the
commencement, prosecution or completion of the" work, it
was required to notify Turner in writing about what caused
the delay within forty-eight hours "of the commencement
thereof." Axenics also had to demonstrate that it could not
have anticipated or avoided the delay and had "used all
available means to minimize the consequences thereof."
This notice was "an essential condition precedent to
[Axenics'] rights in connection with any such delays,
obstructive hindrances or interferences.”

In addition, in the subcontract, Axenics agreed:

that it shall not be entitled to nor claim any cost
reimbursement, compensation or damages for any delay,
obstruction, hindrance or interference to the Work except to
the extent that Turner has actually recovered corresponding
cost reimbursement, compensation or damages from the
Owner under the Contract Documents for such delay,
obstruction, hindrance or interference, and then only to the
extent of the amount, if any, which Turner on behalf of
[Axenics], actually received from the Owner on account of
such delay, obstruction, hindrance or interference.
Notwithstanding any term or provision herein to the
contrary, [Axenics] expressly waives and releases all claims
orrights to recover lost profit (except for profit on work
actually performed), recovery of overhead (including home
office overhead), and any other indirect damages, costs or
expenses in any way arising out of or related to the
[subcontract], including the breach thereof by Turner,
delays, charges, acceleration, loss of efficiency or
productivity ~disruptions and interferences with the
performance of the work.

Axenics' "work [was] to be coordinated with the structural,
architectural and [mechanical, electrical, and plumbing]
services prior to fabrication,” and "[p]roject coordination
procedures [were] outlined in [an] attached project
coordination plan." The project coordination plan provided
that: (1) Turner was responsible for scheduling, facilitating,
and controlling the "coordination process” ; (2) the engineer
was responsible for supporting and reviewing "design
changes required due to field coordination issues” ; and (3)
Axenics was responsible for producing, maintaining, and
approving "coordination drawings” as well as implementing
"coordination[-]driven images."

[62 A.3d 760] Several delays, which affected Axenics'
work, arose during construction of the facility. Some of the
delays caused the schedule to be compressed and required
Axenics personnel to work overtime to complete the work
on time. [164 N.H. 664] In addition, there were occasions
when Turner requested changes to the process piping,
which Axenics believed to be a "change in scope.” When
this occurred, Axenics was instructed to continue working

and that "SISs [would] follow.”

During construction, Turner met with Stryker weekly to
review change order requests. Change order requests, as
well as applications for payment, had to be approved by
Stryker. Axenics submitted eight written change orders,
which upon approval by Turner and Stryker, increased the
contract price to $2,518,078. The change orders that
increased the contract price contained the following
language:

Through acceptance of this Change Order, [Axenics]
acknowledges that it has reviewed the progress of the Work
related to this Project and the potential impact of the added
work on the progress of the project in the future. As a
result, this Change Order includes compensation to
[Axenics] for any and all effects, delays, inefficiencies or
similar demands associated with this Project and [Axenics]
recognizes that there is no basis for any such claim in the
future.

Please note that all other terms and conditions of the
subcontract remain unchanged and that all costs to maintain
our original contract schedule with the inclusion of the
adjusted scope of work as set forth by this change order are
included within the lump sum change order amount stated
herein.

Axenics later submitted a ninth change order, in the
amount of $435,929, which it characterized as a "Claim
Settlement." The defendants did not pay this change order.

In late 2004, a dispute arose when Axenics notified Tumer
of additional change orders related to delays and work that
it believed to be outside the scope of the contract. Turner
initially responded to Axenics' request with an email
"rejecting the claim." However, during the next several
months, Axenics worked with Turner to obtain payment
from Stryker for these change orders. Stryker questioned
some of the work for which Axenics sought payment and
requested that Axenics submit backup documentation for its
requests. Tumer assisted Axenics in preparing a
presentation for Stryker regarding the requested funds, and
Axenics made its presentation to Stryker in April 2005.
Before the presentation, Turner representatives provided
Stryker with rebuttal to some of Axenics' requests for
additional payment, but also told Stryker that it agreed with
several of them. Subsequently, Stryker refused to pay
Axenics the requested funds.

In November 2007, Axenics sued the defendants, asserting
that Turner had breached the subcontract when it failed to
pay Axenics sums due.
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Axenics also brought claims against Turner and Stryker for



violation of the CPA and unjust enrichment. It sought $1.7
million in damages for materials, labor, equipment, and
services as well as enhanced damages under the CPA and
attorney's fees. In response, the defendants counterclaimed,
alleging breach of contract and violations of the CPA.

At the conclusion of the eighteen-day trial, in its post-trial
memorandum Axenics alleged that "Turner deviated from
the ... subcontract ... in so many material respects” that
Turner had "abandoned the [s]ubcontract, and [Axenics],
rather than declaring breach, continued working."
According [62 A.3d 761] to Axenics, thisreflected the
parties' mutual agreement to abandon the subcontract,
making unjust enrichment "available to compensate
[Axenics] for the benefits it conferred on Turner and
Stryker through its work at the" facility. Axenics further
alleged that Tumner breached the subcontract by
intentionally delaying payments and failing to coordinate
Axenics' work with that of the other subcontractors, which
hindered and delayed Axenics' performance of its
contractual duties.

The court issued a lengthy decision in which it found that
neither party had abandoned the subcontract and ruled
against Axenics on its breach of contract claim. However,
the trial court ruled in favor of Axenics on its unjust
enrichment claim, concluded that the defendants were
jointly liable, and awarded Axenics $1,080,000 in
restitution damages. With respect to Axenics' CPA claim,
the court ruled "that neither Stryker's nor Turner's actions"
violated the CPA. Finally, the court ruled against the
defendants on all of their counterclaims, including their
request for attorney's fees. This appeal and cross-appeal
followed.

On appeal, the defendants argue that the trial court erred in
allowing Axenics to recover "in unjust enrichment because
a valid, express contract governed the precise subject matter
of Axenics' unjust enrichment claim, and that contract was
neither abandoned nor breached." They further contend that
the court erred in finding them "liable for unjust enrichment
when they did not receive a benefit that would be
unconscionable to retain," and "the record was devoid of
any evidence showing the value of any extra-contractual

benefit [they] purportedly received." Finally, they argue
that the court violated New Hampshire Rule of Evidence

408 by failing to exclude evidence of an offer to
compromise.

AxXenics cross-appeals, arguing that the trial court erred in
failing to find that the parties had abandoned the
subcontract. In the alternative, Axenics argues that the trial
court should have found "that Turner breached the
[s]ubcontract.” Axenics also claims that, regardless of
whether the subcontract was abandoned or breached, the
trial court erred by not awarding it "damages measured by

its costs plus reasonable profit, or $1.7 million." In addition,
Axenics maintains that the trial court erred in failing to find
that
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the defendants violated the CPA. We first address the
parties' arguments regarding abandonment and breach of
contract and then turn to their arguments regarding unjust
enrichment, damages, and the CPA.

I Contract Abandonment

Axenics argues that the trial court erred in failing to find
that the subcontract was abandoned because it was "referred
to by all parties on a ' guideline' basis if at all and was never
adhered to by any of the parties.” "Generally, contract
abandonment occurs when both parties depart from the
terms of the contract by mutual consent." J.A. Jones Constr,
v. Lehrer McGovern Bovis, 120 Nev. 277, 89 P.3d 1009,
1019 (2004); see Young v. Barry, 107 N.H. 294, 296, 220
A.2d 735 (1966). Abandonment "may be accomplished by
express mutual consent or by implied consent through the
actions of the parties." O'Brien & Gere Technical v.
Fru-Con/Fluor Daniel, 380 F.3d 447, 455 (8th Cir.2004)
(quotation omitted) (applying Missouri law). "Where acts
and conduct are relied on to constitute an abandonment,
they must be positive, unequivocal and inconsistent with an
intent to be further bound by the contract." Fru-Con/Fluor
Daniel v. Corrigan Brothers, 154 S.W.3d 330, 335
(Mo.Ct.App.2004); see also

[62 A.3d 762]| Harris v. IES Associates, Inc., 69 P.3d 297,
308 (Utah Ct.App.2003) (" A contract may be [abandoned]
by acts or conduct of the parties inconsistent with the
continued existence of the contract.”" (quotation omitted));
17A Am.Jur.2d Contracts § 528 (2004) (" A contract will
generally be treated as abandoned when one party acts in a
manner inconsistent with the existence of the contract and
the other party acquiesces in that behavior." ).
Abandonment of a construction contract may occur because
of "the aggregation of numerous changes to the contract
over time." Clarendon America v. General Sec. Indem., 193
Cal.App.4th 1311, 124 Cal.Rptr.3d 1, 6 (2011).

"Abandonment of a contract is a mixed question of law and
fact; what constitutes an abandonment is a matter of law,
and whether there has been an abandonment is a question of
fact." 17A Am.Jur.2d Contracts § 529. But sce J.A. Jones
Const., 89 P.3d at 1019 (" The issue of whether contract
abandonment has occurred generally presents a question of
fact." ); Fru-Con/Fluor Daniel, 154 S.W.3d at 335 (same).
"We will not overturn the trial court's ruling on a mixed
question unless it is clearly erroneous." Hogan Family
Enters. v. Town of Rye, 157 N.H. 453, 456, 951 A.2d 159
(2008) (quotation omitted). If'the court misapplies the law



to its factual findings, however, we will review the matter
de novo. Seeid.

In this case, there was no express agreement to abandon the
contract. Rather, in support of its abandonment theory,
Axenics points to specific instances where Axenics and
Tumner deviated from, or failed to follow,
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provisions of the subcontract, and it argues that the parties'
conduct evinced an intention to abandon the subcontract.
We disagree. Although there were a number of change
orders that caused the work and its cost to differ from that
to which the parties originally agreed, the scope of the
work— the installation of process pipe— did not change.
SeeClarendon America, 124 Cal.Rptr.3d at 6 (finding there
was no "evidence that an excessive number of changes to
the scope of work resulted in abandonment” ). In
Fru-Con/Fluor Daniel, 154 SSW.3d at 335, the Missouri
Appeals Court found that, despite a large number of
changes, the parties had not abandoned the construction
contract because the contract itself allowed such changes.
Likewise, the subcontract in this case contemplated that
there might be changes to the work and its cost.
Importantly, the subcontract also provided for possible
schedule adjustments, delay, hindrances, and obstructions.
Accordingly, the fact that there were numerous change
orders does not evidence the parties' intent to abandon the
subcontract. Moreover, there is no evidence that either party
failed to preserve its rights under the contract. Sec
Clarendon America, 124 CalRptr.3d at 6 (finding no
contract abandonment, in part, when underlying parties
expressly retained rights under contract); EMF General
Contracting Corp. v. Bisbee, 6 AD.3d 45, 774 N.Y.S.2d
39, 43 (2004) (citing to cases in which abandonment was
found when parties took steps inconsistent with enforcing
their rights under contract). Under these circumstances, we
conclude that the trial court correctly determined that the
parties did not abandon the subcontract.

1I. Breach of Contract

Axenics next argues that the trial court erred in failing to
find that Turner breached the subcontract. Axenics
maintains that the trial court conflated breach of contract
with contract abandonment, "which led [it] to erroneously
conclude that because it found no abandonment there was
no breach, although the court's specific [62 A.3d 763]
findings detailed numerous breaches." Thus, Axenics
asserts that "the court failed to consider the elements of
breach ... and failed to consider whether Turner had
breached the contract by any means other than abandoning
it."

The defendants maintain that Axenics waived this issue by

failing to raise it in its notice of cross-appeal.
SeeProgressive N. Ins. Co. v. Argonaut Ins. Co., 161 N.H.
778, 784, 20 A.3d 977 (2011). Axenics' notice of
cross-appeal presented the question: "Did the Superior
Court err in determining that the parties had not abandoned
the subject Subcontract?” Supreme Court Rule 16(3)(b)
provides, in relevant part

While the statement of a question [in a brief] need not be
worded exactly as it was in the appeal document, the
question presented
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shall be the same as the question previously set forth in the
appeal document. The statement of a question presented
will be deemed to include every subsidiary question fairly
comprised therein.

Because of the fashion in which the trial court addressed
Axenics' breach of contract and abandonment claims, we
conclude that Axenics' abandonment question fairly
encompasses the issue of whether the trial court erred in
conflating abandonment with breach of contract. Cf. In re
Juvenile 2003-187, 151 N.H. 14, 16, 846 A.2d 1207 (2004)
(concluding that, under facts and circumstances of case,
question of whether evidence of juvenile's actus reus was
sufficient was “inextricably linked with, and fairly
comprise[d] a subsidiary question to, the ultimate issue of
the sufficiency of the evidence as to the juvenile's mens rea
with regard to that action" ). Accordingly, we will address
this argument.

We agree with Axenics that the trial court conflated breach
of contract and contract abandonment and, therefore, failed
to rule specifically on Axenics' breach of contract claim. In
its order, the trial court characterized Axenics' breach of
contract claim as alleging "that Turner breached its
contractual agreement by abandoning the contract." It then
analyzed whether the parties had abandoned the
subcontract, finding that "neither Axenics nor Turner
expressed any intent to abandon the contract,” and
concluding not only that "the contract was not abandoned,”
but that Turner had not breached the subcontract.

Whether the parties abandoned the subcontract, and
whether Turner breached the subcontract, however, are two
separate questions. As stated above, "contract abandonment
occurs when both parties depart from the terms of the
contract by mutual consent." J.A. Jones Constr., 89 P.3d at
1019. On the other hand, "[a] breach of contract occurs
when there is a failure without legal excuse to perform any
promise which forms the whole or part of a contract.”
Lassonde v. Stanton, 157 N.H. 582, 588, 956 A.2d 332
(2008) (quotation and brackets omitted). Here, because the
trial court conflated contract abandonment with contract



breach, it failed to specifically address Axenics' claim that
Turner breached the subcontract. We, therefore, vacate the
trial court's finding against Axenics on its breach of contract
claim and remand for the trial court to determine whether
Turner breached the subcontract as alleged by Axenics.
SeeBarrows v. Boles, 141 N.H. 382, 388, 687 A.2d 979
(1996) (" Whether conduct is a material breach is a question
for the trier of fact to determine from the facts and
circumstances of the case." (quotation and brackets
omitted)). It is within the trial court's discretion as to
whether it should hold an additional hearing.

[164 N.H. 669] III. Unjust Enrichment

The defendants argue that the trial court erred in ruling that
they were [62 A.3d 764] unjustly enriched. "The propriety
of affording equitable relief in a particular case rests in the
sound discretion of the trial court." Clapp v. Goffstown Sch.
Dist., 159 N.H. 206, 210, 977 A.2d 1021 (2009) (quotation
omitted). Consequently, we review a trial court's equitable
determination for an unsustainable exercise of discretion.
Seeid. To show an unsustainable exercise of discretion, the
defendants must demonstrate that the court's ruling was
clearly unreasonable or untenable to the prejudice of their
case. Id. Although the award of equitable relief is within the
sound discretion of the trial court, that "discretion must be
exercised, not in opposition to, but in accordance with,
established principles of law." Id. (quotation omitted). We
will first address the trial court's finding that Turner was
unjustly enriched and, therefore, liable to Axenics.

A. Turner

The defendants maintain that the trial court erred in
allowing recovery against Turner under the theory of unjust
enrichment "because the precise subject matter of Axenics'
claim— the Extra Work purportedly performed in
completing the piping installation— was covered by the
parties' contract." Axenics counters that it was entitled to
recover under a theory of unjust enrichment because the
extra work that it performed was outside the scope of the
subcontract.

Unjust enrichment is an equitable remedy that is available
when an individual receives "a benefit which would be
unconscionable for him to retain.” Id. (quotation omitted). It
is not a boundless doctrine, but is, instead, "narrower, more
predictable, and more objectively determined than the
implications of the words unjust enrichment." . (quotation
omitted). One general limitation is that unjust enrichment
may not supplant the terms of an agreement. /d. It is a
well-established principle that the court cannot allow
recovery under a theory of unjust enrichment when there is
a valid, express contract covering the subject matter at
hand. J/d. at 210-11, 977 A.2d 1021; seeSinger Asset
Finance Co. v. Wyner, 156 N.H. 468, 476, 937 A.2d 303

(2007) (finding that, in absence of valid and enforceable
contract, trial court properly entered summary judgment for
plaintiff on unjust enrichment claim). This is so because
"[r]estitution is ... subordinate to contract as an organizing
principle of private relationships, and the terms of an
enforceable agreement normally displace any claim of
unjust enrichment within their reach.” Restatement (Third)
of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment § 2 comment ¢ at 17
(2011). Nevertheless, unjust enrichment
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may be available to contracting parties if the benefit
received is outside the scope of the contract. Clapp, 159
N.H. at 211, 977 A.2d 1021.

We agree with the defendants that Axenics cannot recover
against Turner under an unjust enrichment theory. The
gravamen of Axenics' unjust enrichment claim is that
Turner's failure to properly coordinate construction of the
facility caused Axenics personnel to work overtime and to
incur additional costs that it would not have had to incur in
order to fulfill its obligations in a timely manner. This
subject matter— Turner's responsibilities for coordinating
changes to the work and Axenics' entitlement to payment
for any resulting extra work it performed or extra costs it
incurred— was addressed in the subcontract itself. Axenics
does not argue that the ultimate contractual objective—-
installing process piping— changed during the course of the
contract. Instead, it argues that to achieve that objective on
time required extra work and costs. As laid out above, the
terms of the subcontract {62 A.3d 765] expressly addressed
the possibility of delays and hindrances as well as the
process by which Axenics would receive payment for any
extra work that it performed because of change orders. The
subcontract also established a mechanism for proceeding
when Axenics believed the "work to be beyond the scope
of" the subcontract, and delineated Turner's responsibilities
for coordinating changes to the work. Since the subcontract
governed the subject of Axenics' unjust enrichment claim,
and the subcontract was not abandoned by the parties, the
trial court erred in allowing Axenics to recover against
Turner under a theory of unjust enrichment. Seeid. at
211-12, 977 A.2d 1021; ADP Marshall Inc. v. Noresco,
LLC, 710 F.Supp.2d 197, 230 (D.R1.2010) (applying
Rhode Island law and finding that subcontractor could not
recover against general contractor under theory of unjust
enrichment when majority of subcontractor's claims were
based upon work that was within scope of parties'
agreement).

Axenics argues that the parties orally modified the change
order process set forth in the subcontract and that the extra
work it performed pursuant to the modifications necessarily
fell outside the scope of the subcontract. It asserts,
therefore, that it is entitled to unjust enrichment damages.



As discussed above, we disagree that the extra work
performed fell outside the scope of the subcontract. Simply
because the parties may have orally modified the change
order process does not render the work Axenics performed
after such modifications outside the scope of the
subcontract itself,

Axenics further relies upon R.J. Berke & Co. v. JP.
Griffin, Inc., 116 N.H. 760, 367 A.2d 583 (1976), in
arguing that it is entitled to recover against Turner on a
theory of unjust enrichment. In R.J. Berke, we held that
quantum meruit is arestitutionary remedy available to a
party that materially breaches a
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contract, and thus, has no contract remedies. R.J. Berke,
116 N.H. at 764, 367 A.2d 583. This holding does not
support Axenics' argument. Here, Axenics does not argue
that ir breached the subcontract, is therefore without
contract remedies, and, consequently, would be entitled to
recover the value of the labor and materials furnished under
the breached subcontract. Rather, Axenics claims that "the
parties orally modified the change order procedure for
Axenics' extra work and that the extra work fell outside the
scope of the Subcontract." Thus, R.J. Berke is inapposite.

Axenics' reliance upon Puritan Mills, Inc. v. Pickering
Construction Co., 152 Ga.App. 309, 262 S.E.2d 586 (1979),
is also misplaced. In Puritan Mills, the defendant entered
into a contract with the plaintiff to construct loading docks.
Puritan Mills, 262 SE.2d at 587. Upon completion, the
defendant sought recovery against the plaintiff in quantum
meruit for expenses incurred resulting from a change order,
which required the removal of rock. Jd. The Georgia Court
of Appeals found that "[t]he contract between the parties
clearly set[ ] forth the work to be performed and none of the
five items describing the work or the drawings reflect[ed]
the removal of rock as a part of the contract." Jd.
Accordingly, since the contract did not contemplate the
removal of rock, and there was no question that the plaintiff
knowingly accepted the defendant's services in removing
the rock, the court upheld the trial court's monetary award
for the reasonable value of removal of rock. Id. at 587-88.
Here, however, the subcontract addressed the subject matter
of Axenics' unjust enrichment claim. Accordingly, we
reverse the trial court's decision finding Turner liable to
Axenics on its theory of unjust enrichment.

[62 A.3d 766]B. Stryker

The defendants further argue that Axenics' "unjust
enrichment claim [against Stryker] must fail as a matter of
law because [Stryker] has paid for the contractual benefit it
received— the construction of [the facility] according to
[the] contract.” They maintain that any benefit received by

Stryker was both bargained and paid for and that Stryker,
therefore, should not be required to "make restitution.”

"The party seeking restitution must establish not only
unjust enrichment, but that the person sought to be charged
had wrongfully secured a benefit or passively received one
which it would be unconscionable to retain..." Gen.
Insulation Co. v. Eckman Constr., 159 N.H. 601, 611, 992
A.2d 613 (2010) (quotation omitted). When, as here, no
express contractual relationship exists between the parties,
"a trial court may require an individual to make restitution
for unjust enrichment if he has received a benefit that would
be unconscionable to retain." Pella Windows and Doors v.
Faraci, 133 N.H. 585, 586, 580 A.2d 732 (1990) (quotation
and brackets omitted).

{164 N.H. 672] "[T]he circumstances under which an
unjust enrichment claim may be brought by a subcontractor
against an owner, absent privity, are ... limited." Haz-Mat
Response v. Certified Waste Serv., 259 Kan. 166, 910 P.2d
839, 847 (1996). There may be "special circumstances that
would justify requiring the owner to pay," such as when the
owner accepts "benefits rendered under such circumstances
as reasonably notify the owner that the one performing such
services expected to be compensated therefore by the
owner." /d. However,

{tlhe general rule in this area is that a subcontractor who
furnishes material or labor pursuant to an agreement with,
or upon the order and credit off,] a general contractor
cannot recover against the property owner upon the basis of
an implied promise to pay arising from the owner's receipt
and acceptance of the benefit of the material and labor
furnished.

Great Plains Equipment v. N.-W. Pipeline, 132 Idaho 754,
979 P.2d 627, 641 (1999) (quotation omitted); see alsod &
V425 LLC Contracting v. RFD 55th St., 15 Misc.3d 196,
830N.Y.S.2d 637, 646 (Sup.Ct.2007) (" It is a firmly
established principle that a property owner who contracts
with a general contractor does not become liable to a
subcontractor on a quasi-contract theory unless it expressly
consents to pay for the subcontractor's performance.”
(quotation and brackets omitted)).

Consistent with this rule, other courts have found that
"[w]here an owner has fulfilled its financial obligation to a
general contractor, a subcontractor cannot rely on the owner
to satisfy the relationship between the subcontractor and the
general." DJ Painting v. Baraw Enterprises, 172 Vt. 239,
776 A.2d 413, 418 (2001) (collecting cases). This is so, in
part, because "[t]he point of hiring a general contractor for a
construction job is for the general to manage the job and
hire the subcontractors.” Id. at419. "The owner pays the
general contractor, but if the general does not pay the
subcontractors, the subcontractors have the statutory lien



mechanism to attach money as yet unpaid to the general
contractor." Id.;see RSA 447:5 (Supp.2012).

Here, there appears to be no dispute that Stryker has
fulfilled its financial obligation to Turner. Nor is there any
indication  that Stryker accepted benefits under
circumstances reasonably notifying it that Axenics expected
to be compensated directly by Stryker rather than by
Turner. While the trial court found that Stryker "thanked all
of the subcontractors for staying [62 A.3d 767] on schedule
despite several problems that occurred,” the court's reliance
on this finding to support its award against Stryker is
misplaced. In our view, Stryker's expression of gratitude
does not demonstrate that Stryker had knowledge that it
would be directly liable to Axenics for the
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cost of additional work requested by Turner; to the
contrary, this finding arguably supports the conclusion that
Stryker did not expect to pay additional sums directly to
subcontractors such as Axenics. Thus, there is no evidence
that Stryker accepted a Dbenefit that would be
unconscionable to retain. SeePella Windows and Doors,
133 N.H. at 586, 580 A.2d 732; see alsoS & M Rotogravure
Service, Inc. v. Baer, 77 Wis.2d 454, 252 N.W.2d 913,
916-18 (1977) (reviewing cases involving actions for
money by subcontractors against property owners upon
whose property subcontractor had performed construction
work pursuant to agreement with general contractor and
finding rationale to be that when "the defendant had paid
another for the benefits conferred, ... it was not inequitable
to permit the defendant to retain the benefits without paying
the plaintiff" ). Indeed, as the trial court itself found, what
Stryker "received was a project completed on time and in
accordance with the contract specifications." Accordingly,
we hold that the trial courterred in allowing Axenics to
recover against Stryker under a theory of unjust enrichment.
We, therefore, reverse its decision with respect to that issue.

In view of our rulings that the trial court erred in finding
the defendants liable under the theory of unjust enrichment,
we need not address Axenics' argument concerning the
proper measure of damages under that theory.

V. Damages— Admission of Internal Memoranda

The defendants argue that the trial court erred in admitting
and considering as evidence of damages a communication
regarding an offer to compromise in contravention of New
Hampshire Rule of Evidence 408. Because this issue may
arise on remand, we address it. SeeGeorge v. Al Hoyt &
Sons, Inc., 162 N.H. 123, 138, 27 A.3d 697 (2011).

At trial, Axenics sought to admit an internal email
memorandum composed by Turner, which listed possible

contribution amounts from both Turner and Stryker toward
a potential settlement with Axenics. The defendants
objected on the ground that the memorandum constituted a
statement made in compromise negotiations and, thus, was
inadmissible under New Hampshire Rule of Evidence 408.
The trial court overruled the defendants' objection, finding
that because the memorandum "was never communicated to
the .. other side," it was not a statement made in
compromise negotiations. In its final order, the court
reaffirmed this ruling and relied upon the memorandum in
its determination of damages.

New Hampshire Rule of Evidence 408 provides, in relevant
part:

[E]vidence of (1) furnishing or offering or promising to
furnish, or (2) accepting or offering or promising to accept,
a valuable consideration in compromising or attempting to
compromise a
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claim which was disputed as to either validity or amount, is
not admissible to prove liability for or invalidity of the
claim or its amount.

Evidence of conduct or statements made in compromise
negotiations is likewise not admissible.

The Rule "states the basic proposition that evidence of
compromise offers [,] compromise agreements, and conduct
or statements made in compromise negotiations is [62 A.3d
768} inadmissible on questions of liability and damages.”
N.H. R. Ev. 408 Reporter's Notes. "The Rule ... reflects both
doubt as to the probative value of the fact of settlement and
a policy to encourage settlements.” 7d.

To the extent that Axenics argues that the internal
memorandum did not constitute a statement made to
compromise the claim or during compromise negotiations,
we disagree. The language in the memorandum
demonstrates that the amounts listed were under
consideration by the defendants as part of a settlement
package to be submitted to Axenics. Cf Slattery v. Norwood
Realty, 145 N.H. 447, 450, 765 A.2d 143 (2000) (finding
that statement was not offer to compromise disputed claim
but was admission of contractual obligations). The trial
court itself observed that the memorandum "suggests an '
offer' to settle the case."

We have not had occasion to address whether an internal
memorandum, evincing an offer to compromise, which has
not been disclosed to the opposing party, is protected under
Rule 408. However, "[tthe [federal] circuits that have
addressed this issue have agreed that internal memoranda,
although not communicated to the opposing side, are
encompassed within" the similar Federal Rule of Evidence



408. Xcoal Energy & Resources, LP v. Smith, 635
F.Supp.2d 453, 454 (W.D.Va.2009) (discussing cases from
the Third, Fifth, Seventh, Eighth, and Eleventh Circuits).
Conversely, in Blue Circle Adantic v. Falcon Materials,
760 F.Supp. 516, 522 (D.Md.1991), aff'd on other grounds,
960 F.2d 145 (4th Cir.1992) (unpublished opinion), the
United States District Court for the District of Maryland
ruled that Federal Rule of Evidence 408 "does not apply to
internal memoranda unless communicated to the other side
in an attempt at settlement."

We now join the federal circuits in concluding that the
policy objectives of Rule 408 weigh in favor of exclusion of
internal memoranda prepared for the purpose of
compromise negotiations. "The spirit of the Rule, as
recognized by several circuits and as set forth in the
commentary to the Rule, supports the exclusion of certain
work product, internal memos, and other materials created
specifically for the purpose of conciliation,
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even if not communicated to the other party." Xcoal Energy
& Resources, LP, 635 F.Supp.2d at 454 (quotation omitted).
Accordingly, we hold that the trial court erred in admitting
the internal memorandum outlining the defendants' possible
contributions to a settlement with Axenics. Since we have
found the internal memorandum was admitted in error, we
further find that the trial court erred in relying upon it in
assessing damages.

V. CPA Claim

Finally, Axenics challenges the trial court's conclusion that
the defendants did not violate the CPA. "The trial court's
findings of fact and rulings of law will be upheld unless
they lack evidentiary support or constitute clear error of
law." George, 162 N.H. at 129, 27 A.3d 697 (quotation
omitted).

Axenics argues that the trial court's finding that the
defendants' conduct did not violate the CPA was erroneous
"as a matter of law because the court did not make adequate
findings" and "merely jumped to an unsupported
conclusion." Axenics maintains that Tumer instructed it to
perform extra work, which was necessary to complete the
facility on time, and "then secretly subvertfed] Axenics'
legitimate efforts to be paid." Specifically, Axenics asserts
that Turner assured Axenics that it would support Axenics'
claims for payment from Stryker for the extra work [62
A.3d 769] performed and "then presented [a] rebuttal to
Stryker without disclosing to Axenics the existence of the
rebuttal or that Turner had given it to Stryker." According
to Axenics, these actions constituted unfair or deceptive
acts under the CPA. Axenics also argues that "[gliven [the
defendants'] business sophistication and the length and

breadth of the steps each took to subvert, delay, and deny
Axenics' claims, the only reasonable conclusion is that their
[conduct] constitutes a willful or knowing violation of the
[CPA]," entitling Axenics to exemplary damages. We note
that the parties do not dispute on appeal that RSA chapter
358-A applies.

RSA 358-A:2 (2009) states that "[i]t shall be unlawful for
any person to use any unfair method of competition or any
unfair or deceptive act or practice in the conduct of any
trade or commerce within this state." We have previously
recognized that, although this provision is broadly worded,
not all conduct in the course of trade or commerce falls
within its scope. /d. "An ordinary breach of contract claim,
for example, is not a violation of the CPA." Id (quotation
omitted). In determining which commercial actions not
specifically delineated are covered by the CPA, we have
employed the "rascality” test. 7d. Under the rascality test,
"the objectionable conduct must attain a level of rascality
that would raise an
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eyebrow of someone inured to the rough and tumble of the
world of commerce.” Becksted v. Nadeau, 155N.H. 615,
619,926 A.2d 819 (2007) (quotation omitted).

Here, the trial court found that Turner's conduct in
attempting to rebut certain claims by Axenics for payment
for the extra work it performed "may have been unjustified
or inaccurate based on its own failure to coordinate, but
neither Turner's nor Stryker's behavior rose to the level of
rascality required under the" CPA. Although the court noted
Axenics' allegation that "Turner never requested additional
funds from Stryker" for the extra work performed by
Axenics, itultimately found that was "not the case." The
court found that "Turner merely requested back-up from
Axenics [to support its claims for payment] and provided
Stryker with a rebuttal to some of Axenics' claims.” Indeed,
the court found that Turner provided documentation to
Stryker concerning Axenics' claims for payment, "stating
that many of Axenics' claims had merit." The trial court
further found that:

Although Turner's own documents suggest that it knew that
Axenics' claim had value, Axenics did a poor job of
documenting why its claims exceeded the amount bid.
Moreover, both the documents introduced at trial and the
public record of the litigation establish{ed] a level of
brinkmanship and hard bargaining, by both sides, which is
hardly commendable, but far from uncommon.

These findings are sufficient to support the trial court's
ultimate conclusion "that the parties' conduct, in the context
of the ' rough and tumble' construction business, did not



violate the CPA."

Moreover, the record supports the trial court's findings that
Turner made efforts to collect and organize back-up
documents to support some of Axenics' claims for payment,
and that Turner supported the validity of some of Axenics’
claims for payment. In addition, trial testimony indicated
that "there was no secret" that Turner was going to review
the back-up. Although Turner did not inform Axenics that it
was preparing a rebuttal to some of Axenics' claims because
it believed it "had an obligation to Stryker to review the
backup and present it to them," this conduct is not of the
type proscribed by the CPA. Cf.

[62 A.3d 770] State v. Moran, 151 N.H. 450, 453-54, 861
A.2d 763 (2004) (defendant violated CPA by inducing
homeowners to enter into contract with him to install siding
when he did not intend to perform work, and he made
misrepresentations to homeowners in effort to avoid
performing work or refunding deposit).

Axenics further contends that certain of the defendants'
litigation strategies violated the CPA because they were
"unfair”" and were "designed
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to further delay the adjudication of Axenics' claim and
make the litigation prohibitively expensive." Assuming,
without deciding, that unfair litigation tactics fall within the
scope of the CPA, Axenics has failed to demonstrate that
the defendants' litigation tactics in this case were so
egregious as to satisfy the rascality test. Accordingly, we
conclude that the trial court did noterr in finding that the
defendants did not act "in a way that would raise an
eyebrow of someone inured to the rough and tumble of the
world of commerce.” Boles, 141 N.H. at 391, 637 A.2d 979
(quotation omitted).

Affirmed in part; reversed in part; vacated in part; and
remanded.

DALIANIS, C.J., and HICKS, CONBOY and LYNN, JJ,,
concurred.
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OPINION
[164 A.3d 992]
Hicks, J.

The plaintiff, Fat Bullies Farm, LLC (Fat Bullies), and the
counterclaim defendants, Donald Gould and Peter
Simmons, appeal various findings and rulings of the
Superior Court ( Wageling, J.) made during the course of
litigation with the defendants, Alan and Donna Perkins and
Lori and Bret Devenport, involving the sale of a 3.1 acre
horse farm in North Hampton known as Runnymede Farm.
We affirm in part, reverse in part, and remand.

1. Factual Background

The following facts, taken from the trial court's \./arious
orders in this case, are relevant to our analysis. The
Devenports bought Runnymede Farm in 1998. The property
housed a barn, an apartment, and stables, and included a
grazing easement over adjoining lots. When the Devenports
purchased the property, they promised to operate it as a
horse farm in perpetuity, and to allow the former owner --
not a party to this case -- to maintain an office on site.

On July 15, 2010, the Devenports ran into Simmons -- a
real estate investor -- at a local restaurant. Because they had
been contemplating  selling Runnymede, the Devenports
asked Simmons if he knew someone [164 A.3d 993] who
might be interested in purchasing the property. Simmons
later told them that he was interested, and inquired into its
purchase price. Bret Devenport responded that they were
asking $800,000, and that they would only sell Runnymede
if the buyer agreed to continue operating the property as a
horse farm and to allow the former owner to maintain an
office on site.

Simmons thereafter spoke with Gould -- a retired
Massachusetts attorney -- about purchasing the property
jointly with the intent to develop and/or resell it. Gould
agreed, and the two created Fat Bullies " for the purpose of
acquiring real estate for development or resale.” Simmons
and Gould then contacted an attorney, who drafted an "
option agreement” to be executed by the Devenports and
Fat Bullies. The draft option agreement stated a purchase
price of $700,000.

According to the testimony generally credited by the trial
court, the following day, July 16, Simmons and Gould went
to Runnymede to meet with the Devenports. Simmons
introduced Gould as his attorney, and
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explained that they were there to talk about purchasing the
farm. Simmons asked to see the trophies won by the farm's
horses and the stall of a famous horse previously boarded
there. Simmons, Gould, and the Devenports atso discussed
various topics, including the cost of running Runnymede,
who would manage the farm, and the horses that were
currently being boarded there.

Simmons provided the Devenports with a copy of the draft
option agreement. The Devenports reviewed the draft
agreement, which they believed to be akin to a right of first
refusal. The contract was amended to reflect a purchase
price of $800,000. The Devenports reiterated that they
would sell the property only if Fat Bullies committed to
operating it as a horse farm. Despite their intentions to
develop the property, Simmons and Gould agreed. The



Devenports and Fat Bullies then executed the agreement,
which provided:

OPTION TO PURCHASE

The Parties, Bret Devenport and Lori Devenport ("' Sellers"
) ... and Fat Bullies Farm (" Buyer" ), do hereby agree as
follows:

1. That Buyer shall have an Option to Purchase (" Option"
) the approximately 3-acre farm, commonly known as
Runnymede Farm, located at 62 Atlantic Avenue ("
Property" ) for $800,000.

2. That such Option shall be for a 90-day period from the
date of the signing of this Option. Such 90-day period ends
on October 14, 2010.

3. That such Option shall be in consideration for $1,000.00
cash, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged by
Sellers.

4. During the 90-day Option period, the parties shall
consult with each other in order to determine the method of
payment that is most mutually beneficial for tax purposes.

Pursuant to this agreement, Fat Bullies paid the Devenports
$1,000.

The next day, Simmons and Gould returned to Runnymede
to take photographs of the property. While there, Simmons
told Lori Devenport that he could see his grandchildren
growing up on the farm.

Later that month, Bret Devenport called Simmons to speak
about the manner of payment. Simmons told Bret
Devenport that he was busy and would return the call later,
but it appears that he did not do so. On several occasions
Bret Devenport tried to speak with Simmons about
payment, to no avail.

[170 N.H. 22] Also in July 2010, Simmons began speaking

to others in North Hampton, asking whether they were
interested in purchasing [164 A.3d 994] Runnymede. After
hearing this, Lori Devenport sent a letter on October 11,
2010, to Simmons informing him that the Devenports no
longer wanted to sell the farm. She sent this letter because
she believed that Simmons had lied to them when he
promised to operate Runnymede as a horse farm. However,
the letter stated that the Devenports had decided not to sell
Runnymede because their children were still in school.

On October 12, 2010, Simmons visited Runnymede and
asked the Devenports if they were ready to close the sale on
the property. Bret Devenport replied that they were not
going to sell Simmons the farm. As stated by the trial court,
Simmons responded that he would sue the Devenports and

would " own Runnymede within 24 hours." Fat Bullies also
sent aletter to the Devenports purporting to invoke the
option to purchase the farm. Despite Fat Bullies' efforts, the
Devenports refused to sell it the property. Instead, in April
2011, the Devenports sold Runnymede to the Perkinses.

Simmons thereafter confronted Bret Devenport at a gas
station, and stated something to the following effect:

You've got to make this better. You have until Wednesday

morning or the hammer is going to come down. I know
where you live . ... You can run but you cannot hide. I will
take you to court and it will cost you thousands of dollars
and not cost me anything.

(Quotation omitted.) The Devenports refused to attempt to
invalidate the sale of the property to the Perkinses and this
litigation followed.

II. Procedural History

This litigation consists of four separately filed actions,
which the trial court consolidated. Fat Bullies first filed suit
against the Devenports, alleging, among other things,
breach of the option agreement. It thereafter filed two
actions against the Perkinses alleging tortious interference
with contractual relations -- one secking monetary relief,
and the other seeking equitable relief. Finally, the
defendants brought an action against Fat Bullies, Simmons,
and Gould in which the Devenports asserted a fraudulent
inducement claim, and the Devenports and Perkinses
collectively asserted a claim under the Consumer Protection
Act (CPA), see RSA ch. 358-A (2009 & Supp. 2016),
among other things.

The parties' claims were resolved at various stages of
litigation. The trial court dismissed Fat Bullies' claim
seeking equitable relief against the Perkinses for purported
tortious interference with the option agreement,
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and granted summary judgment to the Perkinses on Fat
Bullies' remaining tortious interference claim. The
Perkinses voluntarily non-suited their CPA claim. After
trial, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Devenports
on Fat Bullies' breach of contract claim, finding that Fat
Bullies failed to prove the existence of a contract by a
preponderance of the evidence, and a verdict in favor of Fat
Bullies, Simmons, and Gould on the Devenports' fraudulent
inducement claim. Additionally, the jury returned an
advisory verdict against Fat Bullies and Simmons, but in
favor of Gould, on the Devenports' CPA claim. The trial
court then denied Fat Bullies and Simmons's motion to set
aside the advisory verdict on the Devenports' CPA claim,
effectively adopting the jury's advisory verdict.



The trial court also made various non-dispositive rulings

against Fat Bullies during the course of litigation. The
adverse rulings relevant to this appeal include a ruling
granting the defendants’ motion to quash a deposition
subpoena duces tecum and a ruling limiting the
cross-examination of one of the Devenports' witnesses at
trial. The trial court also: (1) awarded [164 A.3d 995]
attorney's fees and costs to the Perkinses, finding that Fat
Bullies' claims against them were brought in bad faith; (2)
awarded double attorney's fees and double costs to the
Devenports as damages under the CPA; (3) determined that
the Devenports reasonably incurred $323,593 in fees and
$18,233.41 in costs, and that the Perkinses reasonably
incurred $199,181.84 in fees and $955.60 in costs; and (4)
determined that both Simmons and Gould were personally
liable for the payment of the Perkinses' attorney's fees and
costs. This appeal followed.

Il Analysis

Fat Bullies, Simmons, and Gould now appeal: (1) the trial
court's adoption of the advisory jury verdict on the
Devenports' CPA claim; (2) the trial court's award of double
attorney's fees and costs to the Devenports as damages
under the CPA; (3) the trial court’s grant of summary
judgment to the Perkinses on Fat Bullies' claim seeking
monetary relief for the Perkinses' purported tortious
interference with the option agreement; (4) the trial court's
award of attorney's fees and costs to the Perkinses; (5) the
trial court's determination as to the reasonableness of the
requested fees; (6) the trial court's ruling that Gould and
Simmons were personally liable for payment; and (7) the
trial court's rulings quashing Fat Bullies' deposition
subpoena duces tecum and limiting the cross-examination
of one of the Devenports' witnesses at trial. We address
these issues in turn.

A. CPA Claim

Fat Bullies and Simmons argue that the trial court erred in
finding that they violated the CPA. See RSA ch. 358-A.
They assert, among other

Page 24

things, that their conduct did not rise to the level of a CPA
violation -- in other words, that it did not constitute an "
unfair or deceptive act or practice” as contemplated by the
act. RSA 358-A:2 (Supp. 2016). In opposition, the
Devenports contend that the trial court properly ruled that
Fat Bullies and Simmons violated the CPA by engaging in *
one long unfair and unscrupulous course of conduct." " The
trial court's findings of fact and rulings of law will be
upheld unless they lack evidentiary support or constitute
clear error of law." Beer v. Bennett, 160 N.H. 166, 168-69,
993 A.2d 765 (2010) (quotation omitted); cfIncase, Inc. v.

Timex Corp., 421 F.Supp.2d 226, 239 (D. Mass. 2006)
(explaining that question of whether conduct is unfair or
deceptive is a question of fact under Massachusetts
Consumer Protection Act).

The CPA proscribes unfair or deceptive trade practices in
general, and sets forth a list of specific types of conduct that
qualify as unfair or deceptive trade practices. State v.
Moran, 151 N.H. 450, 452, 861 A.2d 763 (2004). Here, it is
the general proscription that is at issue. Although the
general provision of the CPA is broadly worded, we have
recognized that not all conduct in the course of trade or
commerce falls within its scope. /d. " An ordinary breach of
contract claim, for example, is not a violation of the CPA."
George v. Al Hoyt & Sons, Inc., 162 N.H. 123, 129, 27 A.3d
697 (2011) (quotation omitted).

" In determining which commercial actions not specifically

delineated are covered by the act, we have employed the
‘rascality’ test." Jd. " Under the rascality test, the
objectionable conduct must attain a level ofrascality that
would raise an eyebrow of someone inured to the rough and
tumble of the world of commerce.” /d In addition to
employing the rascality test, " we ... look to the federal
courts' interpretation of the Federal Trade Commission Act
for guidance" when determining what actions are unlawful
under the statute's general proscription. Moran, 151 N.H. at
452-53;

[164 A.3d 996]see RSA 358-A:13 (2009).

The Federal Trade Commission determines if actions are
unfair or deceptive by inquiring: (1) Whether the practice,
without necessarily having been previously considered
unlawful, offends public policy as it has been established by
statutes, the common law, or otherwise -- whether, in other
words, it is within at least the penumbra of some
common-law, statutory or other established concept of
unfairness; (2) whether it is immoral, unethical, oppressive,
or unscrupulous; (3) whether it causes substantial injury to
consumers (or competitors or other businessmen).

Moran, 151 N.H. at 453 (quotation omitted).

[170 N.H. 25] We have had limited occasion to interpret
the CPA in the context of real estate transactions.
Specifically, we have: (1) recognized that " [t]rade” and "
commerce” as defined by the act " include[s] acts incidental
to the sale of real estate," Snierson v. Scruton, 145 N.H. 73,
80-81, 761 A.2d 1046 (2000); see RSA 358-A:1, II (2009);
(2) considered whether a particular real estate transaction
occurred " in the conduct of any trade or commerce,”
Hughes v. DiSalvo, 143 N.H. 576, 577-79, 729 A.2d 422
(1999) (quotation and emphasis omitted); and (3)
determined whether conduct relating to the sale and
development of condominiums is exempt from the act,



Gilmore v. Bradgate Assocs., 135 N.H. 234, 236-37, 604
A.2d 555 (1992), overruled byAverill v. Cox, 145 N.H. 328,
332,761 A.2d 1083 (2000). However, we have only once
considered whether particular acts incidental to the sale of
real estate constituted " unfair or deceptive act]s] or
practice[s]" under RSA 358-A:2. SeeSnierson, 145 N.H. at
81.

Here, when it adopted the advisory jury verdict, the trial
court found that the general proscription of RSA 358-A:2
applied to Fat Bullies and Simmons's conduct. It reasoned:

. Simmons showed up without any prior notice at
[Runnymede] with Gould, who the Devenports did not
know. Simmons introduced Gould as his attorney and
displayed what Gould and Simmons both believed to be a
binding legal document and cash deposit. The Devenports
did not have alawyer and Simmons did not suggest they
retain one. Simmons, despite knowing the asking price was
$800,000, produced a document ... for signature depicting
the sale price as $700,000. He did not warn the Devenports
ahead of time that he would be bringing a binding legal
document, an attorney, or changing the price term of the
proposal. He did not point out the change of term. He did
not explain what an option was. He led the Devenports into
believing that Fat Bullies would keep Runnymede as a
horse farm and honor the Devenports' promise to [the
former owner]. He showed interest in the horses, trophies
and [the former owner], said he was interested in raising
llamas and cows, and expressed a dream of having his
grandchildren visit the farm. This conduct, the Court finds,
was " unscrupulous” and unfair. When Simmons saw Bret
[Devenport] at the gas station, he placed his hand on Bret's
car or arm and threatened him. ... This conduct was "
oppressive" and unfair.

Inruling upon the Devenports' request for damages, the
trial court made additional findings relevant to the
Devenports' CPA claim. Specifically, the court found that
Fat Bullies and Simmons violated the CPA by engaging in a
" continuing course of conduct," which " beg[an] with an
unfair attempt at
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contract formation” and included " threaten[ing] the
Devenports with legal action, ... sen[ding] demand letters,
brlinging] suit against the Devenports and the
[Perkinses,] [and] enact[ing] a [164 A.3d 997]
contentious litigation strategy which had the effect of
causing the Devenports to incur over $200,000 in legal fees
over the course of more than four years" -- all while
knowing " that the Devenports were in financial straits."
(Emphasis omitted.) The court described this conduct as "
unscrupulous,” " deceptive,” and " unfair.”

We agree with the trial court and the Devenports that a
course of conduct can violate the CPA. See, e.g., Milford
Lumber Co. v. RCB Realty, 147 N.H. 15, 20, 780 A.2d 1259
(2001). However, a series of acts only becomes a course of
conduct violative of the CPA when the acts collectively
constitute an " unfair or deceptive act or practice."” RSA
358-A:2; seeMilford Lumber Co., 147 NH. at 20
(concluding misrepresentations to procure materials and use
of same misrepresentations to avoid payment collectively
constituted " course of deceptive acts and practices" ); E.
Microwave, Inc. v. Am. Private Line Servs., Inc., No.
912850, 1993 WL 818931, at *2 (Mass. Super. Ct. Oct. 6,
1993) (concluding defendants engaged in a " course of
conduct” violating Massachusetts Consumer Protection Act
when they " deliberately siphoned" funds owed to plaintiff
out of "sham corporation” in " an intentional scheme to
defraud" plaintiff). Based upon our review of the record, we
hold that the trial court erred in finding that Fat Bullies and
Simmons engaged in a course of conduct that was " unfair
or deceptive” as contemplated by the CPA. RSA 358-A:2.

The record supports the trial court's determination that Fat
Bullies and Simmons misrepresented their intentions
regarding Runnymede. However, we conclude that the
misrepresentation of a buyer's intentions regarding the
future use of real property does not, as a matter of law, rise
to the level of rascality necessary for it to constitute an "
unfair or deceptive act or practice." RSA 358-A:2. Under
the statute of frauds, oral agreements restricting the use of
real property are generally unenforceable. See RSA 506:1
(2010) (statute of frauds); Tibbetts v. Tibbetts, 66 N.H. 360,
361-62, 20 A. 979 (1890) (reasoning that oral agreement
restricting use of land could not create a negative
cascment); Annotation, Oral Agreement Restricting Use of
RealProperty as within Statute of Frauds, 5 A.L.R.2d 1316,
1318 (1949) (noting that " a marked majority of the cases
on thle] subject have concluded that an oral agreement
restricting the use of real property is within the application
and operation of ... the statute of frauds” (citing Tibbetts )).
We conclude that someone inured to the rough and tumble
world of real estate transactions would be aware of the
statute of frauds. Although the Devenports may not have
been aware of the statute of frauds, we apply
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the rascality test objectively. SeeMulligan v. Choice
Mortgage Corp. USA, No. CIV. 96-596-B, 1998 WL
544431, at *11 (D.N.H. Aug. 11, 1998). Because someone
inured to the rough and tumble world of real estate
transactions would know that an oral agreement restricting
the wuse of real property is unenforceable, the
misrepresentation of one's intent to abide by such an
agreement is neither " unfair” nor " deceptive" under RSA
358-A:2. Cf Madan v. Royal Indem. Co., 26 Mass.App.Ct.
756,532 N.E.2d 1214, 1218 (Mass. App. Ct. 1989) (finding



breach of oral lease agreement that " was not enforceable
because of the Statute of Frauds" did not satisfy rascality
test); cf.Snierson, 145 N.H. at 75, 81 (holding that plaintiffs
sufficiently stated a claim for relief under the CPA when
they alleged that defendants, as agents of sellers of real
property, " misrepresented and withheld facts relating to the
[property's] septic system and various other deficiencies in
the property in a seller's disclosure form and in oral
communications” ). Although the misrepresentation
encouraged the Devenports to sell Runnymede to Fat
Bullies, a {164 A.3d 998] misrepresentation does not rise to
the level of rascality necessary to establish a consumer
protection violation merely because it encourages a sale.
SeeTagliente v. Himmer, 949 F.2d 1, 7 (1st Cir. 1991)
(concluding, as a matter of law, that rascality test not met
when seller misrepresented " that the property had not been
previously marketed for sale, and that there were other
buyers ready and willing to pay more than the agreed upon
... purchase price" ).

Moreover, even if we were to look outside the context of
real property transactions, the nature and circumstances of
Fat Bullies and Simmons's misrepresentation differentiate it
from the types of misrepresentations we have previously
found to fall within the CPA's general proscription. Because
the jury found that there was no contract, the
misrepresentation was not made to avoid an enforceable
contractual obligation. Cf.George, 162 N.H. at 126, 129-30
(rascality test met where defendant entered into contract
with plaintiff real estate developer for construction of road,
accepted deposit from plaintiff for bridge needed to
complete road, and then misrepresented status of his
performance under the contract); Becksted v. Nadeau, 155
N.H. 615, 616, 619-20, 926 A.2d 819 (2007) (trial court
erred in ruling no rational juror could have found rascality
test met because rational jury could have found that
defendants intentionally sent plaintiffs inflated legal bill to
use as leverage in dispute concerning law firm's payment
obligation under construction contract); Moran, 151 N.H. at
450-51, 453-54 (rascality test met when trial court could
have reasonably found that defendant entered into
construction contract with homeowner then used
misrepresentations to induce homeowner to pay in advance
for construction materials " at a time when he clearly did
not intend to perform the work" ). The misrepresentation
was not used to obtain a benefit only to later be used
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to disclaim liability. CfMilford Lumber Co., 147 N.H. at
19-20 (affirming trial court's finding of CPA violation when
defendants " made intentionally vague representations

regarding their relationship with [a third party] to facilitate
the use of [the third party's] account with the plaintiff to
procure lumber," and then " wused those same

misrepresentations as a basis for disclaiming liability” ).

Viewing Fat Bullies and Simmons's misrepresentation in
conjunction with the remainder of their course of conduct
does not alter our determination. Even taken together, the
acts of showing up unannounced with an attorney and an
option agreement, not recommending that the Devenports
obtain legal counsel, attempting to negotiate price, not
explaining the meaning of the language contained in the
draft agreement, threatening and attempting to enforce an
option agreement, and pursuing a contentious litigation
strategy would not " raise an eyebrow of someone inured to
the rough and tumble of the world of commerce.” George,
162 N.H. at 129; seeBarrows v. Boles, 141 N.H. 382, 390,
687 A.2d 979 (1996) ( " '[Slelfish bargaining and business
dealings will not be enough to justify a claim for damages'
under the Consumer Protection Act." (quoting Eastern
Motor Inns, Inc. v. Ricci, 565 A.2d 1265, 1274 (R.IL
1989))); of Monotype Imaging Inc. v. Deluxe Corp., 883
F.Supp.2d 317, 323 (D. Mass. 2012) (concluding that
bringing of lawsuit regarding " a reasonable disagreement
over the meaning of contract terms" was not consumer
protection violation); Trenwick America Reinsurance Corp.
v. IRC, Inc., 764 F.Supp.2d 274, 308 (D. Mass. 2011)
(considering litigation tactics part of course of conduct in
violation of consumer protection law when offending party
utilized " moving target [litigation] strategy” and engaged in
" discovery abuses" ).

[164 A.3d 999] We cannot conclude that the subject
conduct offends established public policy, is immoral,
unethical, oppressive, or unscrupulous, or causes substantial
injury. SeeMoran, 151 N.H. at 453.

For these reasons, we reverse the trial court's ruling on the
Devenports' CPA claim and its award of attorney's fees to
the Devenports as damages under the CPA. In light of this
determination, we need not address Fat Bullies and
Simmons's remaining arguments regarding the CPA.

B. Tortious Interference Claim

Next, Fat Bullies, Simmons, and Gould argue that the trial
court erred in granting summary judgment to the Perkinses
on Fat Bullies' claim seeking monetary relief for the
Perkinses' purported tortious interference with the option
agreement. They assert that " [t]he trial judge did not set
forth the facts in a light most favorable to Fat Bullies" and
erroneously made credibility determinations that should
have been left for the jury. (Emphasis
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omitted.) They contend that, " at 2 minimum, the trial court
should have concluded that there were material facts in
dispute." (Emphasis omitted.)



In its order granting summary judgment to the Perkinses,
the trial court ruled that Fat Bullies " failed to present any
evidence showing a genuine issue of material fact that the
Perkins[es] intentionally and improperly interfered” with
the option agreement. (Quotation omitted.) Assuming,
without deciding, that the trial court erred in making this
determination, in light of the jury's finding that there was no
contract, we conclude that any error was harmless.
SeeMcNair v. McNair , 151 N.H. 343, 355, 856 A.2d §
(2004) (concluding any error was harmless when we "
identified other grounds that independently compel the
conclusion” reached by the trial court); Barrows, 141 N H.
at 392 (explaining that, to succeed on claim for tortious
interference with contractual relations, plaintiff must prove,
among other things, that it " had a contractual relationship
with a third party" ); Attorney General v. Morgan, 132 N.H.
406, 408, 565 A.2d 1072 (1989) (explaining that " [a]
harmless error is an error that does not affect the outcome,"
and concluding that, " [a]lthough the trial judge erred in
entering a final judgment at the arbitration hearing, the
outcome of the case was not affected” (quotation omitted)).
Accordingly, we affirm the trial court's grant of summary
judgment to the Perkinses on Fat Bullies' tortious
interference with contractual relations claim.

C. Award of Attorney’s Fees and Costs to the Perkinses

Fat Bullies, Simmons, and Gould next argue that the trial
court erred by awarding attorney's fees and costs to the
Perkinses on grounds of bad faith. They contend, among
other things, that their filing of the two tortious interference
claims against the Perkinses was, " atmost, a considered
but good faith mistake." In opposition, the Perkinses argue
that " the facts found by the trial court provide ample
support for the court's determination that [the tortious
interference claims] were brought in bad faith as a
continuation of the course of unfair, uascrupulous, and
oppressive conduct that Fat Bullies and Simmons directed
against the Devenports." (Quotations omitted.)

The general rule in New Hampshire is that parties pay their
own attorney's fees. In the Matter of Mallett & Mallett, 163
N.H. 202, 211, 37 A.3d 333 (2012). However, we have
recognized exceptions to this rule. Jd. A court may award
attorney's fees when specifically authorized by statute. Id.;
see, e.g., RSA 358-A:10, 1(2009). Otherwise, an award of
[164 A.3d 1000] attorney’s fees must be grounded upon an
agreement between the parties or ajudicially-created
exception to the general rule. Mallett, 163 N.H. at211. "
Underlying the rule that the prevailing litigant is ordinarily
not entitled to collect his
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counsel fees from the loser is the principle that no person
should be penalized for merely defending or prosecuting a

lawsuit." Harkeem v. Adams, 117 N.H. 687, 690, 377 A.2d
617 (1977).

" As to judicially-created exceptions, attorney's fees have
been awarded in this State based upon two separate
theories: bad faith litigation and substantial benefit." Frost
v. Comm'r, N.H. Banking Dep't, 163 N.H. 365, 377-78
(2012) (quotation omitted).

Under the bad faith litigation theory, an award of attorney's
fees is appropriate [when] one party has acted in bad faith,
vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons, [when]
the litigant's conduct can be characterized as unreasonably
obdurate or obstinate, and [when] it should have been
unnecessary for the successful party to have brought the
action.

Id. at 378 (quotation omitted). " When attorney's fees are
awarded against a private party who has acted in bad faith,
the purpose is to do justice and vindicate rights, as well as
to discourage frivolous lawsuits." Jesurum v. WBTSCC Ltd.
Partnership, 169 N.H. 469, 483 (2016) (quotation omitted).

" We will not overturn the trial court's decision concerning
attorney's fees absent an unsustainable exercise of
discretion." Frost, 163 N.H. at 377. " To warrant reversal,
the discretion must have been exercised for reasons clearly
untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable to the
prejudice of the objecting party." Id. " In evaluating the trial
court's ruling on this issue, we acknowledge the tremendous
deference given a trial court's decision regarding attorney's
fees." Id. (quotation omitted). " If there is some support in
the record for the trial court's determination, we will uphold
it" Id.

Here, the trial court found that Fat Bullies brought its
tortious interference claims against the Perkinses " in bad
faith," explaining that Fat Bullies' initiation of the lawsnit
against the Perkinses was " part of th[e] course of conduct"
that it ruled violative of the CPA. Itreasoned that Fat
Bullies brought the tortious interference claims against the
Perkinses " [plerhaps because [it] feared that the
Devenports did not have sufficient money to pay any
judgment it sought, and perhaps as a litigation strategy." It
explained that the claims against the Perkinses " should
never have been brought" because Fat Bullies: (1) failed to
state a claim for tortious interference with contractual
relations seeking equitable relief; and (2) failed to "
produce[ ] any evidence that the Perkins[es] had tortiously
interfered with the [o]ption." Based upon our review of the
record, we conclude that the trial court unsustainably
exercised its discretion to the prejudice of Fat Bullies. Jd.

[170 N.H. 31] The trial court appeared to offer three bases
for its finding of bad faith -- none of which properly
supports such a finding. First, the trial court concluded that



Fat Bullies' initiation of the lawsuit against the Perkinses
was " part of th[e] course of conduct” that it earlier ruled
violative of the CPA. As discussed above, as a matter of
law, Fat Bullies and Simmons's conduct did not violate the
CPA.

Next, the trial court noted the possibility that Fat Bullies
brought suit against the Perkinses " as a litigation strategy"”
or " because [it] feared that the Devenports did not have
sufficient money to pay any judgment." However, the trial
court's use of the term " perhaps" indicates that it did not
make any factual findings about Fat [164 A.3d 1001}
Bullies' motive in bringing suit against the Perkinses. See
Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1679
(unabridged ed. 2002) (defining " perhaps" as " possibly but
not certainly: MAYBE" ); Fischer v. Superintendent,

Strafford County House of Corrections, 163 N.H. 515, 519,
44 A.3d 493 (2012) (stating that we interpret trial court
orders de novo ). Additionally, even if the trial court had
made such factual findings, the trial court did not articulate,
the Perkinses do not argue, and we cannot discern, how a
plaintiff engages in bad faith litigation merely by bringing
suit against a solvent defendant when it fears that it may not
be able to collect on a judgment against another defendant.

Finally, the trial court pointed out that one of Fat Bullies'
tortious interference claims failed to survive amotion to
dismiss, and the other failed to survive a motion for
summary judgment. Although the trial court's order is not
clear, we construe it as finding that the claims against the
Perkinses were patently unreasonable. SeeGrenier v.
Barclay Square Commercial Condo. Owners' Assoc., 150
N.H. 111, 117, 834 A.2d 238 (2003) (recognizing that
attorney's fees may be awarded to " those who are forced to
litigate against an opponent whose position is patently
unreasonable” (quotation omitted)); Glick v. Naess, 143
N.H. 172, 175, 722 A.2d 453 (1998) (describing a party's
" a variety of bad faith" (quotation
omitted)). " A claim is patently unreasonable when it is
commenced, prolonged, required or defended without any
reasonable basis in the facts provable by evidence, or any
reasonable claim in the law as it is, or as it might arguably
be held to be." Glick, 143 N.H. at 175 (quotation omitted).

unreasonableness as

Based upon our review of the record, we cannot conclude
that Fat Bullies' tortious interference claims were patently
unreasonable. Although the Perkinses argue that " the trial
court ruled [that] Fat Bullies had no evidence to support its
claims against the Perkins[es]," the trial court made no such
ruling. Rather, based upon its review of the summary
Judgment record, the trial court concluded only that there
was insufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of
material fact as to one of the elements of a tortious
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interference claim -- specifically, interference. Further, in
support of its argument that the Perkinses interfered with
the option agreement, Fat Bullies submitted telephone
records indicating that there were " frequent phone calls"
between the Perkinses, the Devenports, and the Devenports'
attorney " in the days leading up to the cancellation of the
[o]ption [a]greement," and evidence that the Runnymede
Farm Homeowners Association held a meeting at the
Perkinses' home in October of 2010, at which the members
voted " to eliminate an unused secondary driveway
easement and to place ownership of .. Runnymede['s]
grazing rights in an LLC." In light of this evidence, we
cannot conclude that Fat Bullies' claims that the Perkinses
interfered with the option agreement were " without any
reasonable basis in the facts provable by evidence." Glick,
143 NH. at 175 (quotation omitted). Under such
circumstances, an award of fees to the Perkinses would run
counter to the principle that " no person should be penalized
for merely defending or prosecuting a lawsuit." Harkeem,
117 N.H. at 690.

In sum, we conclude that none of the proffered
justifications provide a proper basis for the trial court's
finding of bad faith litigation. Accordingly, we hold that the
trial court unsustainably exercised its discretion in awarding
attorney's fees and costs to the Perkinses under Harkeem.

D. Reasonableness of Fees and Costs

Fat Bullies, Simmons, and Gould next challenge the trial
court's determinations [164 A.3d 1002] concerning the
reasonableness of the attormey's fees awarded to the
Devenports and to the Perkinses. The parties raise various
arguments relating to this issue. However, because we have
reversed the trial court's awards of attorney's fees and costs
to the Devenports and the Perkinses, we find it unnecessary
to address these arguments.

E. Gould's and Simmons’s Personal Liability

Fat Bullies, Simmons, and Gould next argue that the trial
court erred by determining that both Simmons and Gould
are personally liable for the payment of the Perkinses'
attorney's fees and costs. Because we have concluded that
the trial court erred in awarding attorney's fees and costs to
the Perkinses, we need not address this issue.

F. Remaining Issues

Fat Bullies, Simmons, and Gould also argue that the trial
court erred by quashing Fat Bullies' deposition subpoena
duces tecum and limiting the cross-examination of one of
the Devenports' witnesses at trial. They appear to assert that
the evidence sought by the subpoena and the evidence that
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would have been elicited on cross-examination was
relevant to the court's assessment of Fat Bullies' tortious
interference claim against the Perkinses seeking monetary
damages. They claim that the trial court's error "led to a
summary judgment adverse to Fat Bullies due to alack of
evidence of any interference." (Quotation omitted.) Because
we have concluded that any error in granting summary
Jjudgment to the Perkinses was harmless in light of the jury's
finding that there was no enforceable contract with which to
interfere, we need not consider these arguments.

Finally, any issues raised in the defendant's notice of
appeal, but not briefed, are deemed waived. SeeTown of
Barrington v. Townsend, 164 N.H. 241, 251, 55 A.3d 952
(2012).

Affirmed in part; reversed in part, and remanded.

Dalianis, C.J., and Conboy, Lynn, and Bassett, JJ.,
concurred.



